7:00 P.M.

7:00 P.M.

7:05 P.M.

7:15PM.

7:20 P.M.

7:25 P.M.

7:30 p.M.

7:35 P.M.

7:50 P.M.

8:00 P.M.

8:05 P.M.

8:10P.M.

8:15p.M.

8:20 P.M.

8:40 p.M.

8:45p.M.

TOWN OF WOODWAY
COUNCIL MEETING AGENDA

23920 113™ Place West, Woodway, WA 98020

11

I1I

v

VI

VIl

VIII

IX

XI

XII

XIII

XV

TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 27, 2018
7:00 P.M.

Call to Order, Flag Salute, Roll Call

Approval of Minutes — October 22, 2018, October 29, 2018, November 5,
2018

Approval of Checks — Claims

Point Wells Update

Audience Comments*

Council Reports

Mayor’s Report

Town Administrator’s Report

Discussion: Sewer Capacity Charge - Tracy Westlake

Presentation: MyBuildingPermit.com — Michele Miller

Public Hearing: Final 2019 Budget

Ordinance 18-596: 2019 Budget

Public Hearing: 2" 2018 Budget Amendment

Ordinance 18-595: 2" 2018 Budget Amendment

Ordinance 18-597: Business License Regulations

Snohomish County Department of Emergency Management Interlocal
Agreement

Confirmation of Reappointment to Planning Commission: Lisa Marquart

* ducience comments only during the time specified. Council Deliberations will not be interrupted for audience comment.
Citizens desiring conment time in excess of five minutes should comact the mayor to schedule presentation time. Council
agendas are subject 1o change before or during the council meetings upon motion. Anyone with a disability requiring special
accommodations should contact the Town Clerk's Office at Tovwn Hall or call (206)542-4443 before 1:00 p.m. the Thursday
preceding the Council Meeting. For TDD relay service. call (206)587-5500. or outside the Seattle area #1-800-833-6388.



8:50 p.M. XV  December 2018 Bill Payment Procedure

8:55p.M. Audience Comments*
9:00 P.M. General Council Discussion-Choice of Subjects
9:05 P.M. Adjournment

* Audience comments only during the time specified. Council Deliberations will not be interrupted for audience comment.
Citizens desiring comment time in excess of five minuies should contact the mavor to schedule presentation time. Council
agendas are subject to change before or during the council meetings upon motion. Anyone with a disability requiring special
accommodations should contact the Tovwn Clerk's Office ar Town Hall or call (206)542-4443 before 1:00 p.m. the Thursday
preceding the Council Meeting. For TDD relay service, call (206)587-3500, or outside the Seattle area #1-800-833-6388.



TOWN OF WOODWAY
COUNCIL MINUTES

Meeting Date: October 22, 2018
Location: Woodway Town Hall - 23920 113'" Place W.

Memb Mayor Carla Nichols Councilmember Tom Whitson
Pr::;nirs Councilmember William Anderson  [J Councilmember Tom Howard
Councilmember Elizabeth Mitchell Councilmember Mike Quinn
Staff & X Town Administrator Eric Faison Clerk-Treasurer Heidi Napolitino
Guests [J Public Works Director Terry Bryant [
Present [ Police Chief Doug Hansen O
AGENDA ITEMS COMMENTS & DISCUSSION Aoy
FoLLow-Up
Call to Order, Flag Mayor Nichols called the meeting to order at
Salute, Roll Call 7:02 p.m. Councilmember Howard had an excused
absence.
I - Approval of Councilmember Mitchell moved to approve The motion
Checks Claims Checks #12393 through 12421 and EFTs passed
#1531 & 1532 totaling $69,334.07. unanimously.

Councilmember Anderson seconded the motion.

Audience Comments | None.

Il - Council Reports | Councilmember Whitson.

e Reported that he would have information soon
from WRIA-8 on their study of the new
legislation that would impact wells and stream
restoration.

Councilmember Mitchell:

¢ Councilmember Whitson and Councilmember
Mitchell will switch places for representation to
Snohomish County Tomorrow. Councilmember
Mitchell will be the representative and
Councilmember Whitson will be the alternate.

Town Council Meeting | 10/22/2018 1



AGENDA ITEMS COMMENTS & DISCUSSION ACTION]
FoLLow-Up
III - Mayor’s Report | 1. Shared information from Snohomish County
about the County’s possible addition of special
purpose districts and the County’s public safety
and economic development committees to the
Snohomish County Tomorrow organization.
Including the additional stakeholders would
allow a more comprehensive planning approach
throughout the County.
2. Presented a summary from WCIA on the
Town’s recent personnel policies audit.
3. Updated the Council on the status of the History
Pavilion construction.
IV — Town None.
Administrator’s
Report
V —2019 Budget Mayor Nichols opened the discussion for Council Staff will add a
Discussion members to suggest changes to the preliminary per capita
budget. Discussion included: amount to the
1. Increased funding for the Snohomish County AHA expense
Alliance for Housing Affordability (AHA); to be voted on
2. Looking for input from residents on their later.
priorities; and
3. Whether the emergency stormwater repair
project was included in the 2019 expenses.
VI - Snohomish After a brief discussion, this item was moved to Staff will add
County Department | the November 19, 2018 meeting. this item to the
of Emergency November 19
Management meeting.
Interlocal
Agreement

Town Council Meeting | 10/22/2018 2



ACTION/

tree code.
e How to resolve the tree removal violation.
e How to increase flexibility in the future.

AGENDA ITEMS COMMENTS & DISCUSSION
FoLLow-Up
VII - Ordinance 18- | Mayor Nichols presented Ordinance 18-594:
594: Amending Amending Salary Schedule in WMC 2.16.010.
Salary Schedule in
WMC 2.16.010 Councilmember Mitchell moved to approve The motion
Ordinance 18-594: Amending Salary Schedule in passed
WMC 2.16.010. Councilmember Whitson unanimously.
seconded the motion.
VIII - Tree Resident Clay Siegall presented a brief history of Council will
Ordinance his properties and shared his concerns about review the tree
Discussion Woodway’s tree code in relation to his properties. code in 2019.
Resident Lindsey Echelbarger shared his
frustration with the tree code. Staff will work
with Mr.
A lengthy discussion followed that included: Siegall & Mr.
e The tree code and possible changes to the Echelbarger to

resolve the tree
violation and
bring the
solution to the
Council for

ratification.
Audience Comments | Mr. Siegall commented that he was concerned
about the possibility of doubling the number of
residents if Point Wells were to be annexed by
Woodway.
Resident John Brock commented on the tree code.
General Council Councilmember Quinn requested that the Council
Discussion — Choice | address the tree code and bluff stability concerns
of Subjects in 2019.
Adjournment Councilmember Quinn moved to adjourn the The motion
meeting. Councilmember Whitson seconded the passed
motion. unanimously.

The meeting
was adjourned
at 8:44 p.m.

Town Council Meeting | 10/22/2018 3




Respectfully Submitted, APPROVED BY THE TOWN COUNCIL

Heidi K. S. Napolitino, Clerk-Treasurer Carla Nichols, Mayor

(These minutes accurately reflect what was said at the Council Meeting. Publication
of these statements.)

does not vouch for the veracity

.2

Town Council Meeting | 10/22/2018 4



TOWN OF WOODWAY
COUNCIL MINUTES - SPECIAL MEETING

Meeting Date: October 29, 2018
Location: Woodway Town Hall - 23920 113" Place W.

Kyecuts X] Mayor Carla Nichols Councilmember Tom Whitson
Prilsl;nirs X Councilmember William Anderson X Councilmember Tom Howard
X Councilmember Elizabeth Mitchell Councilmember Mike Quinn

Staff & X Town Administrator Eric Faison [] Clerk-Treasurer Heidi Napolitino

Guests [ Public Works Director Terry Bryant [

Present [] Police Chief Doug Hansen U]

AGENDA ITEMS COMMENTS & DISCUSSION ASTION/
FoLLow-UpP

Call to Order, Flag Mayor Nichols called the special meeting to

Salute, Roll Call order at 6:04 p.m.

I - Executive Session | At 6:05 p.m., Mayor Nichols recessed to

for Approximately 2 Executive Session for approximately 2 hours to

Hours to Discuss discuss potential litigation. At 7:30 p.m., Mayor

Potential Litigation Nichols reconvened the meeting.

Adjournment Councilmember Quinn moved to adjourn the The motion
meeting. Councilmember Mitchell seconded the passed
motion. unanimously.

The meeting was
adjourned at
7:30 p.m.
Respectfully Submitted, APPROVED BY THE TOWN COUNCIL
Heidi K. S. Napolitino, Clerk-Treasurer Carla A. Nichols, Mayor

(These minutes accurately reflect what was said at the Council Meeting. Publication does not vouch for the veracity
of these statements.)

Town Council Special Meeting | 10/29/2018 1



TOWN OF WOODWAY
COUNCIL MINUTES

Meeting Date: November 5, 2018

Location: Woodway Town Hall - 23920 113" Place W.

Memb Mayor Carla Nichols X Councilmember Tom Whitson
Prilsanirs Councilmember William Anderson Councilmember Tom Howard
Xl Councilmember Elizabeth Mitchell Councilmember Mike Quinn
Sratt X Town Administrator Eric Faison Clerk-Treasurer Heidi Napolitino
G:es & [J Public Works Director Terry Bryant  [X] Deputy Clerk/Permit Technician
P Jill McCammon
resent ) .
[J Police Chief Doug Hansen Ul
ACTION/
AGENDA ITEMS COMMENTS & DISCUSSION
FoLLow-Up

Call to Order, Flag
Salute, Roll Call

Mayor Nichols called the meeting to order at
7:00 p.m. Councilmembers Howard and Quinn
attended the meeting via telephone.

I - Public Hearing -
Resolution 18-406:
Notice of Intent to

Annex Point Wells

Mayor Nichols gave a brief introduction, including
a history of Woodway’s planning for the Point
Wells area. Mayor Nichols opened the public
hearing at 7:04 p.m. The following people gave
public testimony.

1. Julie Taylor, representing City of Shoreline

2. Jacque St. Romain, representing BSRE

3. Duncan Greene, representing Ronald

Wastewater District

4. John Brock, Woodway resident

5. Lisa Bauer, Woodway resident

6. Hank Landau, Woodway resident

7. Per Odegaard, Woodway resident

8. Jim Willett, Woodway resident

9. Paul Schlenger, Woodway resident

10. Ron Trompeter, Woodway resident

11. Ron Cantu, Woodway resident

12. Buck Jorgensen, Woodway resident

13. Tom McCormick, Shoreline resident

Town Council Meeting | 11/5/2018 1




AGENDA ITEMS

COMMENTS & DISCUSSION

ACTION/
FoLLow-Up

I - Public Hearing -
Resolution 18-406:
Notice of Intent to
Annex Point Wells,
continued

Councilmember Whitson commented on the
public testimony.

Mayor Nichols closed the public hearing at 7:42
p.m.

IT - Public Hearing —
Ordinance 18-593:
Point Wells
Annexation

Mayor Nichols took a brief recess to allow more
members of the public to sign up to speak for the
hearing. She then opened the public hearing at
7:49 p.m. The following people gave public
testimony.
1. Julie Taylor, representing City of Shoreline
2. Jacque St. Romain, representing BSRE
3. Duncan Greene, representing Ronald
Wastewater District
Tom McCormick, Shoreline resident
Steve Johnson, Woodway resident
Maureen Mannix, Woodway resident
Jeff Critchlow, Woodway resident
Leif Udjus, Woodway resident
9. Karen Briggs, Woodway resident
10. Ron Cantu, Woodway resident
11. Rolf Jensen, Woodway resident
12. Steve Ohlenkamp, representing BSRE
13. Lisa Bauer, Woodway resident
14. Ron Trompeter, Woodway resident

00 3 OF b 4=

Mayor Nichols closed the public hearing at 8:16
p.m.

Councilmembers Mitchell, Whitson, Howard, and
Quinn commented on the public testimony.

Meeting schedule
change

Councilmember Mitchell moved to reschedule the
November 19 meeting to Tuesday, November
2018 at 7 p.m. Councilmember Anderson seconded
the motion.

The motion
passed
unanimously.

Town Council Meeting | 11/5/2018 2




ACTION/

AGENDA ITEMS COMMENTS & DISCUSSION
FoLLow-Up

5-minute recess At 8:35 p.m., Mayor Nichols recessed the meeting

for 5 minutes. At 8:40 p.m., Mayor Nichols

reconvened the meeting.
I1I - Approval of Councilmember Mitchell moved to approve the The motion
Minutes — minutes of September 17, 2018. Councilmember passed
September 17, 2018, | Anderson seconded the motion. unanimously.

October 1, 2018,
October 14, 2018

Councilmember Anderson moved to approve the

The motion

minutes of October 1, 2018. Councilmember passed
Mitchell seconded the motion. unanimously.
Councilmember Mitchell moved to approve the The motion
minutes of October 14, 2018 as amended. passed
Councilmember Anderson seconded the motion. unanimously.
I - Approval of Councilmember Whitson moved to approve The motion
Checks Claims Checks #12423 through 12440 and EFTs passed 4-0-1,
#1634, 1635, & 1647 totaling $21,552.74. with
Councilmember Mitchell seconded the motion. Councilmember
Anderson
abstaining.
Councilmember Whitson moved to approve The motion
October 2018 Payroll EFT Transactions # 1599- passed

1603 & 1605-1624 and Check #12422, totaling
$51,869.34. Councilmember Quinn seconded the
motion.

unanimously.

Audience Comments

Woodway resident Ron Schott thanked the
Council for the civil discussion.

Town Council Meeting | 11/5/2018 3




AGENDA ITEMS

COMMENTS & DISCUSSION

ACTION/
FoLLow-Up

IT - Council Reports

Councilmember Anderson:

e Shared that the Snohomish County Alliance for
Housing Affordability (AHA) received a
$500,000 donation from Snohomish County
and will soon decide how to allocate the
money.

Councilmember Mitchell:

e Reported on a recent Snohomish County
Tomorrow meeting where Chris Collier,
Director of AHA, gave a presentation.

Councilmember Quinn:

¢ Asked for an update on the tree discussion at
the previous meeting.

I1I - Mayor’s Report

1. Shared a letter from Snohomish County
notifying Woodway that they would not be
participating in the 2019 WRIA-8 salmon
recovery funding.

2. Gave an update on the history pavilion project.

IV — Town
Administrator’s
Report

1. Shared that he sent a draft interlocal agreement
to AHA for review.

2. Reported on a recent stormwater facility failure
that will need to be repaired.

VII - 3rd Quarter
2018 Finance Report

Mayor Nichols presented the 3™ quarter 2018
finance report. A brief discussion followed.

VIII - Public
Hearing: 2019
Revenue Sources

Mayor Nichols opened the public hearing at 9:02
p.m.

No member of the public present at the meeting
wished to comment.

Mayor Nichols closed the public hearing at 9:04
p.m.

Town Council Meeting | 11/5/2018 4




AGENDA ITEMS

COMMENTS & DISCUSSION

ACTION/
FoLLow-Up

IX - Resolution 18-
407: 2019 Property
Tax

Mayor Nichols presented Resolution 18-407: 2019
Property Tax. The resolution increased the
property tax levy 1% over the 2018 levy amount.

Councilmember Mitchell moved to approve
Resolution 18-407: 2019 Property Tax.
Councilmember Anderson seconded the motion.

The motion
passed
unanimously.

X - Public Hearing:
Preliminary 2019
Budget

Mayor Nichols opened the public hearing at 9:07
p.m.

No member of the public present at the meeting
wished to comment.

Mayor Nichols closed the public hearing at 9:07
p.m.

Council discussion included the Town Hall lawn
improvements, legal fees, and the financial
forecast.

XI - Interlocal
Agreement with
Public Hospital
District No. 2
(Verdant Health
Commission)

Mayor Nichols presented the Interlocal Agreement
with Public Hospital District No. 2 (Verdant
Health Commission), awarding grant money to the
Town to build additional trails and install exercise
equipment at Deer Creek Park.

Councilmember Mitchell moved to authorize
Mayor Nichols to sign the Interlocal Agreement
with Public Hospital District No. 2 (Verdant
Health Commission) accepting $47,500 in grant
money and authorize expending the grant money.
Councilmember Anderson seconded the motion.

The motion
passed
unanimously.

Audience Comments

Woodway Resident Tracy Westlake asked to be
added to a future agenda to discuss King County
sewer capacity charges.

John Brock, Makah Road, thanked the Public
Works crew for their work on Deer Creek Park.

Staff will add
the item to the
agenda at a
future meeting.

Town Council Meeting | 11/5/2018 5




AGENDA ITEMS COMMENTS & DISCUSSION AHETIO
FoLLow-Up

General Council Councilmember Whitson requested a timeline for

Discussion — Choice | mediation with the City of Shoreline and BSRE.

of Subjects Town Administrator Faison stated that he would
contact the City of Shoreline the next day.

Adjournment Councilmember Quinn moved to adjourn the The motion
meeting. Councilmember Mitchell seconded the passed
motion. unanimously.

The meeting
was adjourned
at 9:26 p.m.
Respectfully Submitted, APPROVED BY THE TOWN COUNCIL

Heidi K. S. Napolitino, Clerk-Treasurer Carla Nichols, Mayor

(These minutes accurately reflect what was said at the Council Meeting. Publication does not vouch for the veracity
of these statements.)

Town Council Meeting | 11/5/2018 6



TowN OF WOODWAY
CLAIMS APPROVAL

“I, the undersigned, do hereby certify under penalty of perjury that the materials have been
furnished, the services rendered, or the labor performed as described herein and that the claim is a
just, due, and unpaid obligation against the Town of Woodway, Snohomish County, Washington,
and that I am authorized to authenticate and certify to said claims.”

Clerk Treasurer

The following transactions are approved for 2018 payment:

Claims checks #12441 through 12464 and EFTs #1715 & 1716 ..cccooiviiviicieeien. $139,497.77

This 27" day of November 2018.

Mayor Councilmember

Councilmember

Councilmember



Law Offices « Established 1904 « A Professional Service Cerporation

Jacque E, St. Romain
TUTT[_E Attorney at Law
CAMPBELL 701 Fifth Avenue, Suite 3300

Seattle, Washington 98104
Direct: (206) 224 8089
Main: (206) 223 1313

Fax: (206) 682 7100
jstromain@karrtuttle.com

November 26, 2018
VIA U.S. MAIL AND E-MAIL

Town of Woodway Town Council
Town Hall Council Chambers
23920 113" Place West
Woodway, WA 98020

heidif@townofwoodway.com

Mayor Carla Nichols

Town of Woodway

23920 113" Place West
Woodway, WA 98020
cnichols@townofwoodway.com

Town Administrator Eric Faison
Town of Woodway

23920 113" Place West
Woodway, WA 98020
eric@townofwoodway.com

RE:  Follow up Comments After November 5, 2018 Town Council Meeting Related
to Resolution 18-406 & Ordinance 18-593: Proposed Annexation of Point Wells

To Whom It May Concern:

As you are aware, this firm represents BSRE Point Wells, LP (“BSRE”), the owner of the
property upon which is located the Alon Asphalt and Marine Fuels Terminal which constitutes the
majority of the property known as Point Wells (the “Point Well Property”).

At the Town Council meeting held on November 5, 2018, in which the Council discussed
Resolution 18-406 and Ordinance 18-593 (the “Legislation™), Councilmember Elizabeth Mitchel
posed two questions to BSRE and requested a written response. The questions posed were (i) how
long of a stay BSRE is proposing and (ii) why BSRE is currently opposed to annexation to
Woodway. This letter seeks to provide answers to those questions.

1. BSRE’s Proposed Stay

As previously discussed with Eric Faison and the Town of Woodway, BSRE is under new
ownership. This new ownership is presently engaged in reevaluating the proposed development

#1212052 v1/43527-004



November 26, 2018
Page 2

project for the Point Wells Property and is in the process of commissioning a “highest and best
use” study to determine the appropriate project type, design, size and resulting unit count and
traffic impacts. After the study is completed, the proposed project at the Point Wells Property may
be vastly different from its current design. For this reason, BSRE had proposed a universal stay
to allow the study to be completed and then to allow all relevant parties (including BSRE,
Woodway, Shoreline and Snohomish County) to work together to determine the best way to
proceed. BSRE also expressed interest in engaging in mediation with Woodway, Shoreline and
Snohomish County, to facilitate all parties reaching a comprehensive agreement.

Snohomish County has stated that it is not interested in entering into a stay at this time.
Presently, Woodway and Shoreline have not committed to pursuing mediation or a joint stay with
BSRE. Thus, it appears that a joint stay is not an option at this point. If the parties were to agree
to a stay, however, then BSRE would propose a stay of sufficient duration to allow the study to be
completed and to allow BSRE’s consultants a chance to analyze the study and determine what
development options would be economically feasible. Such a stay would be anticipated to last
until after the first of the year.

I1. BSRE’s Opinion on Annexation

BSRE will strenuously object to any attempts by Woodway to force annexation of the Point
Wells Property. However, BSRE is not necessarily opposed to annexation by either Woodway or
Shoreline, provided that such an anncxation is done as part of a comprehensive agreement by all
parties.

BSRE is opposed to a forced annexation for a number of reasons. First, an annexation of
the Point Wells Property must necessarily include an understanding by all parties of the type of
development which is going to be constructed on the property and a determination that such a
development would be permissible under the annexing jurisdiction’s applicable development
codes. At this point, while the “highest and best use” study is pending, annexation is premature.
BSRE had previously been reluctant to annex into Woodway because BSRE’s previous
evaluations of Woodway’s zoning code determined that an Urban Center development, such as
BSRE had originally planned, would not be permissible within Woodway. Until BSRE determines
what development options would be economically feasible, BSRE will not be able to determine
whether Woodway’s zoning code would allow such a use and therefore cannot yet consent to
annexation.

In addition, annexation without a comprehensive agreement by all parties could lead to
prolonged litigation and could further delay the development of the Point Wells Property. We
believe that all parties know that a joint resolution by all parties is the best way to proceed with
the development of the Point Wells Property and is the most efficient way to avoid costly litigation,

In summary, BSRE reiterates its opposition to both Ordinance 18-593 and Resolution 18-
406 and reasserts its willingness to engage in further discussions with both Woodway and

#1212052 v1/43527-004



November 26, 2018
Page 3

Shoreline regarding a potential joint resolution. If you have any further questions for BSRE, please
let us know.

Best regards,

Jacdue E. St. Romain

cc (via email): Client
Doug Luetjen, Karr Tuttle Campbell
Gary Huff, Karr Tuttle Campbell
Dino Vasquez, Karr Tuttle Campbell
Margaret King, Shoreline City Attorney
Matt Otten, Snohomish County Prosecutor

#1212052 v1 /1 43527-004



Heidi K. S. Napolitino

TSR = —————— =
From: Robert Jorgensen Il <buckjorgensen@frontier.com>
Sent: Tuesday, November 20, 2018 10:01 AM
To: Heidi K. S. Napolitino
Subject: Annexation / Speeding Cars

November 20, 2018
Dear Mayor Nichols and Woodway Council Members:

| will be unable to attend the November 27th council meeting to participate in the proposed discussion of the annexation of Point Wells. As
such, | would like to go on record as being adamantly opposed to any annexation. At this juncture | am unaware of any meetings or proposed
meetings that might have taken place since our last town hall gathering two weeks ago. At that meeting it was readily apparent that the vast
majority of those attending were opposed to annexation. Further consideration was tabled until this next Monday.

It is my firm belief that for the Town of Woodway to pursue the avenue of annexation will open a Pandora’s box of expensive litigation as well as
a plethora of other problems large and larger. | love Woodway just the way it is and see annexation as the beginning of the end for this peaceful
enclave that so many enjoy. | do understand the financial implications of “going it alone” as we have over our past history. | also realize that we
will either need to further pinch our budget or accept responsibility for the things the Town wants by voting to increase our taxes. The concept
of constant litigation that will surely follow annexation will be disastrously expensive, ultimately serving no purpose but enriching the legal
system. In my daily walks through the town | have had many conversations with fellow citizens. Only one was mildly in favor of annexation but
was also concerned with the future costs of litigation and its questionable results. I truly feel that the best recourse for our town is to work
closely in conjunction with our neighbors in Shoreline and the Ronald Water District to resolve the issues at hand. | don't feel that our
Snohomish County government is going to do our town any favors as I'm sure Snohomish County is looking at the Point Wells site with dollar
signs in their eyes. | strongly urge our town leaders not to follow suit in pursuing this toxic and costly annexation.

On a completely separate subject, | am concerned with the increasing number of cars traveling through our town at speeds clearly above the
limits posted. This is not a random observation as | usually take several long walks through the town almost daily and normally cover most of
the town’s roads at some time or other each week. Over the years a number of citizens have proposed installing “speed bumps” to encourage
better observation of our speed limitations. The response | hear from the town is that our town roads are classified such that bumps are not
possible. This past week | have had the opportunity to travel a number of streets in and around Seattle King County and experienced a number
of streets that do, in fact, have speed bumps of various sizes. All of those streets with bumps were about the size of cur Woodway routes OR
LARGER, leading me to believe bumps would be legal in our town. In particular, the routes where | frequently observe the fastest cars are Park
Road, Timber Lane, Algonqguin (no one goes 20 there) and North Deer. That's pretty much ALL of our major streets . The flashing electronic
speed signs are a fine idea and do help. Perhaps we could even install some of the solar units similar to those in Edmonds? Thanks you for
your consideration.

Sincerely,
Buck Jorgensen

23719 111th Place West
206 949 3216



Heidi K. S. Napolitino

— = e
From: Tracy Westlake <tracyandrodger@gmail.com>
Sent: Wednesday, November 7, 2018 3:55 PM
To: Eric Faison
Cc: Rodger Olsen; Carla Nichols; Heidi K. S. Napolitino
Subject: Re: King County Sewer Connection Charges 22109 Woodway Park Road Woodway

Thanks. | look forward to any thoughts you may have either before or after the meeting on the 27th. Tracy

Sent from my iPhone

On Nov 7, 2018, at 3:33 PM, Eric Faison <eric@townofwoodway.com> wrote:

Thanks Tracy. Unless you hear from me otherwise, assume that you will have 15 minutes on
the agenda on the 27th. We'll provide Council with a copy of your email.

From: Tracy Westlake <tracyandrodger@gmail.com>

Sent: Wednesday, November 7, 2018 3:26 PM

To: Eric Faison

Cc: Rodger Olsen

Subject: Fwd: King County Sewer Connection Charges 22109 Woodway Park Road Woodway

Eric,
Following is a summary of the issue | broached at the last council meeting:

When we hooked up our house and guest house to sewer recently (both were on septic) we
were charged two complete separate King County Sewer Capacity charges. The full amount if
paid over time was over $22,268 ($11,268 x 2) but | chose to take advantage of the Early payoff
discount and paid $18,358.58 upfront ($9,176.79 x 2). We still want to protest the 2nd charge
and may even look into the possibility of a class action lawsuit if there are or will be others such
as us doubled charged for a guest house.

Initially, | reviewed the King County Code and believed that the code for my situation was being
interpreted incorrectly. | now must admit that the code may be being interpreted correctly, but
is unjust.

We have a single connection to the sewer (two lines flow together is a ‘Y’ and a single line taps
the sewer line), are zoned as a single-family residence, and cannot rent out our guest house. It
seems reasonable that our connection is treated as a single residence, or at worst, a multi-
building connection based on fixtures, etc.

When we applied for a sewer permit, the fixture count method is how Lynn Danielson of OVWS
originally told me that we would be charged and was what | expected when we decided to get

1



on sewer, but as noted, we paid two FULL connection charges as if we were connecting two
independent single-family residences.

It seems grossly unfair that once we add on 1300 square feet to our main home we won’t incur
any additional sewer connection charge, but when we add a 900 square foot ADU which is only
occasionally used we have to pay thousands more? My understanding is that if anyone else in
Woodway or anyone else subject to the King County Capacity charge adds square footage as
opposed to an equally sized separate ADU, they will not be subject to a King County Sewer
Capacity charge - Unbelievable and grossly unfair.

As you are probably aware, the King County Sewer Capacity Connection Charge increases each
year (not sure when it caps). | believe that there were some Woodway residential properties
with two buildings (i.e. a main home and an ADU) that were converted to sewer prior to the
enacting of this code. But surely, there are others who are still on septic and will convert in the
future. | believe many larger parcels in Woodway have or will build ADU’s in the future. These
new sewer customers will also pay two full connection charges.

The King County code seems specifically targeted to unfairly charge larger single-family
residences such as we have in Woodway (or at least the 1 acre or more properties that have
enough room to add an ADU).

Below is my correspondence with Grant Weed attorney for Olympic View Water & Sewer. | will
forward my email with King County is a separate email.

Tracy Westlake

22109 Woodway Park Rd.
Woodway

206-913-1317

Sent from my iPad

Begin forwarded message:

From: Grant Weed <GrantW@snohomishlaw.com>

Date: October 25, 2018 at 9:12:06 AM PDT

To: 'Tracy Westlake' <tracyandrodger@gmail.com>

Cc: 'Lynne Danielson' <Lynned @ovwater.com>

Subject: RE: King County Sewer Connection Charges 22109 Woodway Park
Road Woodway

Ms. Westlake

My responses to your 10-23 e-mail are in CAPITAL LETTERS below.
GRANT K. WEED

WEED, GRAAFSTRA & ASSOCIATES, INC,, P.S.
110 Cedar Avenue, Suite 102



Snohomish, WA 98290
(360) 568-3119; (360) 568-4437 (fax)

This electronic message transmission contains information from the law firm of Weed, Graafstra
& Associates, Inc., P.S. which may be confidential or privileged. The information is intended to be
for the use of the individual or entity named above. If you are not the intended recipient, be aware
that any disclosure, copying, distribution or use of the contents of this transmission is prohibited.
If you have received this electronic transmission in error, please notify us immediately by reply e-
mail and delete the original message. Thank you.

From: Tracy Westlake <tracyandrodger@gmail.com>

Sent: Tuesday, October 23, 2018 5:52 PM

To: Grant Weed <GrantW@snohomishlaw.com>

Cc: Olympic View Water & Sewer <Lynned @ovwater.com>

Subject: Re: King County Sewer Connection Charges 22109 Woodway Park Road
Woodway

Mr. Weed,

| do understand that KCC 28.84.050 0.1 does establish that ‘new connections’
made after Feb 1 1990 shall pay a capacity charge. | am not disputing that | have
a new connection. WE AGREE ON THIS.

The issue | have is with the legally allowed amount of the charge and how the
code applies or should apply to two buildings on a single-family parcel. THE
CHARGE AT ISSUE IS SET BY KING COUNTY NOT OLYMPIC VIEW. HOW THE KING
COUNTY CODE APPLIES OR SHOULD APPLY IS UP TO KING COUNTY. YOU HAVE
THE RIGHT TO SEE IF YOU CAN CONVINCE KING COUNTY THAT IT'S CODE
SHOULD BE INTERPRETED DIFFERENTLY THAN OLYMPIC VIEW DOES.

Under 28.84.050 (O) 1 (d) (iii) | do see that the code does define the addition of a
new structure to an existing sewer connection as ‘Establishment of new service”.
THIS IS CLEARLY A NEW SERVICE. But | still believe the assumption is that the
‘addition of a new structure to an existing side-sewer connection’ applies to
multi-family properties or to new separate parcels sharing a side sewer
connection (such as might occur in new developments). THE DEFINITIONS IN THE

3



CODE DO NOT SUPPORT THIS. ONE OF THE CRITERIA FOR THE ESTABLISHMENT
OF A NEW SERVICE IS " 3) addition of a new structure to an existing sewer
connection”. IT 1S NOT QUALIFIED OR CONDITIONED AS YOU SUGGEST.

The code appears not to explicitly address the total amount of a sewer capacity
charge for single-family properties/parcels with two buildings, and as such | take
objection with the onerous interpretation of the code. OLYMPIC VIEW BELIEVES
THAT THE LANGUAGE IN THE KING COUNTY CODE DEFINING WHAT IS A NEW
CONNECTION ADDESSES THE ISSUE. HOWEVER, IF YOU DISAGREE WITH OLYMPIC
VIEW'S INTERPRETATION YOU MAY ADDRESS YOUR CONCERN TO KING COUNTY
SINCE IT ULTIMATELY HAS THE AUTHORTY TO INTERPRET ITS CODE.

There is something inherently unfair and non-sensical about a full separate
sewer capacity charge for a separate building built on a single-family parcel
when the expansion of a single-family home doesn’t likewise result in any
additional sewer capacity charges. This is the crux of my argument. OLYMPIC
VIEW BASES ITS CHARGE ON FIXTURE COUNT WHICH IS A FAIR WAY TO CHARGE
BASED ON IMPACT TO THE UTILITY. KING COUNTY CODE APPEARS TO ASSUME
THAT CONNECTION TO A NEW STRUCTURE IS A NEW CONNECTION WHICH
TRIGGERS PAYMENT OF THE FEE.

For example, | have a permit to add 1300 square feet on to my existing main
home and we are in the process of construction. This additional will not increase
my KC sewer capacity charges by one single penny. Many other homeowners on
King County sewer are adding square footage to their old homes and they will
also pay nothing additional. THE KING CONTY POLICY IS SOMETHING OLYMPIC
VIEW HAS NO AUTHORITY TO CHANGE.

But because | build a 900 square foot ADU, | pay a FULL additional KC sewer
capacity charge of $11,268? This makes no sense! My property is zoned as a
single family property. | cannot rent out the ADU. In essence, the ADU must be
used in the same manner as the main home, including the expansion. My family
can only use the ADU in the same manner of that of the main home. The fact
that | added additional square footage across my driveway as opposed to adding
on to my main home has NO impact on the amount of expected sewage volume
or sewer infrastructure. SEE LAST RESPONSE.



Once | identify other homeowners who have had to pay two capacity charges
simple because they added to their square footage through a separate building
rather than a home additional, | will look to form an activist group to challenge
both Olympic View’s and King County Finance’s interpretation of the King County
code. THE ULTIMATE INTERPRETATION IS UP TO KING COUNTY AND OLYMPIC
VIEW WILL HONOR ITS INTERPRETATION AS IT RELATES TO THE NOTIFICATION
OF THE KING COUNTY CONNECTIONS SUBJECT TO CAPACITY CHARGE.

Tracy Westlake
22109 Woodway Park Road
Woodway WA 98020

206-913-1317



Heidi K. S. Naeolitino e

From: Eric Faison

Sent: Wednesday, November 7, 2018 3:39 PM
To: Heidi K. S. Napolitino

Cc: Carla Nichols

Subject: Fw: KC Code

From: Tracy Westlake <tracyandrodger@gmail.com>
Sent: Wednesday, November 7, 2018 3:37 PM

To: Eric Faison

Cc: Rodger Olsen

Subject: Fwd: KC Code

Here is where the issue was left off. As noted, | did pay to take advantage of the discount for early payoff, but |
am still interested in disputing it. Tracy

Sent from my iPad

Begin forwarded message:

From: "Dicks, Daniel" <Daniel.Dicks@kingcounty.gov>
Date: October 26, 2018 at 2:28:04 PM PDT

To: Tracy Westlake <tracyandrodger@gmail.com>
Subject: RE: KC Code

Hi Tracy,

Thanks for following up with me. | have passed the information you submitted along to our
attorneys and am waiting on their response. |think it would be smart to pay both capacity
charges based on the Oct 2018 invoice amount which provides the largest discount. Given that
we are in communication | would like to extend the due date until 11/5/2018 for both accounts
(payment to be received by). If you would like to use a credit card you can pay online or if you
prefer to send a check that works great too.

If the information reported by Olympic View is deemed inaccurate then in that situation we
would be allowed to refund due to the reporting error. But please let me emphasize that we
are holding firm with regard to the capacity charges on both accounts. Thanks for following up
with me today and please let me know if you have any additional questions. | am noting both
accounts regarding the extensions.

Have a great weekend.

Thanks,



Dan Dicks

Revenue / Accounts Receivable Supervisor
King County Wastewater Treatment Division
Department of Natural Resources & Parks
(p)206.477.5511

(f)206.263.6073
<Daniel.Dicks@kingcounty.gov>

From: Tracy Westlake [mailto:tracyandrodger@gmail.com]
Sent: Friday, October 26, 2018 1:36 PM

To: Dicks, Daniel <Daniel.Dicks@kingcounty.gov>

Subject: Re: KC Code

Dan,

| am considering paying both Sewer Capacity charges today or tomorrow to ensure | am able to
take advantage of the discounts.

However, as we discussed, | am going to dispute the King County code interpretation but | plan
to find others who were charged for a 2nd connection for a guest house and consider our legal
options. This will take some time.

What I'd like to confirm is that although the invoice says “Capacity Charge Payments are Non-
refundable”, this statement does preclude that my IF any of the capacity charges I've been
invoiced for are deemed to have been inappropriately charged, that | have given up my right to
a refund if | pay both charges now. Please clarify.

Also, does King County have to receive the payments by the Oct. 31st deadline for the early
payoff discount, or does the payment just need to be postmarked by Oct. 31st?

Thanks,
Tracy Westlake
Sent from my iPad

On Oct 23, 2018, at 10:52 AM, Dicks, Daniel <Daniel.Dicks@kingcounty.gov> wrote:

Hi Tracy,

Attached is the code for King County so we can look over during our
conversation.

Thanks,

Dan Dicks
Revenue / Accounts Receivable Supervisor

2



King County Wastewater Treatment Division
Department of Natural Resources & Parks
(p)206.477.5511

(f)206.263.6073
<Daniel.Dicks@kingcounty.gov>

<King County Code.pdf>



Heidi K. S. Napolitino

o ST —
From: Eric Faison
Sent: Wednesday, November 7, 2018 3:38 PM
To: Heidi K. S. Napolitino
Cc: Carla Nichols
Subject: Fw: KC Code
Attachments: King County Code.pdf

From: Tracy Westlake <tracyandrodger@gmail.com>
Sent: Wednesday, November 7, 2018 3:36 PM

To: Eric Faison

Cc: Rodger Olsen

Subject: Fwd: KC Code

Here is the first email | received from King County after | called the Finance Department. The code is attached.
Tracy

Sent from my iPad

Begin forwarded message:

From: "Dicks, Daniel" <Daniel.Dicks@kingcounty.gov>

Date: October 23, 2018 at 10:52:28 AM PDT

To: "tracyandrodger@gmail.com" <tracyandrodger@gmail.com>
Subject: KC Code

Hi Tracy,
Attached is the code for King County so we can look over during our conversation.

Thanks,

Dan Dicks

Revenue / Accounts Receivable Supervisor
King County Wastewater Treatment Division
Department of Natural Resources & Parks
(p)206.477.5511

(f)206.263.6073
<Daniel.Dicks@kingcounty.gov>




Title 28
METROPOLITAN FUNCTIONS

UPDATED: July 12, 2013

Chapters:

28.01 ESTABLISHMENT

28.02 DEFINITIONS

28.20 MINORITY/WOMEN BUSINESS ENTERPRISE AND CONTRACT COMPLIANCE
28.81 POLICY (Formerly ESTABLISHMENT AND POLICY)
28.82 DEFINITIONS

28.84 WATER POLLUTION ABATEMENT

28.86 WASTEWATER TREATMENT

28.91 GOALS (Formerly ESTABLISHMENT AND GOALS)
28.92 DEFINITIONS

28.94 PUBLIC TRANSIT

28.96 REGULATION OF CONDUCT ON TRANSIT PROPERTY

I. GENERAL PROVISIONS
28.01 ESTABLISHMENT

Sections:
28.01.010 Title established.
28.01.030 Readoption, ratification and codification of Metro Council resolutions.

28.01.010 Title established. Title 28 in the King County Code which shall pertain to the
performance by the county of metropolitan functions under chapter 35.58 RCW is hereby established. (Ord.
12074 § 3, 1995).

28.01.030 Readoption, ratification and codification of Metro Council resolutions.

A. All resolutions duly enacted by the council of the Municipality of Metropolitan Seattle and not
expressly repealed by such body effective no later than midnight, December 31, 1993, and which are not
inconsistent with the King County Charter or ordinances duly enacted pursuant to the Charter are hereby
readopted and ratified.

B. The clerk of the council is hereby authorized to codify such resolutions to the extent codification
would assist the executive, the council and the public to be aware of actions taken by the council of the
Municipality of Metropolitan Seattle. (Ord. 12074 § 4, 1995).

28.02 DEFINITIONS

Sections:
28.02.001 Definitions.
28.02.015 Affirmative efforts.
28.02.050 Bidder or proposer.
28.02.065 Certification.
28.02.070 Certified business.
28.02.080 Combination minority and women business enterprise/CBE.
28.02.085 Commercially useful function.
28.02.095 Construction Contract.
28.02.105 Consultant contract.
28.02.110 Contract.
28.02.115 Contractor.
28.02.125 Days.
28.02.140 Department.
28.02.155 Director.



28.02.165 Division.

28.02.170 Disadvantaged business enterprise/DBE.
28.02.185 Eligible certified business.

28.02.250 Joint venture.

28.02.300 Metropolitan functions.

28.02.305 Minority or minorities.

28.02.310 Minority business enterprise/MBE.
28.02.375 Purchasing contracts.

28.02.405 Reserved contract.

28.02.445 Small business concern.

28.02.450 Solicitation.

28.02.455 Subcontract.

28.02.460 Subcontractor.

28.02.465 Substitution or substitutes.

28.02.490 Utilization goals.

28.02.495 Utilization requirements.

28.02.510 Women business enterprise or WBE.

28.02.001 Definitions. The following words and phrases, when used in K.C.C. 28.20, shall have
the meanings hereinafter set forth in this chapter. These definitions shall not apply to provisions of the King
County Code other than K.C.C. 28.20. (Ord. 12074 § 5, 1995).

28.02.015 Affirmative efforts. Affirmative efforts means making vigorous attempts in good faith to
contact and contract with certified businesses. (Ord. 11032 § 11 (part), 1993).

28.02.050 Bidder or proposer. Bidder or proposer means "bidder," "proposer” or "offerer" as those
terms are defined in K.C.C. 4.16. (Ord. 12074 § 6, 1995).

28.02.065 Certification. Certification means the process by which the state of Washington Office
of Minority and Women's Business Enterprises (hereinafter "OMWBE") determines that a business meets
the requirements and criteria as a minority, women, combination, or disadvantaged business under
applicable state and federal laws and regulations. (Ord. 11032 § 11 (part), 1993).

28.02.070 Certified business. Certified business means a firm which has been notified by the
OMWRBE in writing that it has met the requirements and criteria as either a minority, women, combination, or
disadvantaged business. (Ord. 11032 § 11 (part), 1993).

28.02.080 Combination minority and women business enterprise or CBE. Combination
minority and women business enterprise or CBE means a business certified as such by OMWBE, in
accordance with applicable state laws and regulations. (Ord. 11032 § 11 (part), 1993).

28.02.085 Commercially useful function. Commercially useful function means the performance
of a distinct element of work for which a firm has the skill and expertise as well as the responsibility of actually
performing, managing and supervising. (Ord. 11032 § 11 (part), 1993).

28.02.095 Construction contract. Construction contract means "public works contract" as that
term is defined in K.C.C. 4.18. (Ord. 12074 § 7, 1995).

28.02.105 Consultant contract. Consultant contract means "service contract" as that term is
defined in K.C.C. 4.18. (Ord. 12074 § 8, 1995).

28.02.110 Contract. Contract means "contract" as that term is defined in K.C.C. 4.16. (Ord. 12074
§9, 1995).

28.02.115 Contractor. Contractor means "contractor” as that term is defined in K.C.C. 4.18. (Ord.
12074 § 10, 1995).

28.02.125 Days. Days shall mean calendar days. If a final date falls on a weekend or a state or
national holiday, the date shall be the next working day. (Ord. 11032 § 11 (part), 1993).



28.02.140 Department. Department means "department” as that term is defined in K.C.C. 4.18.
(Ord. 12074 § 11, 1995).

28.02.155 Director. Director means "administrator" as that term is defined in K.C.C. 4.18. (Ord.
12074 § 12, 1995).

28.02.165 Division. Division means any organizational unit of a department so designated in
K.C.C.2.16. (Ord. 12074 § 13, 1995).

28.02.170 Disadvantaged business enterprise or DBE. Disadvantaged business enterprise or
DBE means a business certified as such by OMWBE, in accordance with applicable federal laws and
regulations. (Ord. 11032 § 11 (part), 1993).

28.02.185 Eligible certified business. Eligible certified business means a business which has
been certified by the OMWBE as either a minority, women or combination business and has done or has
attempted to do business in King County. (Ord. 11032 § 11 (part), 1993).

28.02.250 Joint venture. Joint venture means an association of two or more persons,
partnerships, corporations or any combination of them, established to carry on a single business activity
which is limited in scope or purpose. The association's members in the single business activity have
combined their capital, efforts, skills, knowledge or property, and they exercise control and share in profits
and losses in proportion to their contribution to the business activity. The joint venture must be established in
accordance with rules issued by OMWBE. (Ord. 11032 § 11 (part), 1993).

28.02.300 Metropolitan functions. Metropolitan functions means "metropolitan functions" as that
term is defined in K.C.C. 4.18. (Ord. 12074 § 14, 1995).

28.02.305 Minority or minorities. Minority or minorities shall include Blacks or African Americans,
Asians, Pacific Islanders, Native American Indians, Alaskan Natives, and Hispanics or Latinos or as
otherwise described under applicable state and federal laws and regulations. (Ord. 12074 § 15, 1995).

28.02.310 Minority business enterprise and MBE. Minority business enterprise and MBE means
a business certified as such by OMWBE, in accordance with applicable state laws and regulations. (Ord.
11032 § 11 (part), 1993).

28.02.375 Purchasing contracts. Purchasing contracts means "tangible personal property
contracts" as that term is defined in K.C.C. 4.18. (Ord. 12074 § 16, 1995).

28.02.405 Reserved contract. Reserved contract means a contract for which the consideration of
bids or proposals is limited to or reserved for the bids or proposals submitted by certified businesses. (Ord.
11032 § 11 (part), 1993).

28.02.445 Small business concern. Small business concern means a small business as defined
pursuant to Section 3 of the federal Small Business Act and relevant regulations promulgated pursuant
thereto. (Ord. 11032 § 11 (part), 1993).

28.02.450 Solicitation. Solicitation means a request for the provision of goods, materials and
services. Solicitation shall include requests for proposals, quotes, invitations to bid and similar efforts. (Ord.
11032 § 11 (part), 1993).

28.02.455 Subcontract. Subcontract means a contract or agreement to perform a specified part of
the work, or to provide specified materials or services, under or subordinate to a contract between a
contractor and the county. (Ord. 12074 § 17, 1995).

28.02.460 Subcontractor. Subcontractor means "contractor” as that term is defined in K.C.C. 4.18.
(Ord. 12074 § 18, 1995).

28.02.465 Substitution or substitutes. Substitution or substitutes means replacing one certified
minority, women, combination or disadvantaged business for another, or increasing the level of utilization of



certified businesses in order to maintain the required level of utilization in accordance with the bid or proposal
specifications and commitments. (Ord. 11032 § 11 (part), 1993).

28.02.490 Utilization goals. Utilization goals means those biennial and specific minimum contract
goals for the participation of certified minority, women and disadvantaged businesses in contracting
opportunities with the county, whether as prime contractors or subcontractors. The goal shall be expressed
as a numerical percentage of the total dollar value of all contracts or a specific contract, as the case may be,
to be awarded by or for the county in support of a metropolitan function. These goals shall be applicable to
businesses organized for profit, along with governmental agencies and quasi-governmental agencies, unless
otherwise provided in K.C.C. 28.20 or under applicable state and federal laws and regulations. (Ord. 12074 §
19, 1995).

28.02.495 Utilization requirements. Utilization Requirements means those efforts which bidders,
contractors, subcontractors and the county shall make to meet the utilization goals. (Ord. 12074 § 20, 1995).

28.02.510 Women business enterprise or WBE. Women business enterprise or WBE means a
business certified as such by OMWBE, in accordance with applicable state laws and regulations. (Ord.
11032 § 11 (part), 1993).

Il. ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEDURES
28.20 MINORITY/WOMEN BUSINESS ENTERPRISE AND CONTRACT COMPLIANCE

Sections:
28.20.040 Powers and duties of the director.
28.20.050 Certification of businesses.
28.20.060 Rules and procedures for complying with federal laws and regulations.

28.20.040 Powers and duties of the director.

A. In addition to the powers and duties given the director elsewhere in this chapter, the director shall:

1. Take such actions as may be necessary to implement the policies of this chapter or such
responsibilities as may be assigned hereunder by the county council;

2. Revise or substitute the definitions and requirements of this chapter as may be necessary to
ensure that the policies and implementation of this chapter comply with all applicable federal and state laws
and regulations;

3. Establish biennial utilization goals for the department, in accordance with the factors and
considerations set forth in this chapter;

4. If delegated the authority by the county executive, enter into cooperative agreements with private
businesses, nonprofit organizations and other government agencies for the purpose of increasing the
participation of certified businesses in government contracting;

5. Establish rules, regulations and procedures for implementing and administering this chapter;

6. Monitor and enforce the goals and utilization requirements set forth in this chapter;

7. Maintain a list of certified businesses provided by the state of Washington Office of Minority and
Women's Business Enterprises;

8. Ensure that eligible certified businesses are placed, where possible, on solicitation and bidding
lists maintained by the department;

9. Implement alternatives for arranging or reserving contracts by size and type of work so as to
enhance the possibility of participation by eligible certified businesses;

10. Designate employees of the department to assist in the administration and implementation of
this chapter;

11. Develop and implement appropriate notice procedures to advise eligible certified businesses of
contracting opportunities with the department;

12. Establish financial and technical assistance and other programs and strategies as may be
necessary to assist eligible certified businesses in overcoming the effects of past and present discrimination,
and to increase or maximize contracting opportunities for eligible certified businesses;

13. Monitor the implementation and accomplishment of the provisions and objectives of this
chapter by the employees of the department; and

14. Designate a MinorityWomen/Disadvantaged Business Liaison Officer (M/MW/DBE Liaison
Officer) who shall have direct and open access to the director for the purpose of implementing the
requirements of this chapter, serve as a resource to eligible certified businesses for participating in contracts



with the department and to staff of the department for maximizing participation by eligible certified businesses
in such contracts, be responsible for the daily oversight and monitoring of the department's implementation of
this chapter, prepare and provide reports related to the implementation of this chapter, and work with and
provide staff support to the M/\WBE Advisory Board.

B. The director shall appoint a Minority and Women Business Enterprise Advisory Board (M/WBE
Advisory Board) which shall provide to the director information and recommendations related to the
implementation of this chapter. The M/WBE Advisory Board shall collaborate with the MAV/DBE Liaison
Officer in carrying out its work. The director may issue guidelines further defining the activities and operation
of the M/AWBE Advisory Board.

C. The director shall establish separate and reasonably achievable biennial goals for the utilization
of minority, women and disadvantaged businesses in contracts to be awarded by the department pursuant to
the following procedures. The goals shall be used to direct the efforts of the department in securing
utilization of eligible certified businesses and to measure the success of those efforts. The goals shall be
expressed in terms of the total dollar value of all contracts to be awarded by the department, and may be
established for categories of contracting, such as architectural and engineering consultant, general
consultant, construction and purchasing.

1. To the extent relevant information is available, the director shall consider the following factors in
developing and establishing biennial goals:

a. The number and types of contracts likely to be awarded by the department;
b. The number and types of minority, women and disadvantaged businesses likely to be available
to compete for such contracts or subcontracts under such contracts;

c. The past levels of participation by minority, women and disadvantaged businesses in
contracts awarded by the department, other agencies of the county and other governmental agencies in
King County;

d. The level of participation recommended by governmental and private agencies in King County
whose purpose is to promote the use of minority, women and disadvantaged businesses;

e. Demographic and other business ownership data provided by the Bureau of the Census of the
U.S. Department of Commerce, the state of Washington and other sources; and

f. Any other information relevant to achieving the purposes of this chapter.

2. The director shall cause a notice to be published announcing the proposed biennial
utilization goals and requesting comments from the public, and private and public agencies. The period
during which comments may be submitted shall not be less than thirty (30) days from the date of
publication of the notice. In accordance with the requirements and factors set forth in this chapter and
after due consideration of timely comments received from the public, and from private and public
agencies, the director shall establish the biennial utilization goals for the department. The department's
goals, whether biennial or otherwise, for federally and state-assisted projects shall be established by the
director in accordance with applicable federal and state laws, regulations and grant conditions.

3. Each division within the department shali annually formulate a plan for achieving the biennial
goals. The plan must be submitted to the director for review. Each division plan shall include:

a. The method(s) the division will use to encourage eligible certified business participation in the
procurement and contracting process for goods, materials and services;

b. The method(s) the division will use to achieve the biennial goals;

c. A forecast of contracts to be administered by the division, including estimates of the number,
probable monetary value, if known, type of contracts to be awarded, and the estimated solicitation dates; and

d. A statement indicating the method of recording and reporting the utilization of eligible certified
businesses.

4. The sum of the dollar amounts of contracts or subcontracts awarded to eligible certified
businesses shall be compared to the department's biennial goals to measure, in part, the success of the
department's efforts to utilize eligible certified businesses.

D. In addition to biennial goals, the director shall establish separate contract goals for the utilization
of eligible certified businesses pursuant to the following procedures. Such contract goals shall be based
upon factors considered in establishing the biennial goals, the extent of the contracting opportunities for
eligible certified businesses, the availability of eligible certified businesses to perform such work, and any
other information or factors relevant to achieving the purposes of this section such as equitable utilization of
firms to ensure balance among groups.

1. Contract goals may be set as follows:

a. As a reserved contract goal in which eligible certified businesses will be the only allowable
bidders or proposers. Under such goal, the contract may further specify that:
(1) the entire contract must be performed by eligible certified businesses;
(2) the contract must be performed to a designated level by eligible certified businesses; or



(3) the contract must include additional eligible certified business participation for subcontracting
opportunities.

b. As a goal in which eligible certified businesses may participate as contractors or
subcontractors, and that such participation may be required by use of:

(1) separate goals for MBEs and WBEs;

(2) as a combined goal for MBEs or WBESs or both in those instances where contract sizes are
small or the reasonable opportunity exists for only one subcontract;

(3) as a single goal for either MBEs or WBEs; or

(4) as a competitive factor in which required minimum participation is not specified but
respondents to solicitations must demonstrate affirmative efforts to utilize eligible certified business and are
evaluated on their effort and success.

c. Any other approach calculated to achieve the purposes of this section.

2. For all contracts, accomplishment of contract utilization goals established in accordance with this
section shall be based on the dollar amount of the contract or subcontract awarded. Ultilization of eligible
certified businesses toward accomplishment of the goals shall be calculated in the following manner:

a. General. The dollar value of all contracts awarded to an eligible certified business shall be
counted towards accomplishment of the applicable contract utilization goal, except as provided otherwise in
this section.

(1) The total dollar value of each contract awarded to a combination business shall be
apportioned on the basis of the percentage of ownership to the contract goals for minority and women
businesses, respectively.

(2) The total dollar value of each contract awarded to a business owned and controlled by
minority women shall be counted either toward the minority or women business contract goal, but not to both.

(3) For federally assisted contracts, utilization of certified businesses shall be counted in
accordance with applicable federal rules and regulations. Such federally assisted contracts shall also be
counted toward the accomplishment of the department's biennial utilization goals.

b. If a bidder or contractor utilizes eligible certified businesses, the amount of the subcontract
awarded to the eligible certified business shall be counted toward meeting the applicable goals. The dollar
value of any work that the eligible certified business will further subcontract to other than eligible certified
firms shall not be counted toward the applicable contract goals.

¢. In the case of a joint venture, a portion of the total dollar value of a contract awarded to the joint
venture equal to the percentage and control of the eligible certified business joint venture partner shall be
counted toward the applicable goal; provided, that the portion of the joint venture's work which is the
responsibility of the eligible certified business partner must be set forth in detail and in a manner sufficiently
demonstrating that the work to be performed by the certified business partner is of a commercially
reasonable dollar value commensurate with the eligible certified business joint-venture partner's percentage
and control of the joint venture. Further, the eligible certified business' participation in a joint venture shall be
based on the sharing of real economic interest and risks in the venture, and shall include proportionate
control over management, interest in capital acquired by the joint venture, and interest in earnings.

d. A contract for supplies and materials awarded to an eligible certified business which assumes the
actual and contractual responsibility for the provision of the supplies and materials shall be counted as
follows:

(1) The total dollar value of a contract for supplies and materials directly awarded by the
department to an eligible certified business which is a manufacturer/supplier is counted toward the biennial
utilization goal.

(2) The total dollar value of a subcontract for supplies and materials awarded by a contractor to
an eligible certified business which is a manufacturer (i.e., a business that produces goods from raw
materials or substantially alters them before resale) is counted toward the contract goal. The total dollar value
of a subcontract for supplies and materials awarded by a contractor to an eligible certified business which is a
regular dealer (i.e., a firm that owns, operates, or maintains a store, warehouse, or other establishment in
which the materials or supplies required for the performance of the contract are bought, kept in stock, and
regularly sold to the public in the usual course of business) shall be counted toward the contract goal. Only
twenty percent (20%) of the total dollar value of a subcontract for supplies and materials awarded by a
contractor to an eligible certified business which is not a manufacturer or regular dealer is counted toward the
applicable contract goal.

3. Only eligible certified businesses which perform a commercially useful function shall be counted
toward accomplishment of a utilization goal.

a. In order to evaluate whether a business is performing a commercially useful function, the
director shall establish criteria including, but not limited to, the type and amount of work to be performed,



industry practices and other relevant factors. The criteria shall be consistent with applicable state and federal
laws and with the purposes and intent of this section.

b. Consistent with normal industry practices, an eligible certified business may enter into
subcontracts. If the eligible certified business subcontracts a significantly greater portion of the work of the
contract than would be expected on the basis of normal industry practices, the eligible certified business will
be presumed not to be performing a commercially useful function; provided, the eligible certified business
may present evidence to rebut this presumption.

c. Participation by businesses acting as brokers (unless such is consistent with normal industry
practice), fronts, conduits or similar pass-through arrangements shall not be acceptable and businesses
determined to be acting under such arrangements may be disqualified from contracting with the department
as provided elsewhere in this section.

4. The department may reserve contracts or portions thereof for competition solely among eligible
certified businesses and in accordance with guidelines set by the director. Primarily, the reserved contract
approach shall be used to counteract the effects of past and present discrimination that have prevented
eligible certified businesses from participation as contractors with the department. The reserved contract
approach may also be used to ensure increased participation by eligible certified businesses, including
businesses owned by specific racial groups or owned by women. In order to ensure competitive
procurement, contracts shall not be reserved unless there are a sufficient number of eligible certified
businesses available with capabilities consistent with the requirements of the contract to be reserved.

5. The director may authorize other strategies that are calculated to accomplish the department's
biennial goals. Those strategies may include, but are not limited to, setting goals for prime contracting and
developing other approaches to address issues regarding the equitable utilization of eligible certified
businesses (including specific racial groups).

E. The director shall ensure compliance with the following solicitation and contracting requirements
for construction, consultant service and purchasing contracts.

1. In addition to other solicitation requirements, bids, quotations or proposals shall be solicited from
eligible certified businesses for all contracts not subject to formally advertised competitive bidding or
competitive negotiations requirements. If available eligible certified businesses have not been included in
such solicitation, no contract shall be awarded based on such solicitation, unless otherwise approved by the
director. Bid conditions and requests for proposals for such contracts shall require bidders and proposers to
make affirmative efforts to utilize eligible certified businesses as subcontractors and suppliers.

2. Bid conditions and requests for proposals for construction, consultant service and purchasing
contracts subject to formally advertised competitive bidding or competitive negotiations requirements shall
require, in addition to other requirements set forth in this chapter, that bids, quotations and proposals include
participation by eligible certified businesses as established in this section.

3. In order to implement the provisions of this section, efforts including, but not limited to, the
following, shall be made:

a. Every reasonable effort shall be made to solicit bids and proposals from eligible certified
businesses. Such efforts may include advertising contracting opportunities in media which focus on minority
and women business communities, arranging contracts by size and type of work so as to enhance the
possibility of participation by eligible certified businesses, and, when advisable, reducing or waiving bid
bonding and other public bidding requirements except those as may be specifically established by the council
or imposed by state law.

b. For all contracts for which utilization goals have been established, bidders or proposers shall be
informed in the solicitation that each bidder or proposer shall submit MBE or WBE and DBE participation
information to the department and that award of the contract will be subject to compliance with the utilization
requirements established by the department. The solicitation shall provide when such information shall be
submitted. Such information shall include at least the following:

(1) The names and addresses of the eligible certified businesses the bidder or proposer will
utilize under the contract;

(2) A description of the work each named eligible certified business will perform; and

(3) The dollar amount or percentage of participation, as may be required, for each named
eligible certified business.

c. No contract shall be awarded to any person or business which is disqualified from doing
business with the department or other agencies of King
County, nor shall any contract be awarded to any person or business which is currently disqualified from
doing business with any agency of the federal government or any other government agency in King County or
the state of Washington based on failure to comply with minority, women or disadvantaged business
utilization, or contract compliance requirements which are substantially the same as those of this section,



subject to appeal to the director pursuant to rules adopted by the department under the provisions of K.C.C.
Chapter 2.98.

4. All contract documents for which utilization goals have been established shall include the
following:

a. A provision stating that this section is incorporated by reference into each contract and that
failure to comply with any of the requirements of this section by a contractor will be considered a breach of
contract.

b. A requirement that during the term of the contract the contractor shall comply, as to tasks and
dollar amounts throughout the term of the contract, with all commitments made in the contractor's bid
submittal or proposal for the participation by eligible certified businesses unless otherwise approved by the
director and that, unless otherwise approved by the director, the eligible certified businesses which for any
reason no longer remain associated with the contract, or with the contractor, shall be substituted with other
eligible certified businesses,

c. A requirement that, prior to entering into subcontracts with eligible certified businesses, the
contractor shall provide to all eligible certified businesses participating on the contract a copy of all
commitments made in the contractor's bid submittal or proposal for the participation by certified businesses,
along with copies of contract provisions regarding Minority, Women, or Disadvantaged Business Enterprise
utilization and compliance entered into by the contractor with the department;

d. A provision stating that failure to comply with contract requirements related to utilization of
eligible, certified businesses will be considered a material breach;

e. A provision requiring the contractor to ensure that its subcontractors make affirmative efforts to
utilize eligible certified businesses;

f. A provision requiring the contractor to maintain sufficient records to enable the department to
monitor compliance with these utilization requirements;

g. A provision requiring the contractor to submit with each progress payment request and final
payment request a statement of amounts actually paid to each eligible certified business under the contract;

h. A provision setting forth sanctions or other actions that may be taken in the event the contractor
fails to comply with the utilization requirements as provided in this section; and,

i. A provision requiring that participation by eligible certified businesses be taken into account in
contract supplements, amendments or change orders such that, insofar as practicable, overall utilization will
remain at levels not less than those committed to at contract award.

5. All contracts or other agreements between the department, on behalf of the county, and other
governmental or quasi-governmental agencies or public corporations, whereby such agencies or
corporations receive funds from or through the department for the purpose of contracting with businesses to
perform public improvements, shall require such agencies or corporations to award and administer such
contracts consistent with the provisions of this chapter or with such agencies' or corporations'
minority/women business enterprise programs if such programs will achieve substantially the same
participation as would have been achieved under this section.

F. The director shall be responsible for monitoring compliance with the provisions of this section by
the department and by all contractors to the department pursuant to the following requirements.

1. The director shall require contractors to provide any records information and documents
deemed relevant for such monitoring activities.

2. The director and contractors shall maintain complete and detailed records regarding compliance
with this section. Such records shall include the dollar value and the subject matter of each contract along
with the name of the contractor, the participation levels (in dollars, number of contracts awarded and type of
work) of eligible certified businesses where the contract award provides for such participation, and other
information appropriate to demonstrating compliance with this section. Records meeting the requirements of
any financial assistance agreement shall also be maintained. ,

3. Upon receipt of a written and signed allegation that any contractor or subcontractor has violated
any provision of this section, or if an apparent violation is discovered from information gained through
compliance monitoring, an investigation shall be ordered by the director. If, based on such investigation, it is
determined that a violation may have occurred, then the contractor or subcontractor shall be notified of the
circumstances and provided an opportunity to rebut the determination that a violation has occurred,
according to procedures established by the director. Contract payments may be suspended or withheld
pending the final determination that a violation has occurred. If it is determined that a violation has occurred,
one or more of the sanctions set forth in this section may be imposed.

4. Any person, firm, corporation, business, union or organization which prevents or interferes with a
contractor's or a subcontractor's efforts to comply with the requirements of this section or which submits false
or fraudulent information to the department concerning compliance with this section shall be subject to such
fines, penalties and sanctions as may be provided under this section and local, state and federal law.



5. Any person, firm, corporation, business, union or organization which retaliates against or
otherwise seeks retribution from an eligible certified business or other interested party who has brought a
complaint or concern to the attention of the department regarding policies, practices, actions or efforts to
circumvent the implementation of this section shall be subject to such fines, penalties and sanctions as may
be provided under this section and local, state and federal law.

6. In order to ensure compliance with the provisions of this section, the director may issue rules
and procedures for the monitoring, reporting and enforcement of the requirements of this section and
contracts awarded by the department or in which funds from the department are involved. (Ord. 11032 § 19
(part), 1993).

28.20.050 Certification of businesses. The following requirements shall apply to the certification
of businesses for purposes of this chapter.

A. Pursuant to Chapter 39.19 RCW, the state of Washington Office of Minority and Women's
Business Enterprises (OMWBE) shall be the sole authority for certifying and decertifying MBEs, WBEs,
DBEs, combination businesses and minority women-owned businesses. Unless expressly provided
otherwise in a solicitation request, all businesses identified in bid submittals or proposals in response to
solicitations requesting or requiring certified business participation must be certified by OMWBE at the time of
bid or proposal submittal in order to comply with such participation goals or requirements.

B. Certification notwithstanding, the department may not count or otherwise recognize the
participation of an eligible certified business on a particular contract, may require a contractor to substitute,
and/or may resort to sanctions for any of the following reasons:

1. Failure to demonstrate that the business is acting in a manner consistent with the requisite
ownership and control by the minority or women owners;

2. Failure to perform a commercially useful function;

3. Participation as a business or in cooperation with a business acting as a front, conduit or similar
pass-through arrangements;

4. Failure to provide information requested by the department in its effort to evaluate the
legitimacy of the work to be performed on the contract, including issues of ownership, control and performing
a commercially useful function;

5. Providing false or misleading statements to the department in order to circumvent compliance
with MAWBE participation requirements or to frustrate the department's effort to evaluate the legitimacy of the
work to be performed on the contract; and

6. Failure to meet the requirements and eligibility criteria under this section and/or the rules and
procedures established hereunder.

C. When the department determines that it will not count or otherwise recognize the participation of
an eligible certified business for reasons enumerated in this section, the department shall provide to the
OMWBE information relevant to that determination for OMWBE review regarding certification or
recertification of the business in question, as appropriate.

D. In instances where businesses become certified or are decertified or become ineligible to
participate on contracts after a selection or bid opening but prior to award, or subsequent to the award of a
contract, the participation of such businesses may be counted as provided in the bidding or solicitation
documents and/or rules and procedures to be issued by the director. (Ord. 11032 § 19 (part), 1993).

28.20.060 Rules and procedures for complying with federal laws and regulations.

A. In order to secure financial assistance from the Federal Department of Transportation, the
director shall provide for the participation of disadvantaged businesses in certain federally assisted projects.
The director may issue rules and procedures and take steps necessary to implement and comply with
applicable federal laws and regulations, including the establishment of annual goals and contract goals for
disadvantaged business utilization under 49 Code of Federal Regulations, Part 23.

B. The director may grant exceptions, revisions and waivers to the utilization requirements set forth
therein and goals established pursuant hereto according to the following provisions:

1. A waiver or revision may be granted for reasons such as, but not limited to:
a. The reasonable and necessary requirements of the contract render subcontracting or other
participation of businesses other than the bidder or proposer infeasible or improbable; or
b. Sufficient certified businesses capable of providing the goods or services required by the
contract are not readily available in the market area of the project despite affirmative efforts to locate such
businesses.
2. Each contract for which the director grants such a waiver or revision shall include a provision
requiring the contractor to make affirmative efforts to utilize eligible certified businesses should



subcontracting or participation of businesses other than the contractor become necessary to accomplish the
work.

3. In determining whether participation by eligible certified businesses is infeasible or improbable,
or whether sufficient eligible certified businesses are not readily available, the following factors shall be
considered:

a. Whether all forms of participation have been thoroughly examined by the administering
division;

b. Whether the technical requirements of the contract which tend to prohibit or reduce the
opportunity for participation of businesses other than the bidder or proposer are reasonable and necessary to
achieve the purpose of the contract;

c. The cost to the department of requiring participation of businesses other than the bidder or
proposer, or of altering the contract requirements to increase opportunities for such participation;

d. Whether the administering division has made affirmative efforts to locate eligible certified
businesses capable of providing the goods, materials or services required by the contract, including seeking
assistance of the M/W/DBE Liaison Officer;

e. Whether participation by eligible certified businesses has been achieved on similar contracts by
the department, other agencies of King County or another local government in King County; and

f. Whether other methods of achieving participation by eligible certified businesses as described
in this section have been considered.

4. No waiver of subcontracting goals may be granted without first attempting to use the competitive
factor approach referenced in this section.

5. Revisions or waivers of goals established for a particular contract may be granted during the
period of solicitation for bids or proposals based on consideration of the factors set forth in this section.
Increases of such goals may be effected at any time prior to submittal of bids or proposals.

6. The requirements of this section may be waived for a particular contract under any of the
following circumstances:

a. If it is determined that an emergency exists which requires goods or services to be provided
with such immediacy that a contractor would not be able to comply with the requirements of this section and
the contractor is an eligible certified business, or, if not, that the contractor will make affirmative efforts to
subcontract to certified businesses should subcontracting be utilized; or

b. If it is determined that compliance with the requirements of this section would impose an
unwarranted economic burden on, or risk to, the department as compared with the degree to which the
purposes and policies of this section would be furthered by requiring compliance; or

c. If it is determined that the needed goods or services are readily available from only one source
and such source is not currently disqualified from doing business with the department, another agency of
King County or any other governmental agency based on a failure to comply with minority, women or
disadvantaged business utilization requirements; provided, that the contractor shall make affirmative efforts
to utilize eligible certified businesses should subcontracting be necessary.

7. The requirements of this section shall not apply to contracts for which the department receives
financial assistance from a state or federal agency which has established minority, women or disadvantaged
business enterprise utilization requirements with which the department must comply in order to receive such
funds, and such requirements conflict with provisions in this section. (Ord. 11032 § 19 (part), 1993).

lll. WATER POLLUTION ABATEMENT
28.81 POLICY (Formerly ESTABLISHMENT AND POLICY)

Sections:
28.81.020 Statement of policy.

28.81.020 Statement of policy. It is the policy the county to provide water pollution abatement
service for King County and to provide water pollution abatement service for such areas adjacent to the
county as may, in the judgment of the council, be feasibly served upon such terms, conditions and rates as
the council shall determine.

A. In order to carry out its authorized function of metropolitan water pollution abatement as provided
in RCW 35.58, and to comply with federal and state laws and regulations, it is necessary and in the best
interests of the residents of the county and users of the metropolitan sewerage system that the council adopt
policies and procedures for the disposal of sewage and disposal of industrial waste into the metropolitan
sewerage system as set forth in this chapter.



B. It is the policy of King County to provide sewerage facilities adequate for the transportation,
treatment and disposal of industrial and other wastes and to operate the metropolitan sewerage system in
such a manner that protects public health and the environment. This chapter sets forth uniform requirements
for users of the metropolitan sewerage system and enables the county to comply with all applicable state and
federal laws including the Clean Water Act (33 U.S.C. 1251 et seq.) and the General Pretreatment
Regulations (40 CFR 403). In carrying out this policy, the objectives of this chapter are:

1. To prevent pollutants from entering the sewerage system that will interfere with its normal
operation, damage the collection or treatment systems, or contaminate the resulting biosolids;

2. To prevent the introduction of pollutants into the sewerage system that will not be adequately
treated and will pass through into the environment;

3. To improve opportunities for recycling and reclamation of wastewater and biosolids;

4. To ensure protection of worker safety and health;

5. To reduce the introduction of clean water into the sewerage system;

6. To implement waste reduction and recycling to prolong the useful life of existing and planned
wastewater facilities and to protect the environment;

7. To focus sampling and inspection efforts on those industries discharging the greatest volume
and concentration of pollutants while still recognizing the cumulative impact of small discharges;

8. To implement, administer, and enforce a fee program in compliance with federal and state law
and ensure that industrial users pay a fair cost for monitoring and treatment;

9. Toimplement an enforcement response plan aimed at achieving compliance in the shortest time
frame possible and promoting responsibility of the industrial user to be in compliance with this chapter; and

10. To make information and data on industrial users available to the public in accordance with
state law. (Ord. 11963 § 3, 1995: Ord. 11034 § 2, 1993).

28.82 DEFINITIONS

Sections:
28.82.010 Definitions.
28.82.020 Act or the Act.
28.82.025 AKART.
28.82.030 Annual.
28.82.040 Applicable pretreatment standards.
28.82.050 Authorized representative of industrial user.
28.82.060 Best management practices or BMPs.
28.82.070 Biochemical oxygen demand or BOD.
28.82.080 Biosolids.
28.82.090 Branch.
28.82.100 Categorical pretreatment standard or categorical standard.
28.82.110 Clean water or unpolluted water.
28.82.120 Combined sewer or combined sewer system.
28.82.130 Compatible pollutants.
28.82.140 Composite sample.
28.82.150 Comprehensive plan.
28.82.160 Construction dewatering.
28.82.170 Contaminated nonprocess wastewater.
28.82.180 Control authority.
28.82.190 Cooling water.
28.82.200 Cecant water.
28.82.210 Department.
28.82.215 Dilution.
28.82.220 Director.
28.82.230 Discharge authorization.
28.82.250 Discharge to metropolitan system.
28.82.260 Domestic user or residential user.
28.82.270 Engineer.
28.82.280 Excessive infiltration/inflow.
28.82.290 Flow proportional composite sample.
28.82.300 General permit.
28.82.310 Grab sample.
28.82.320 Ground water.



28.82.330
28.82.340
28.82.350
28.82.360
28.82.370
28.82.380
28.82.390
28.82.400
28.82.410
28.82.420
28.82.430
28.82.440
28.82.450
28.82.460
28.82.470
28.82.480
28.82.490
28.82.500
28.82.510
28.82.515
28.82.520
28.82.530
28.82.540
28.82.550
28.82.560
28.82.565
28.82.570
28.82.580
28.82.590
28.82.600
28.82.610
28.82.620
28.82.630
28.82.640
28.82.650
28.82.660
28.82.670
28.82.680
28.82.690
28.82.700
28.82.710
28.82.720
28.82.730
28.82.740
28.82.750
28.82.760
28.82.770
28.82.780
28.82.790
28.82.800
28.82.810
28.82.820
28.82.830
28.82.840
28.82.850
28.82.860
28.82.870
28.82.880
28.82.890
28.82.900

Hazardous waste.

Incompatible poliutants.

Indirect discharge, waste discharge or discharge.
Industrial activity.

Industrial user or user.

Industrial waste.

Infiltration.

Infiltration/inflow.

Inflow.

Interceptor.

Interference.

King County or county.

Local public agency.

Local public sewer.

Lateral.

Metro datum or metro datum plane.
County.

Metropolitan sewer system.

Metropolitan water pollution abatement advisory committee.
Middle ties categorical industrial user.
National pretreatment standard, pretreatment standard, or standard.
Natural outlet.

New source.

New user.

Noncontact cooling water.

Nonsignificant categorical industrial user.
Participant local agency.

Pass through.

Permittee.

Person.

pH.

Point of compliance.

Pretreatment or treatment.

Pretreatment requirements.

Private sewer.

Process wastewater.

Process wastewater pollutants.
Prohibited discharge standards or prohibited discharges.
Public sewer.

Publicly owned treatment works or POTW.
POTW treatment plant.

Relief drain.

Relief sewer.

Replacement.

Sampling point.

Sewage.

Sewer or sewerage.

Sewage disposal agreement.

Side sewer

Significant industrial user.

Significant noncompliance.

Sludge.

Slug discharge.

Standards.

Storm drain.

Storm water.

Suspended solids.

Toxic.

Toxic poliutants.

Treatment plant.



28.82.910 Treatment works.

28.82.920 Trunk.

28.82.930 User charge.

28.82.940 Waste discharge permit or permit.
28.82.950 Wastewater.

28.82.960 Watercourse.

28.82.970 Water pollution abatement.
28.82.990 Year.

28.82.1000 Definition of additional terms.

28.82.010 Definitions. The terms, words and phrases when used in K.C.C. chapter 28.81 and
28.84 and this chapter shall have the meanings in this chapter, whether appearing in capital or lower case
form. If not defined in this chapter, the words and phrases used in K.C.C. chapters 28.81 and 28.84 and this
chapter shall have their common and ordinary meanings to the degree consistent with the technical subjects
in K.C.C. chapters 28.81 and 28.84 and this chapter. (Ord. 16929 § 1, 2010: Ord. 11034 § 3 (part), 1993).

28.82.020 Act or the Act. "Act" or "the Act" means Federal Water Pollution Control Act, also known
as the Clean Water Act, as amended, 33 U.S.C. 1251, et seq. (Ord. 11034 § 3 (part), 1993).

28.82.025 AKART. "AKART" means "all known, available and reasonable methods of prevention,
control and treatment" and is a technology-based approach to limiting pollutants from wastewater discharges
that requires an engineering judgment and an economic judgment. (Ord. 16929 § 2, 2010).

28.82.030 Annual. Annual shall refer to that twelve-month period commencing January 1 and
terminating December 31. (Ord. 11034 § 3 (part), 1993).

28.82.040 Applicable pretreatment standards. Applicable pretreatment standards means for any
specified prohibitive standards, specific pretreatment standards (local limits), State of Washington
pretreatment standards, or EPA's Categorical Pretreatment Standards (when effective), whichever standard
is appropriate or most stringent. (Ord. 11034 § 3 (part), 1993).

28.82.050 Authorized representative of industrial user. "Authorized representative of industrial
user"' may be:

A. The president, secretary, treasurer or a vice-president of the corporation in charge of a principal
business function, or any other person who performs similar policy or decision-making functions for the
corporation;

B. The manager of one or more manufacturing, production or operating facilities, but only if the
manager:

1. Is authorized to make management decisions that govern the operation of the regulated facility
including having the explicit or implicit duty of making major capital investment recommendations, and initiate
and direct other comprehensive measures to assure long-term environmental compliance with environmental
laws and regulations;

2. Can ensure that the necessary systems are established or actions taken to gather complete and
accurate information for control mechanism requirements; knowledgeable of King County reporting
requirements; and

3. Has been assigned or delegated the authority to sign documents, in accordance with corporate
procedures;

C. A general partner or proprietor if the industrial user is a partnership or proprietorship, respectively;

D. A director or highest official appointed or designated to oversee the operation and performance
of the industry if the industrial user is a government agency; or

E. The individuals described in subsection A. through D. of this section may designate an authorized
representative if:

1. The authorization is submitted to King County in writing; and

2. The authorization specifies the individual or position responsible for the overall operation of the
facility from which the discharge originates or having overall responsibility for environmental matters for the
company or agency. (Ord. 16929 § 3, 2010: Ord. 11034 § 3 (part), 1993).

28.82.060 Best management practices or BMPs. "Best management practices" or "BMPs" or
means schedules of activities, prohibitions of practices, maintenance procedures and other management
practices to implement the prohibitions listed in Section 403.5(a)(1) and (b) of the Act. "Best management



practices” or "BMPs" also include treatment requirements, operating procedures and practices to control
plant site runoff, spillage or leaks, sludge or waste disposal or drainage from raw materials storage. (Ord.
16929 § 4, 2010: Ord. 11034 § 3 (part), 1993).

28.82.070 Biochemical oxygen demand or BOD. Biochemical oxygen demand or BOD shall
mean the quantity of oxygen utilized in the biochemical oxidation of organic matter (as described in American
Public Health Association publication Standard Methods For The Examination Of Water And Wastewaters,
current edition, or Guidelines Establishing Test Procedures For The Analysis Of Pollutants, contained in 40
CFR Part 136) in five days at temperature of 20 degrees centigrade, expressed in milligrams per liter. (Ord.
11034 § 3 (part), 1993).

28.82.080 Biosolids. Biosolids means primarily organic solid products produced by wastewater
treatment processes that can be beneficially recycled. (Ord. 11034 § 3 (part), 1993).

28.82.090 Branch. Branch shall mean a sewer or combined sewer which will receive the flow from
more than one lateral and which will discharge into a trunk or interceptor. (Ord. 11034 § 3 (part), 1993).

28.82.100 Categorical pretreatment standard or categorical standard. Categorical pretreatment
standard or categorical standard refers to any regulation containing pollutant discharge limits promulgated by
the EPA in accordance with Sections 307(b) and (c) of the Act (33 U.S.C. 1317), which apply to a specific
category of users and which appear in 40 CFR Chapter I, Subchapter N, Parts 405-471. (Ord. 11034 § 3
(part), 1993).

28.82.110 Clean water or unpolluted water. Clean water or unpolluted water shall mean water in
its natural state, or water which, after use for any purpose, is not substantially changed or contaminated as to
chemical or biochemical qualities. Water from roof drains, building foundation drains, storm water, clear
water from cooling or condensing systems, air conditioning systems, wells and cisterns shall normally be
considered to be "clean water" or "unpolluted water." (Ord. 11034 § 3 (part), 1993).

28.82.120 Combined sewer or combined sewer system. Combined sewer or combined sewer
system shall mean a conduit or system of conduits in which both wastewater and storm water are
transported. (Ord. 11034 § 3 (part), 1993).

28.82.130 Compatible pollutants. Compatible pollutants shall mean biochemical oxygen demand,
suspended solids, pH, and fecal coliform bacteria, plus additional pollutants identified in an NPDES permit if
the publicly-owned treatment works is designed to treat such pollutants, and in fact does remove such
pollutants to a substantial degree. The term "substantial degree” is not subject to precise definition, but
generally contemplates removals in the order of 80 percent or greater. Examples of the additional pollutants
that may be considered compatible include: chemical oxygen demand; total organic carbon; phosphorus and
phosphorus compounds; nitrogen and nitrogen compounds; and, fats, ocils and greases of animal or
vegetable origin (except as prohibited where these materials would interfere with the operation of the publicly
owned treatment works). (Ord. 11963 § 4, 1995: Ord. 11034 § 3 (part), 1993).

28.82.140 Composite sample. Composite sample shall mean a sample composed of no less than
two (2) grab samples, collected by either hand or machine, over the compositing period. (Ord. 11034 § 3
(part), 1993).

28.82.150 Comprehensive plan. Comprehensive plan shall mean the Comprehensive Sewage
Disposal Plan adopted by Resolution No. 23 of the Metropolitan Council and all amendments thereto. (Ord.
11034 § 3 (part), 1993).

28.82.160 Construction dewatering. Construction dewatering shall mean the act of pumping
ground water or storm water away from an active construction site. (Ord. 11034 § 3 (part), 1993).

28.82.170 Contaminated nonprocess wastewater. Contaminated nonprocess wastewater shall
mean any water which, during manufacturing or processing, comes into incidental contact with any raw
material, intermediate product, finished product, byproduct or waste product by means of a. rainfall runoff, b.
accidental spills, c. accidental leaks caused by the failure of process equipment, and d. discharges from
safety showers and related personal safety equipment; provided, that all reasonable measures have been



taken (1) to prevent, reduce and control such contact to the maximum extent feasible, and (2) to mitigate the
effects of such contact once it has occurred. (Ord. 11034 § 3 (part), 1993).

28.82.180 Control authority. Control authority shall mean a publicly-owned treatment works with
an approved pretreatment program. The county is the control authority for dischargers to the metropolitan
sewerage system. (Ord. 11034 § 3 (part), 1993).

28.82.190 Cooling water. Cooling water shall mean the water discharged from any use, such as
air conditioning, cooling or refrigeration, or to which the only pollutant added is heat. (Ord. 11034 § 3 (part),
1993).

28.82.200 Decant water. Decant water shall mean water typically generated from the mechanical
education and subsequent solids settling of wastewater from the cleaning and maintenance of storm and
sanitary conveyance systems. (Ord. 11034 § 3 (part), 1993).

28.82.210 Department. Department shall mean the department of natural resources and parks.
(Ord. 11963 § 5, 1995: Ord. 11034 § 3 (part), 1993).

28.82.215 Dilution. Dilution shall be defined as the prohibited practice of adding process water, or
in any other way, attempting to dilute a discharge as a partial or complete substitution for adequate treatment
to achieve compliance with pretreatment standard or requirements. (Ord. 11034 § 3 (part), 1993. Formerly
K.C.C.28.82.240.).

28.82.220 Director. Director shall mean the director of the department of natural resources and
parks of King County or a duly authorized designee. (Ord. 14199 § 252, 2001: Ord. 11963 § 6, 1995: Ord.
11034 § 3 (part), 1993).

28.82.230 Discharge authorization. "Discharge authorization" means an authorization issued for
the discharge of wastewater into a POTW treatment plant, public sewer, private sewer or side sewer tributary
to the metropolitan sewerage system. The authorizations may include, but shall not be limited to, waste
discharge permits, minor discharge authorizations, letters of authorization and general permits. (Ord. 16929
§ 5,2010: Ord. 11034 § 3 (part), 1993).

28.82.250 Discharge to metropolitan system. "Discharge to metropolitan system" means any
discharge that enters a private side sewer, a POTW treatment plant public sewer that is a tributary to the
metropolitan sewerage system, and the discharge will be considered a discharge to the system whether or
not specifically identifiable in effluent reaching the county's treatment works. (Ord. 16929 § 6, 2010: Ord.
11034 § 3 (part), 1993).

28.82.260 Domestic user or residential user. "Domestic user" or "residential user" means any
person who contributes wastewater into the metropolitan sewerage system or POTW treatment plant from a
residential dwelling unit. (Ord. 16929 § 7, 2010: Ord. 11034 § 3 (part), 1993).

28.82.270 Engineer. Engineer shall mean the engineer duly appointed by a local public agency or
the owner of private sewers to supervise and direct the design and construction of local sewerage facilities,
acting personally or through agents or assistants duly authorized by him/her, such agents or assistants acting
within the scope of the particular duties assigned to them. (Ord. 11034 § 3 (part), 1993).

28.82.280 Excessive infiltration/inflow. Excessive infiltration/inflow refers to the quantities of
infiltration/inflow which can be economically eliminated from a sewer system by rehabilitation, as determined
by a cost-effectiveness analysis that compares the cost for correcting the infiltration/inflow conditions with the
total costs for transportation and treatment of the infiltration/inflow. (Ord. 11034 § 3 (part), 1993).

28.82.290 Flow proportional composite sample. Flow proportional composite sample shall mean
a sample composed of grab samples collected continuously or discretely, by hand or machine, in proportion
to the flow at the time of collection or to the total flow since collection of the previous grab sample. The grab
sample volume or frequency of grab collection may be varied in proportion to flow. (Ord. 11034 § 3 (part),
1993).



28.82.300 General permit. General Permit shall mean a written authorization issued for the
discharge of wastewater from a category of business into a public sewer or side sewer tributary to the
metropolitan sewerage system granted for a specific period of time up to five years. (Ord. 11034 § 3 (part),
1993).

28.82.310 Grab sample. Grab sample shall mean a single sample collected without consideration
to the flow in the waste stream and without consideration of time. (Ord. 11034 § 3 (part), 1993).

28.82.320 Ground water. Ground water shall mean water in a saturated zone or stratum beneath
the surface of land or below a surface water body. (Ord. 11034 § 3 (part), 1993).

28.82.330 Hazardous waste. Hazardous waste shall be as defined in accordance with 40 CFR
261.3 oramended. (Ord. 11034 § 3 (part), 1993).

28.82.340 Incompatible pollutants. Incompatible pollutants shall mean any pollutant that is not a
compatible pollutant as defined in this chapter. (Ord. 11034 § 3 (part), 1993).

28.82.350 Indirect discharge, waste discharge or discharge. "Indirect discharge”, "waste
discharge" or discharge means the act of introducing or depositing wastes from any nondomestic source
regulated under Section 307(b), (c), or (d) of the Act into a POTW treatment plant, public sewer, private
sewer or side sewer tributary to the metropolitan sewerage system. (Ord. 16929 § 8, 2010: Ord. 11034 § 3
(part), 1993).

28.82.360 Industrial activity. Industrial activity shall refer to areas where material handling
equipment or activities, raw materials, intermediate products, final products, waste materials, byproducts, or
industrial machinery are located. Such areas include but are not limited fo: material handling sites; refuse
sites; sites used for the application or disposal of process wastewater; sites used for the storage and
maintenance of material handling equipment; sites used for residual treatment; storage or disposal sites;
shipping and receiving areas; manufacturing buildings; material storage areas for raw materials and
intermediate and finished products; and areas where industrial activity has taken place in the past and
significant materials remain. (Ord. 11034 § 3 (part), 1993).

28.82.370 Industrial user or user. Industrial user or user means a source or potential source of
indirect discharge. The source shall not include "Domestic User" as defined in this chapter. (Ord. 11034 § 3
(part), 1993).

28.82.380 Industrial waste. Industrial waste shall mean any liquid, solid or gaseous substance, or
combination thereof, resulting from any process of industry, government agency, manufacturing, commercial
food processing, business, agriculture, trade or research, including, but not limited to, the development,
recovery or processing of natural resources, leachate from landfills or other disposal sites, decant water,
contaminated nonprocess water, and contaminated stormwater and ground water. (Ord. 11034 § 3 (part),
1993).

28.82.390 Infiltration. Infiliration shall mean the water entering a sewer system, including sewer
service connections, from the ground, through such means as, but not limited to, defective pipes, pipe joints,
connections or manhole walls. Infiltration does not include, and is distinguished from, inflow. (Ord. 11034 §
3 (part), 1993).

28.82.400 Infiltrationf/inflow. Infiltration/inflow refers to the total quantity of water from both
infiltration and inflow without distinguishing the source. (Ord. 11034 § 3 (part), 1993).

28.82.410 Inflow. Inflow shall mean the water discharged into a sewer system, including service
connections from such sources as, but not limited to, roof leaders, cellar, yard, and area drains, cooling water
discharges, foundation drains, cooling water discharges, drains from springs and swampy areas, manhole
covers, cross connections from storm sewers and combined sewers, catch basins, storm water, surface
runoff, street wash waters, or drainage. Inflow does not include, and is distinguished, from infiltration. (Ord.
11034 § 3 (part), 1993).

28.82.420 Interceptor. Interceptor shall mean a sewer or combined sewer which receives the flow
from a number of transverse sewers or combined sewers and transports it to a treatment plant or other point



of disposal. Generally, an interceptor collects the flow from a number of trunks or laterals which would
otherwise discharge to a natural outlet. (Ord. 11034 § 3 (part), 1993).

28.82.430 Interference. Interference means a discharge that, alone or in conjunction with a
discharge or discharges from other sources, either: inhibits or disrupts the POTW, its treatment processes or
operations; inhibits or disrupts its sludge processes, use or disposal; causes King County to violate its
NPDES permit, or prevents King County from using or disposing of its biosolids in compliance with federal,
state and local regulations. (Ord. 11034 § 3 (part), 1993).

28.82.440 King County or county. King County or county shall mean the county of King,
Washington, a home rule charter county of the State of Washington, acting through the council, executive,
when applicable; or any board, committee, body, official or person which shall have been lawfully delegated
the power to act for or on behalf of the county. Unless a particular board, committee, body, official or person
is specifically designated in this chapter, wherever action by the county is explicitly required or implied herein,
it shall be understood to mean action by the executive or director, if designated by the executive. (Ord.
11034 § 3 (part), 1993).

28.82.450 Local public agency. Local public agency shall mean any legally constituted city, town,
county, special district or other public agency under whose jurisdiction local sewerage facilities may be
constructed or operated. (Ord. 11034 § 3 (part), 1993).

28.82.460 Local public sewer. Local public sewer shall mean a sewer, combined sewer or
appurtenant facility other than a side sewer, either owned or operated by or within the jurisdiction of a local
public agency. (Ord. 11034 § 3 (part), 1993).

28.82.470 Lateral. Lateral shall mean a sewer or combined sewer which will receive the flow from
more than one side sewer and discharge into a Branch, trunk or interceptor. (Ord. 11034 § 3 (part), 1993).

28.82.480 Metro datum or metro datum plane. Metro datum or metro datum plane refers to
mean sea level as a reference plane for elevation measured above and below such plane. Mean sea level is
the normal level of the ocean at mean tide as determined by the United States Coast and Geodetic Survey -
1929 (1947 adjustments). (Ord. 11034 § 3 (part), 1993).

28.82.490 County. County shall mean the area contained within the boundaries of King County as
now or hereafter constituted. (Ord. 11034 § 3 (part), 1993).

28.82.500 Metropolitan sewer system, metropolitan sewerage system or metropolitan
system. Metropolitan sewer system, metropolitan sewerage system or metropolitan system shall mean all or
any part of the sewerage facilities acquired, constructed, or used by King County. (Ord. 11963 § 7, 1995:
Ord. 11034 § 3 (part), 1993).

28.82.510 Metropolitan water pollution abatement advisory committee. Metropolitan Water
Pollution Abatement Advisory Committee shall mean the advisory committee to the metropolitan King County
council as now or hereafter constituted pursuant to RCW 35.58.210. (Ord. 11963 § 8, 1995: Ord. 11034 § 3
(part), 1993).

28.82.515 Middle tier categorical industrial user. "Middle tier categorical industrial user” means a
categorical industrial user for which the control authority has reduced monitoring requirements, because the
control authority has determined that the user meets the requirements in Section 403.12(e)(3) of the Act.
(Ord. 16929 § 9, 2010).

28.82.520 National pretreatment standard, pretreatment standard, or standard. National
pretreatment standard, pretreatment standard, or standard shall refer to any regulation containing pollutant
discharge limits promulgated by the EPA in accordance with Section 307(b) and (c) of the Act, which applies
to industrial users. This term includes prohibited discharge limits established pursuant to 40 CFR 403.5.
(Ord. 11034 § 3 (part), 1993).

28.82.530 Natural outlet. Natural outlet shall mean an outlet into a pond, lake, sound, stream,
river, ditch, watercourse or other body of surface water. (Ord. 11034 § 3 (part), 1993).



28.82.540 New source. New source shall apply to facilities subject to Categorical Pretreatment
Standards and shall be as defined in 40 CFR 403.3(k) or amended. (Ord. 11034 § 3 (part), 1993).

28.82.550 New user. New user shall be defined as an industrial user that applies to a participant
local agency for a new building permit or any person who occupies an existing building and proposes to
discharge wastewater to the metropolitan sewerage system after January 1, 1994. Any person who buys an
existing facility that is discharging nondomestic wastewater will be considered an "existing user" if no
significant changes are made in the operation that will affect the discharge. A "new user” is not a "new
source." (Ord. 11034 § 3 (part), 1993).

28.82.560 Noncontact cooling water. Noncontact cooling water shall mean the same as the
words "cooling water" as defined in this chapter. (Ord. 11034 § 3 (part), 1993).

2.82.565 Nonsignificant categorical industrial user. There is hereby added to K.C.C. chapter
28.82 a new section to read as follows:

"Nonsignificant categorical industrial user’ means a categorical industrial user that the control
authority has determined meets the requirements of 40 CFR Sec. 403.3(v)(2) of the Act. (Ord. 16929 § 10,
2010).

28.82.570 Participant local agency. Participant local agency shall mean each city, town, county,
sewer district, municipal corporation, person, firm or private corporation that shall dispose of any portion of its
sanitary sewage into the metropolitan sewerage system and shall have entered into a contract with the
county providing for such disposal. (Ord. 11034 § 3 (part), 1993).

28.82.580 Pass through. Pass through refers to a discharge that exits the POTW into waters of
the state in quantities or concentrations that alone or in conjunction with a discharge or discharges from other
sources, is a cause of a violation of any requirement of the county's NPDES permit (including an increase in
the magnitude or duration of a violation). (Ord. 11034 § 3 (part), 1993).

28.82.590 Permittee. Permittee hall mean any person to whom the county shall have issued a
waste discharge permit. (Ord. 11034 § 3 (part), 1993).

28.82.600 Person. Person shall mean any individual, company, partnership, association,
corporation, society, joint stock company, trust, estate, governmental entity or any other legal entity or group,
or their legal representatives, agents or assigns. The masculine gender shall include the feminine; the
singular shall include the plural where indicated by the context and the singular term shall include the plural.
(Ord. 11034 § 3 (part), 1993).

28.82.610 pH. pH shall mean the negative logarithm (base 10) of the concentration of hydrogen
ions expressed in grams per liter of solution. Neutral water, for example, has a pH of 7 and a hydrogen ion
concentration of 10(-7). (Ord. 11963 § 9, 1995: Ord. 11034 § 3 (part), 1993).

28.82.620 Point of compliance. Point of compliance shall be the location immediately downstream
from pretreatment facilities, if such exist, or immediately downstream from the regulated process, if no such
pretreatment exists and upstream from the point where the discharge enters any sewer after which the
industrial user is no longer able to alter the concentration or characteristics of the wastes. (Ord. 11034 § 3
(part), 1993).

28.82.630 Pretreatment or treatment. Pretreatment or treatment shall mean the reduction of the
amount of pollutants, the elimination of pollutants, or the alteration of the nature of pollutant properties in
wastewater to a less harmful state prior to or in lieu of discharging or otherwise introducing
such pollutants into a POTW. The reduction or alteration can be obtained by physical, chemical or biological
process changes or other means, except as prohibited by 40 CFR Section 403.6(d). (Ord. 11034 § 3 (part),
1993).

28.82.640 Pretreatment requirements. Pretreatment requirements refers to any substantive or
procedural requirement related to pretreatment, other than a National Pretreatment Standard, imposed on an
industrial user. (Ord. 11034 § 3 (part), 1993).



28.82.650 Private sewer. Private sewer shall mean a sewer, or combined sewer, exclusive of side
sewers, which is not owned or operated by the county or a local public agency. (Ord. 11034 § 3 (part), 1993).

28.82.660 Process wastewater. Process wastewater shall mean any water which, during
manufacturing or processing, comes into direct contact with, or results from production or use of any raw
material, intermediate product, finished product, byproduct, or waste product. The "process wastewater"
does not include "contaminated nonprocess wastewater." (Ord. 11034 § 3 (part), 1993).

28.82.670 Process wastewater pollutants. Process wastewater pollutants shall mean pollutants
present in process wastewater. (Ord. 11034 § 3 (part), 1993).

28.82.680 Prohibited discharge standards or prohibited discharges. Prohibited discharge
standards or prohibited discharges shall mean prohibitions against the discharge of certain substances.
(Ord. 11034 § 3 (part), 1993).

28.82.690 Public sewer. Public sewer shall mean a sewer or combined sewer, exclusive of side
sewers, owned or operated, or to be owned or operated, by the county or a local public agency. (Ord. 11034
§ 3 (part), 1993).

28.82.700 Publicly owned treatment works or POTW. Publicly owned treatment works or POTW
means a treatment works as defined by Section 212 of the Act, (33 U.S.C. 1292), which is owned in this
instance by the county. This definition includes any sewers that convey wastewater to the POTW treatment
plant, but does not include any pipes, sewers or other conveyances not connected to a facility providing
treatment. For the purposes of this chapter, "POTW" shall also include any sewers that convey wastewaters
to the POTW from persons outside of the county who are, by contract or agreement with the county, users of
the county's POTW. (Ord. 11034 § 3 (part), 1993).

28.82.710 POTW treatment plant. POTW treatment plant refers to that portion of the POTW
designed to provide treatment to wastewater. (Ord. 11034 § 3 (part), 1993).

28.82.720 Relief drain. Relief drain shall mean a storm drain constructed to carry Storm Water
flows in excess of the capacity of an existing combined sewer or storm drain. (Ord. 11034 § 3 (part), 1993).

28.82.730 Relief sewer. Relief sewer shall mean a sewer constructed to carry wastewater flows in
excess of the capacity of an existing sewer or combined sewer. (Ord. 11034 § 3 (part), 1993).

28.82.740 Replacement. Replacement refers to expenditures for obtaining and installing
equipment, accessories, or appurtenances which are necessary during the service life of the treatment works
to maintain the capacity and performance for which such works were designed and constructed. The term
"operation and maintenance" includes replacement. (Ord. 11034 § 3 (part), 1993).

28.82.750 Sampling point. Sampling point shall mean that point, as identified in the waste
discharge permit or discharge authorization, that specifies the location samples should be collected to verify
compliance with applicable pretreatment standards. (Ord. 11034 § 3 (part), 1993).

28.82.760 Sewage. Sewage shall mean water-carrying waste discharged from the sanitary facilities
of buildings occupied or used by people. (Ord. 11034 § 3 (part), 1993).

28.82.770 Sewer or sewerage. Sewer or sewerage shall mean a conduit designed or used to
transport wastewater and to which storm water, surface and ground water are not intentionally admitted.
(Ord. 11034 § 3 (part), 1993).

28.82.780 Sewage disposal agreement. Sewage disposal agreement shall mean the agreement
between the county and any local public agency or person providing for the delivery of sewage and industrial
waste to the metropolitan sewerage system and the acceptance by the department of such wastewater for
disposal. (Ord. 11034 § 3 (part), 1993).

28.82.790 Side sewer. Side sewer shall mean a conduit extending from the plumbing system of a
building or buildings to and connecting with a public or a private sewer. (Ord. 11034 § 3 (part), 1993).



28.82.800 Significant industrial user. "Significant industrial user" means any industrial users as
defined in 40 CFR Sec. 403.3(t) including, but not limited to, all industrial users subject to Categorical
Pretreatment Standards under 40 CFR 403.6 and 40 CFR Chapter |. Subchapter N, except as exempted by
40 CFR 403.3(v)(2), and any other industrial user that discharges an average of twenty-five thousand
gallons per day or more of process wastewater, excluding sanitary, noncontact cooling and boiler blow down
wastewater, to the metropolitan sewerage system or contributes a process waste stream that makes up five
percent or more of the average dry weather hydraulic or crganic capacity of a particular treatment plant; or is
designated as such by the county on the basis that the industrial user has a reasonable potential for
adversely affecting the treatment plant's operation or violating any pretreatment standard or requirement in
accordance with 40 CFR 403.8(f)(6). In accordance with 40 CFR 403.3(v)(3), if an industrial user meeting
the criteria in this section has no reasonable potential for adversely affecting the POTW's operation or
violating any pretreatment standard, King County may determine that the industrial user is not a significant
industrial user. (Ord. 16929 § 11, 2010: Ord. 11034 § 3 (part), 1993).

28.82.810 Significant noncompliance.
A. "Significant noncompliance” applies to an industrial user if its violation or violations meet one or
more of the following criteria:

1. Any violation of a pretreatment effluent limit, whether it be daily maximum, instantaneous
maximum or longer-term average, or best management practice required by a categorical pretreatment limit
or developed in lieu of local pretreatment limits that the control authority determines has caused, alone or in
combination with other discharges, interference or pass through, including endangering the health of POTW
personnel or the general public;

2. Any discharge of a pollutant that has caused imminent danger to human health and welfare or to
the environment or has resulted in the POTW's exercise of its emergency authority under this chapter to halt
or prevent such a discharge; or

3. Any other violation or group of violations including violations of best management practices
required by a categorical pretreatment limit or developed in lieu of local pretreatment limits that the control
authority determines will adversely affect the operation or implementation of the local pretreatment program.

B. In addition to the criteria listed in subsection A.1., 2. and 3. of this section, "significant
noncompliance" applies to a significant industrial user that meets one or more of the following criteria:

1. Chronic violations of wastewater discharge limits, defined here as those in which sixty-six
percent or more of all of the measurements taken during a six month period exceed, by any magnitude, the
daily maximum limit or average limit for the same pollutant parameter;

2. Technical review criteria ("TRC") violations, which means those in which thirty-three percent or
more of all of the measurements for each pollutant parameter taken during a six month period equal or
exceed the product of the daily maximum limit or the average limit multiplied by the applicable TRC, which is
TRC = 1.4 for BOD, TSS, fats, oil and grease and 1.2 for all other pollutants except pH.

3. Failure to meet, within ninety days after the schedule date, a compliance schedule milestone
contained in a local control mechanism or enforcement order for starting construction, completing
construction or attaining final compliance;

4. Failure to provide, within forty-five days after due date, required reports such as baseline
monitoring reports, ninety-day compliance reports, periodic self-monitoring reports and reports on compliance
with compliance schedules; and

5. Failure to accurately report noncompliance. (Ord. 16929 § 12, 2010: Ord. 11963 § 10, 1995:
Ord. 11034 § 3 (part), 1993).

28.82.820 Sludge. Sludge shall mean the wet solids that have settled by physical, chemical, or
biological means from the liquid phase in a waste treatment or pretreatment process. (Ord. 11034 § 3 (part),
1993).

28.82.830 Slug discharge. "Slug discharge" means any discharge of a nonroutine, episodic
nature, including but not limited to an accidental spill or a noncustomary batch discharge that has a
reasonable potential to cause interference o pass through, or in any other way violate, the POTW's
regulation, local limits or permit conditions. (Ord. 16929 § 13, 2010: Ord. 11034 § 3 (part), 1993).

28.82.840 Standards. Standards shall mean limitations and requirements established by federal
and state laws and regulations for discharges to the metropolitan sewerage system. (Ord. 11034 § 3 (part),
1993).



28.82.850 Storm drain. Storm drain shall mean a conduit designed or used to transport storm
water. (Ord. 11034 § 3 (part), 1993).

28.82.860 Storm water. Storm water shall mean waters on the surface of the ground or
underground or any flow occurring during, following any form of, or resulting from, rainfall and/or other natural
precipitation. (Ord. 11034 § 3 (part), 1993).

28.82.870 Suspended solids. Suspended solids shall mean total suspended matter that either
floats on the surface of, or is in suspension in, water or wastewater and is removable by laboratory filtering as
described in Standard Methods For The Examination of Water and Wastewaters, current edition, or
Guidelines Establishing Test Procedures For The Analysis of Pollutants, contained in 40 CFR Part 136, as
published in the Federal Register, and referred to as nonfilterable residue. (Ord. 11034 § 3 (part), 1993).

28.82.880 Toxic. Toxic shall mean having the properties to cause or significantly contribute to
death, injury, or iliness of persons or wildlife. (Ord. 11034 § 3 (part), 1993).

28.82.890 Toxic pollutants. Toxic pollutants shall mean any pollutant or combination of pollutants
listed as toxic in regulations promulgated by the Administrator of the EPA under the provision of Section
307(a) of the Act or other federal acts. (Ord. 11034 § 3 (part), 1993).

28.82.900 Treatment plant. Treatment plant shall mean an arrangement of devices, structures and
equipment for treating wastewater. (Ord. 11034 § 3 (part), 1993).

28.82.910 Treatment works. Treatment works shall mean any facility, method or system
acquired, constructed or used by the county for the storage, treatment, recycling, or reclamation of
sewage or industrial wastes of a liquid nature, including waste from combined sewers. (Ord. 11034 § 3
(part), 1993).

28.82.920 Trunk. Trunk shall mean either a. a major sewer or combined sewer into which two or
more branches discharge and which transports the flow collected from laterals to an interceptor, pumping
station or treatment plant, or b. a major sewer or combined sewer which transports the flow from a
pumping station to a treatment plant or other pumping station, with or without collecting flows from laterals
or branches enroute. (Ord. 11034 § 3 (part), 1993).

28.82.930 User charge. User charge refers to a charge levied on users of a treatment works for
the cost of operation and maintenance of such works. (Ord. 11034 § 3 (part), 1993).

28.82.940 Waste discharge permit or permit. Waste discharge permit or permit shall mean a
permit issued pursuant to this chapter for the discharge of waste into a public sewer, private sewer or side
sewer tributary to the metropolitan sewerage system. Such permits may be granted for a specified period
of time up to five (5) years. (Ord. 11034 § 3 (part), 1993).

28.82.950 Wastewater. Wastewater refers to the liquid and water-carried industrial or domestic
waste from dwellings, commercial, industrial and governmental activities, industrial facilities, and
institutions, together that may be present, whether treated or untreated, that is contributed into or
permitted to enter the POTW. (Ord. 11034 § 3 (part), 1993).

28.82.960 Watercourse. Watercourse shall mean an open channel, natural or man-made, used
to transport Storm Water. (Ord. 11034 § 3 (part), 1993).

28.82.970 Water pollution abatement. Water pollution abatement shall mean the removal of
waterborne pollutants, improvement of water quality, sewage disposal and storm water drainage. (Ord.
11034 § 3 (part), 1993).

28.82.990 Year. Year shall refer to a 365-day period. (Ord. 11034 § 3 (part), 1993).

28.82.1000 Definition of additional terms: The words and terms, or expressions peculiar to the
art or science of sewerage not defined in this chapter shall have the respective meanings given in
"GLOSSARY: WATER AND WASTEWATER CONTROL ENGINEERING," 1981, 3rd Edition prepared by
a Joint Committee representing The American Public Health Association, American Society of Civil
Engineers, American Water Works Association, and the Water Pollution Control Federation, or the



specialized definitions in applicable state or federal regulations. In the event of any conflict, the definitions
prescribed by applicable federal regulations shall be controlling. (Ord. 11034 § 3 (part), 1993).

28.84 WATER POLLUTION ABATEMENT

Sections:
28.84.050 Sewage disposal rules and regulations.
28.84.055 Metropolitan sewage facility capacity charge.
28.84.060 Industrial waste fees, rules and regulations.
28.84.075 Brightwater Environmental Education and Community Center - use fees -
establishing - initial - setting and modifying - waiver - notices.
28.84.080 Financial feasibility guideline for extension to the metropolitan sewage system.
28.84.090 Biosolids management.
28.84.100 Appeal procedure.

28.84.050 Sewage disposal rules and regulations.

A. The director shall administer and implement the following rules and regulations for the disposal
of sewage into the metropolitan sewerage system. The rules and regulations in this section shall be
applicable to water pollution abatement activities, including the disposal of sewage into the metropolitan
sewer system, whether delivered from within or from without the county.

B. The director is hereby authorized to develop and implement such procedures and to take any
other actions as may be necessary to insure that local public sewers and private sewers discharging or
proposing to discharge into the metropolitan sewer system are constructed and developed in accordance
with applicable laws, regulations and plans and with the provisions of federal grant agreements that may
be applicable thereto.

C. The procedures for certification for extensions and connections shall be as follows:

1. A request by a local public agency, person or state or federal agency for an extension to an
existing department interceptor or trunk shall not be considered by the department for funding of planning,
design or construction, and agreements therefor shall not be considered for approval by the council unless
the director has received written certification from the legislative bodies of all cities and counties that have
zoning jurisdiction over any portion of the area proposed by the requesting party to be served, or
determined by the director as being capable of being served by such extension; and any other area in or
through which the facility is proposed to be constructed. The certification shall state that such service and
construction are consistent with the adopted land use plans and policies of such local governments. If a
city or county cannot so certify, it shall issue a written statement to the director that the service or
construction is not consistent with its adopted plans and policies, or that action on the application for
certification must be deferred pending receipt by the city or county of such additional, specified information
and data as may be reasonably required for the consideration of the application;

2. Requests by a local public agency, person or state or federal agency for approval of a local
public sewer facility connection to an existing interceptor or trunk shall be considered by the department
only if the director has received a written certification as described in this section, but a connection
involving service by a local public sewer facility that is located wholly within the boundaries of a city and
has a potential service area contained wholly within those boundaries shall require only the written
certification of that city;

3. The certification may be made by either the legislative body of the city or county or by such
department or division thereof as the legislative body may designate. The issuance of the certification
may be preceded by a reasonable analysis and consideration, by a city or county having zoning authority,
of alternatives to the proposed connection or extension.

a. If the director has not received a certification or other statement from a city or county as
described herein within ninety days of receipt by a city or county of a written application for certification,
the city or county shall be deemed, for purposes of this section only, to have certified the proposal as
consistent with adopted land use plans and policies; provided, that if the certification has not been
received by the director within sixty days of receipt by a city or county of a written application for
certification, the director shall notify the chief executive and chair of the legislative body of the city or
county of the certification deadline.

b. The director is authorized to develop such additional rules, procedures and forms as may be
required to implement this section, to notify local public agencies, cities, counties and interested persons
of the certification process and to assist the local public agencies, cities, counties and persons in
compliance with this section.

¢. Any questions concerning the applicability or scope of certification requirements shall be
referred to the director for final resolution. Nothing contained in K.C.C. 28.84.050.C. precludes the
department from providing staff assistance to a local public agency, city, county or state or federal agency



concerning waterborne pollutant removal, water quality improvements or sewage disposal alternatives;
and

C.4. The certification provisions of this section shall not apply where an extension of or
connection to an interceptor or trunk is required by formal order or directive of a state or federal agency
with regulatory powers over the extension, connection or the metropolitan sewer system, or to the
following interceptor extensions: that portion of the Phase 1 May Creek Interceptor System, as defined in
the Environmental Protection Agency Project No. C-530749 Negative Declaration dated November 29,
1977, which includes the Honeydew Interceptor and a section of the May Creek Interceptor between
existing Metro Manhole B and the confluence of May and Honey creeks; SLW 14 in the Comprehensive
Plan, also known as the Madsen Creek Trunk; and GR 25 and GR 26 of the Comprehensive Plan,
extending from 11th Avenue in Algona to Main Street in the city of Auburn. Copies of any formal orders or
directives as referred to in this subsection C.4. shall be immediately forwarded to every city, county and
other local public agencies within the county.

D. The following local public agency regulations and standards shall apply:

1. Local public agency design and construction standards and standard specifications and local
public agency ordinances and resolutions directly relating to the planning or construction of local public
sewers or regulating the use of local public sewers or side sewers shall be consistent with this section;

2. Two copies of any such documents that are in effect on the date of adoption of this section
and that have not previously been submitted to the department shall be submitted to the director within six
months following such date. Two copies of any of such documents adopted or placed in use after the
date of this section, including any changes in or amendments of documents previously in effect, shall be
submitted to the director within sixty days of their adoption; and

3. The following provisions shall apply to review and approval of such submittal documents:

a. The director shall review design and construction standards and standard specifications
submitted by a local public agency and, within thirty days following receipt thereof, shall either approve
them in writing or return one set of each disapproved document with written reasons for disapproval;

b. The director shall review ordinances and resolutions submitted by a local public agency and,
within thirty days following receipt thereof, shall notify the local public agency in writing of any inconsistencies
with the department's rules and regulations; and

c. Within sixty days following receipt from the director of a disapproval or a statement of
inconsistencies with the department's rules and regulations, the local public agency shall take the action as
may be necessary to correct such inconsistencies and shall resubmit the corrected or amended documents
as provided for their original submittal.

E. Local system plans shall be prepared and approved subject to the requirements defined in K.C.C.
chapter 13.24 and the departmental policies and procedures that implement the code.

F. Detailed construction plans and specifications for proposed local public sewers shall be subject to
review and approval by the director only when the director deems such review to be necessary. Each local
public agency shall notify the director in writing of its intention to prepare the construction plans and
specifications delineating the boundaries of the areas to be sewered by map or sketch, and the estimated
date for bid advertisement. Within ten days following receipt of the notice, if determined necessary, the
director shall make written request for the submission of construction plans and specifications. If required to
do so, the local public agency shall submit two sets of plans and specifications and shall obtain approval of
the plans and specifications before advertising for bids. Within fifteen days following receipt of such plans
and specifications, the director shall review the plans and specifications and return one set thereof to the
local public agency with approval, or with required changes indicated. If the plans and specifications are
disapproved, the required changes shall be made by the local public agency, and all required revisions of
plans and specifications resubmitted in the same manner as provided for the initial submittal. If no
communication is received from the director by the local public agency within fifteen days of the date of
receipt by the director of the plans and specifications, it shall be deemed that the director has approved the
plans and specifications.

G. The following provisions shall govern sewerage standards:

1. New local public sewers or private sewers and extensions of existing sewers shall be designed
as separate sewers and storm drains, except where the local public agency can demonstrate the necessity
for a combined sewer extension; and

2. The design of sewers by local agencies and persons and the method of construction and
materials used and the operation and maintenance of sewers and side sewers owned by local public
agencies and persons shall be such that flow other than sewage and industrial waste (wastewater) will not
exceed three and six one-hundredths cubic feet per acre in any thirty-minute period. Flow volumes of other
than wastewater for any thirty minute period that exceeds this amount will be called excess flow.

H. The following provisions shall apply regarding inspection of new construction:



1. Local public agencies shall be responsible for inspection of construction of local public sewers
as required to insure compliance with this section and with local standards. The director, however, shall have
the right to spot inspect local public sewer and side sewer construction and to notify the local public agencies
when, in the opinion of the director, the construction work does not comply with this section. Each local
public agency shall notify the director by letter or send a copy of the "Contractor's Notice to Proceed" letter to
the director in advance of the start of any public sewer construction.

a. The letter shall include the name of the organization responsible for contract administration and
the name of the individual the director should contact during construction.

b. Upon receipt of notification from the director that any local public sewer construction work is not
being performed in compliance with the plans and specifications therefor, the local public agency shall
immediately take such action as may be necessary to insure compliance.

c. The construction of private sewers shall be subject to inspection by the director;

2. A leakage test shall be made of every section of local public sewer after completion of backfill by
an internal hydrostatic pressure or air test method; provided, that if the ground water table is so high as to
preclude a proper exfiliration test, an infiltration test may be used. Other methods of testing must be
specifically authorized by the director.

a. Allowable exfiltration leakage shall be no greater than five-tenths gallon per hour per inch of
diameter per one hundred feet of sewer pipe with a minimum test pressure of six feet of water column above
the crown at the upper end of the pipe. For each increase in pressure of two feet above a basic six feet of
water column measured above the crown at the lower end of the test section, the allowable leakage shall be
increased ten percent. Allowable infiltration leakage shall be no greater than four-tenths gallon per hour per
inch of diameter per one hundred feet of sewer pipe, with no allowance for external hydrostatic head.

b. Air testing shall be in conformance with the latest edition of "Standard Specifications for
Municipal Public Works Construction" prepared by the Washington State Chapter, American Public Works
Association.

c. A record of leakage tests containing the location of the local public sewer tested, the date of
test and the results thereof shall be submitted to the director prior to acceptance of each contract by the local
public agency.

d. Side sewers shall also be tested for their entire length from the public sewer in the street to the
connection with the building plumbing. The method of testing side sewers shall be determined by the local
public agency, but in no case shall it be less thorough than filling the pipe with water before backfill and
visually inspecting the exterior for leakage; and

3. Ground water or other water related to local public agency sewer construction, other than water
used for leakage test, shall not be admitted into a public sewer without the written permission of the director.

I. The following provisions shall govern connections to the metropolitan sewer system:

1. No connection shall be made to the metropolitan sewer system without the prior approval of the
director;

2. Local public sewers shall be planned so as to require the minimum practical number of points of
connection to the metropolitan sewerage system. At each point of connection to the metropolitan sewerage
system, the department shall timely construct, at its expense, such special manholes or chambers as are
required, including the intervening connection from the manhole or chamber to the department trunk.

With the written approval of the director, the special manhole or chamber and intervening connection
from the manhole or chamber to the department trunk may be designed and constructed by the local public
agency at the expense of the department but subject to inspection and approval by the director. It shall be
the responsibility of the local public agency to connect local public sewers to the manhole or chamber at its
expense and in a manner approved by the director;

3. Each local public sewer connection to a department special manhole or chamber shall be
hydraulically designed so as not to interfere with the measuring and sampling of flow;

Upon its completion, each such a structure and connection shall be owned, operated and maintained
by the department, provided that the local public agency may use the chamber for measuring and sampling
flows at reasonable times with the concurrence of the director; and

4. The director may require a metering manhole or chamber on extensions constructed after
January 1, 1961, to local public sewers in existence on that date. The manhole or chamber shall be located
on the extension near its connection with the local public sewer. The department shall construct and pay for
any manhole or chamber required for extensions constructed prior to April 17, 1969. The local public agency
shall construct any required manhole or chamber for any local public sewer extension constructed after the
adoption of this section. The construction shall be performed in accordance with plans and specifications
prepared or approved by the director and the department shall pay the additional cost of the manhole or
chamber as follows:



a. For pipe sizes eight inches in diameter through twenty-one inches in diameter, and with the
measuring device placed in a department standard, four-foot diameter, manhole, the department shall pay
one hundred fifty dollars per each such measuring manhole.

b. For special chambers and pipe sizes larger than twenty-one inches in diameter, the department
shall pay as per agreement for each specific case. Upon its completion, each such manhole or chamber
shall be owned, operated and maintained by the local public agency, provided that the department may use
the chamber for measuring and sampling flows at reasonable times with the concurrence of the local public
agency.

J. The following provisions shall govern relating to private sewers:

1. The department shall not directly accept wastewater from the facilities of any person that are
located within the boundaries of, or discharge wastewater into the local sewerage facilities of, any local public
agency without the prior written consent of the local public agency;

2. Connection of private sewers may be made at the discretion of the director, either by the director
or by others subject to inspection and approval by the director. Whenever a local public sewer becomes
available, the private sewer shall be disconnected from the metropolitan sewerage system under the
inspection of and in a manner approved by the director, and shall be connected to the available local public
sewer in accordance with the requirements of the local public agency. All work of making connections,
disconnections and reconnections of private sewers to the metropolitan sewerage system shall be at the
expense of the owner or developer of the private sewers;

3. Two sets of plans and specifications for proposed private sewers shall be submitted to the
department for review and approval. Written approval must be cbtained prior to advertising for bids or
proceeding with the work if bids are not called; and

4. The provisions of this section applying to local public sewers of local public agencies shall also
apply to private sewers and to owners of private sewers.

K. The following regulations shall apply to the use of local public sewers:

1. The discharge into any sewer by direct or indirect means of any of the following is hereby
prohibited: subsoil foundation, footing, window-well, yard or unroofed basement floor drains; overflows from
clean water storage facilities; clear water from refrigeration, reverse-cycle heat pumps and cooling or air-
conditioning equipment installed hereafter, except for the periodic draining and cleaning of the systems; roof
drains or downspouts from areas exposed to rainfall or other precipitation; and surface or underground
waters from any source;

2. Where manholes in sewers have open, perforated or grating covers resulting in surface waters
entering the manhole, the director may require the local public agency to adjust or modify the manholes, at
the expense of the local public agency so that the entry of surface water is reduced to a minimum. Openings
in manholes for new construction shall be limited to not more than three one-inch diameter holes; and

3. An additional charge will be made for quantities of water other than sewage and industrial waste
hereafter entering those sewers constructed after January 1, 1961, in excess of the volume established for
design purposes in this section. Any charge made in addition to the regular charge shall be based on
metered records of flow taken and compiled by the department. If the director, elects to meter and record
flow from such sewers, the local public agency will be given at least five days notice in advance of such
metering. Metering periods shall continue until excessive flow conditions are corrected.

a. The allowable volume of flow for any thirty-minute period shall be determined by taking the sum
of the following items, subsection K.3.a. (1) to (3) of this section, inclusive:

(1) maximum dry-weather wastewater flow as measured in the preceding August-September
period. The flow shall be determined as follows:
(a) meter and record all flow for the period;
(b) discard all flow records for each day containing measurable
rainfall and discard the flow records of the succeeding days;
(¢) determine the maximum flow volume occurring in a thirty minute period for each day's
metering; and
(d) average all of the maximum flow volumes to arrive at a maximum dry-weather
wastewater flow;
(2) additional dry-weather flow resulting from new customers or equivalents added after the
measured August-September period. The flow shall be determined as follows:
(a) determine the number of added residential customers and equivalents;
(b) multiply each such customer and equivalent by the departmental allowance of seven
hundred fifty cubic feet per month; and
(c) reduce (b) from a monthly to a thirty-minute allowance by the formula:
cubic feet per month divided by [30 days x 24 hrs. x 2] = additional dry weather flow; and



(3) flow allowance for ground water infiltration and storm water inflow on which the metropolitan
sewerage system was designed. The flow shall be determined as follows:
(a) determine the sewered area being metered in acres; and
(b) flow allowance = 3.06 cubic feet per acre x sewered area in acres.

b. Flow volumes for any thirty-minute period that exceed the allowable volume of flow, as
determined in subsection K.3.a of this section, will be considered to be excess flow.

c. Since excess flow is based upon a thirty-minute period, the volume so measured will be small.
In order that the surcharge for excess flow will more nearly approach the cost of providing additional capacity
in the metropolitan sewerage system, excess flow will be adjusted as though it were occurring for a twenty-
four hour period. The flow will be called adjusted excess flow. Adjusted excess flow = Excess flow x 24 x 2.

d. Daily surcharges for adjusted excess flow will be the department current rate for each seven
hundred fifty cubic feet of the adjusted excess flow. The daily surcharges shall remain in effect for ten days.
If excess flow occurs again during the ten day period, and the new excess flow exceeds the former, the more
recent excess flow will be used in lieu of the former and continue for ten days from date of its measurement.

e. If the new excess flow does not exceed the former excess flow, the former will be used for ten
days from time of its measurement, at which time the new excess flow will be used for as many days as will
complete ten days from the time of measurement of the new excess flow.

f. Amounts due the department as monthly surcharges for excess flows shall be shown as a
separate item on the department's normal monthly billing to the local public agency, accompanied by
appropriate records and calculations, and shall include only the surcharges for the previous month.

g. The surcharges for excess flows shall be paid to the department by local public agencies in the
same manner and at the same times as regular sewer service charges; provided that a local public agency
may offset against the surcharges amounts actually expended on local sewerage facility improvements or
modifications that have been constructed by the local public agency for the purpose of reducing the excess
flows and the plans for which shall have been approved by the director. If the local public agency elects to
construct the improvements, it shall so signify in writing to the director within thirty days of receipt of the
department's first billing of each specific excess flow surcharge. Upon receipt of the notice, the department
will allow the local public agency one year to prepare approved plans and specifications and let a contract for
the corrective work. Failure to meet the one-year deadline shall result in the original surcharge, as well as any
intervening surcharges, becoming immediately due and payable.

h. Metering and metered records may be checked at reasonable time intervals by local public
agency personnel accompanied by department personnel upon at least one day's notice to the department.

i. In the event of excessive infiltration/inflow under applicable regulations of the Environmental
Protection Agency, such that the department will be denied federal grants in the absence of correction, the
director may elect to do the corrective work utilizing therefor solely surcharges collected from the local public
agency.

L. The following provisions shall apply to disposal of materials from septic tanks and chemical
toilets:

1. The discharge of materials from cesspools, septic tanks and privies into local sewer systems is
prohibited;

2. Chemical toilet waste may be discharged into the local public sewer or private sewer system
through a side sewer connection at the place of business.

a. The means of disposal shall be approved by the director, the local public agency and the
Seattle-King County health department.

b. If the conditions in subsection L.2.a. of this section cannot be met, chemical toilet wastes may
be discharged directly into the metropolitan sewer system in accordance with the provisions of this section;

3. No person engaged in the collection and disposal of materials from cesspools, septic tanks,
chemical toilets, portable toilets and privies, as a business or commercial enterprise, may discharge into the
metropolitan sewer system any of the materials so collected without having first obtained from the director a
written permit to do so. This permit shall be in addition to all other permits and licenses required by law and
shall be issued only to the holder of a proper registration and inspection certificate issued by the Seattle-King
County health department to carry on or engage in the business of cleaning septic tanks and cesspools;

4. Any person required to obtain such a permit shall submit to the director an application for the
permit on forms approved by the director.

a. A separate permit shall be obtained for each vehicle so used, which permit shall thereafter be
carried in the vehicle at all times. No permit may be transferred from one vehicle to another except in the
event of loss, destruction or replacement of the original vehicle, and then only with the approval of the
director.

b. The name of the person and the permit number shall be prominently displayed in numbers and
letters at least three inches high, in contrasting color on both sides of the vehicle;



5. The annual fee for a permit to discharge materials from cesspools, septic tanks, chemical toilets
and privies into the metropolitan sewerage system, unless exempted in this section, is hereby fixed and
determined to be the sum of two hundred dollars for each vehicle employed or used by the permit holder for
the hauling and discharge of such materials. At the time of issuance of each discharge permit, there will also
be issued an entrance control identification card for each truck under permit. No person may discharge into
the metropolitan sewer system any materials collected from cesspools, septic tanks, chemical toilets and
privies without first paying the permit fee, and registering with the proper entrance control identification card
at the point of discharge into the metropolitan sewer system for each load dumped.

Annual fees shall be payable in advance and permit holders shall renew their permits on or before
the annual expiration date of the permits. Fees for permits issued for less than a full year shall be prorated to
the nearest full month. No refund of any permit fee shall be granted for cessation of operations prior to the
expiration of the permit;

6. In addition to the permit fee, each permit holder shall pay to the department a gallonage fee. The
gallonage fee shall be determined by the director and shall be adjusted at such times as the director may
deem to be in the best interest of the department.

a. The director may waive the gallonage fee to permit holders dumping septic tank sludge from
residences and businesses paying the department sewerage charges to local agencies. Claims for
exemption of gallonage fees shall be made on forms provided by the department and shall be accomplished
in the manner described thereon. The department shall bill each permit holder for the accumulated
gallonage fee monthly. This billing shall provide for the subtraction of all volumes declared on valid
gallonage fee exemption claims. Payment of gallonage fees shall be made within thirty days from the date of
invoice by the department.

b. A late charge of twelve percent per year shall be assessed upon and added to any charge or
portion thereof that remains unpaid after thirty days from the date of invoice. Failure to pay all charges due
within sixty days from the date of invoice shall be considered a breach of the terms of the permit and shall
result in revocation of the permit;

7. Wastes discharged into the metropolitan sewer system in accordance with this section shall be
discharged only at such points as are designated by the director and in a clean, inoffensive manner
satisfactory to the director. Equipment and methods used by the permittee to discharge shall be subject to
inspection by and approval of the director as a condition of granting the permit;

8. The discharge of industrial waste, or any waste other than domestic septage and chemical toilet
waste, into a designated septage disposal site is prohibited unless specifically approved by the director;

9. A permittee hereunder shall be liable for the costs of any damages to property or personal injury
caused by reason of his operations. In addition, failure to pay the costs upon demand shall be cause for
revocation of the permit;

10. A permit may be revoked or suspended by the department for failure to discharge at
designated points, for any discharge that is in violation of the provisions of this section, or for the reasons set
forth in this section;

11. Each permittee shall be required to obtain liability insurance in such amount and in such form
as shall be determined by the director. The insurance shall afford bodily injury limits of liability of five hundred
thousand dollars for each person and one million dollars for each occurrence. Evidence of the insurance
coverage shall be provided to the director. Nothing in this subsection L.11. shall in any manner preclude any
applicant from obtaining such additional insurance coverage as the applicant may deem necessary for his or
her own protection; and

12. The director is hereby authorized to designate the points of disposal of materials collected by
the permittees, the places where permits may be obtained and the persons authorized to sign the permits on
behalf of the department.

The director is further authorized to revoke or suspend permits for failure to comply with the
provisions of this chapter, subject to the right of persons affected to appeal from the revocation or suspension
as provided in this chapter.

M. The following practices shall be prohibited:

1. No person shall discharge, directly or indirectly, into a sewer any material or substance that is
prohibited by any county ordinance, rule established by the director, local agency rule or regulation or other
applicable requirement.

2. No unauthorized person shall enter any department sewer, manhole, pumping station, treatment
plant or appurtenant facility. No person shall maliciously, willfully or negligently break, damage, destroy,
deface or tamper with any structure, appurtenance or equipment that is part of the metropolitan sewerage
system.



3. No person, other than an authorized employee or agent of the department, shall operate or
change the operation of any department sewer, pumping station, treatment plant, outfall structure or
appurtenant facility.

N. The following provisions shall apply to user charges:

1. As required by federal regulations, each local public agency shall adopt and maintain a system
of user charges to assure that each recipient of waste treatment services within the department's service
area will pay its proportionate share of the costs of operation and maintenance, including replacement, of all
waste treatment provided by the department.

Notwithstanding the obligation of the local public agency to collect the charges, the director shall
have authority directly to assess, when in the opinion of the director it is necessary in order to comply with
federal regulations, a user surcharge directly against industrial users within a local public agency in an
amount determined by the director to be necessary to assure that the industrial users pay their proportionate
share of the costs of operation and maintenance, including replacement, of waste treatment provided by the
department. Any such surcharge is distinct from and in addition to sums to be paid by industries as industrial
cost recovery, pursuant to provisions contained in this section or under such provisions as may be adopted
by the council, regarding the control and disposal of industrial waste into the metropolitan sewage system;

2. Each local public agency shall charge each recipient of waste treatment services within its
jurisdiction, in addition to any surcharge to be assessed by the local public agency against an industrial user
in an amount to be determined by the director to be necessary under federal regulations and separate from
and in addition to any sums paid by industry pursuant to this section, a sum to be paid to the department for
its waste treatment services to be determined as follows:

a. The local public agency shall determine, on a quarterly basis: the number of residential
customers billed by the local public agency for local sewage charges; the total number of all customers so
billed; and the total water consumption billed other than residential customers. The quarterly water
consumption report shall be taken from water meter records and may be adjusted to exclude water not
entering the sanitary facilities of a customer.

(1) Where actual sewage flow from an individual customer is metered, metered sewage flows
shall be reported in lieu of adjusted water consumption. Total quarterly water consumption in cubic feet shall
be divided by two thousand two hundred fifty to determine the number of residential customer equivalents for
which each nonresidential customer shall be billed.

(2) The director shall develop such additional instructions and rules for preparation of the
quarterly water consumption report as may be necessary to implement the requirements of this section; and

b. The director will establish a monthly user charge for each component agency based upon a
rate for each residential customer or residential customer equivalent that the local public agency shall collect
from its residential customers and equivalents;

3. Each local public agency shall charge each industrial recipient of waste treatment services within
its jurisdiction as required by the department, in addition to the user charge, a surcharge in an amount to be
determined by the director based on the average annual strength and volume of discharge by the industry.
For the purpose of computing average annual strength, all wastes shall be assumed to have a minimum
strength equivalent to that of domestic sewage.

Each local public agency shall provide the director each quarter with a listing of the water
consumption of each surcharged industry; and

4. Each local public agency shall maintain such records as are necessary to document compliance
with the user charge system established under this subsection N.

0. The following provisions shall apply regarding capacity charges:

1. All customers of a public or private sewage facility who connect, reconnect or establish a new
service that uses metropolitan sewage facilities after February 1, 1990 shall pay a capacity charge in an
amount established annually by the council in accordance with state law. Users of metropolitan sewage
facilities shall be subject to the capacity charge upon connection or reconnection to public or private sewage
facilities and/or establishment of a new sewer service.

a. "Connection," for purposes of this subsection, shall mean physical connection of the side sewer
serving either any structure, or an addition to a structure, to a sanitary sewer.

b. "Capacity charge,” for purposes of this subsection, shall mean a charge levied on a property to
recover capital costs needed to serve new customers.

c. "Discharge event," for the purposes of this subsection, shall mean discharge of sewage from a
zero discharge structure's system that flows into the metropolitan sewerage facilities.

d. "Establishment of a new service," for purposes of this subsection, shall mean:

(i) change of structure use from single family residential to other than single family residential;

(i) change of structure use following connection or reconnection to a sanitary sewer;

(i) addition of a new structure to an existing sewer connection;



(iv) reuse of an existing sewer connection by a new structure following demolition of an existing
structure or abandonment of sewer service;,
(v) expanded or increased industrial or commercial use of a sanitary sewer connection; or
e. "Zero discharge structure" for the purposes of this subsection, shall mean a non-residential
structure or building designed not to discharge to, and functions independently of, the metropolitan sewage
system;
2. The capacity charge shall be a fixed rate per residential customer or residential customer
equivalent determined annually by the council. The number of residential customer equivalents (RCEs) for
multifamily structures shall be determined using the following scale:

Two to four units per structure 0.8 RCEs per unit
Five or more units per structure 0.64 RCEs per unit
Senior citizen, low income and special purpose housing 0.32 RCEs per unit

a. Senior citizen housing shall be multifamily structures of two or more dweliing units within which
each dwelling unit shall consist of a room or a suite of two or more rooms, of which not more than one is a
bedroom, for which occupancy has been limited to two persons, at least one of whom is age fifty-five or older.

b. Low income housing shall be multifamily structures of two or more dwelling units, each totaling
not more than four hundred square feet, for which occupancy has been restricted, in at least fifty-one percent
of the units, to persons with incomes not more than eighty percent of the median income of the county within
which the housing is constructed, and for which rent is restricted.

¢. Special purpose housing shall consist of dwelling units, that may be part of a larger care facility,
consisting of a room or a suite of rooms, of which not more than one is a bedroom for which occupancy is
limited to two persons, at least one of whom is physically or mentally disabled.

d. In the case of privately owned senior citizen, low income or special purpose multifamily
housing, the requirements of subsection 0.2.a., b. and c. of this section shall be contained in a permit,
agreement, covenant or deed restriction in which the county, a local government, an agency of state
government or the United States government is granted enforcement authority.

e. In the case of senior citizen, low income and special purpose housing owned by a government
or nonprofit corporation, the requirements shall be integral to the establishment of the corporation as a legal
entity or a legally enforceable condition of construction and operation of the housing.

f. If use of a multifamily structure that initially qualifies as senior citizen, low income or special
purpose housing changes so that it no longer meets the criteria in subsection 0.2.a, b., ¢, d. and e. of this
section, residential customer equivalents shall then be calculated in the same manner as multifamily
structures and the department will collect the incremental difference due for all payments from the time of
disqualification until paid off.

g. The number of residential customer equivalents for nonresidential structures shall be
determined by the department based on values of plumbing fixtures and/or estimates of wastewater flow
from sources other than plumbing fixtures and acceptable to the department. An appropriate schedule of
hydraulic capacity or loading values equating to residential customers shall be determined by the director;

3. Nonresidential structures with fixtures that are designed to have zero discharge to the
metropolitan sewage facilities may be eligible to have a reduced capacity charge provided that the zero
discharge structure's systems or fixtures do not present a human or environmental health risk. The following
shall guide evaluation and award of a modified capacity charge for zero discharge structures:

a. For zero discharge structures, the number of residential customer equivalents shall be
projected in accordance with subsection 0.2.g. of this section; however, fixtures and sources that are
engineered to function without discharging into to the metropolitan sewage facilities shall be given the value
of zero for purposes of calculating the residential customer equivalents. These calculations will be
determined by review of applicant-submitted engineering plans and specifications, site inspections and other
materials deemed necessary by the department and such calculations shall be subject to approval by the
department;

b. Zero discharge structures and systems may be required by the department to install monitor
and alarm systems to confirm that the structure does not discharge to the metropolitan sewage facilities.
Reporting requirements shall be specified by the department; and

c. If azero discharge structure's system discharges to the metropolitan sewage facilities, this shall
be considered a discharge event and the structure shall be subject to a capacity charge in an amount equal
to a single invoice, for one quarter or three months, calculated using the monthly capacity charge for
conventional systems in accordance with subsection 0.2.g. of this section at the rate applicable in the year of
discharge. Any discharge from a zero discharge structure or system lasting ninety calendar days or less shall
be considered a single discharge event. If a zero discharge structure has three discharge events during any
fifteen-year period, the structure shall then be immediately converted to a conventional capacity charge
calculation calculated using subsection O.2.g. of this section. The zero discharge structure shall then be



assessed the full fifteen-year capacity charge rate applicable during the year of the third discharge event into
the metropolitan sewage system;

4. The capacity charge is the responsibility of the current owner. The department shall collect the
capacity charge directly from the current legal property owner. The charge shall be a monthly charge for
fifteen years.

Each customer subject to the charge shall be billed by the department semi-annually or at such
frequency as may be determined by the director. The total amount of the charge, hereinafter the "total
amount due," may be paid at any time. The total amount due shall be the sum of all remaining payments
discounted by an index reflecting fifteen-year mortgage and ten- and twenty-year investment rates that will be
updated in December of each year;

5. When determining capacity charges applicable to a new connection, the charges may be
reduced or eliminated to reflect a prior sewer connection and prior sewer service to the preexisting structure.

a. This credit against charges otherwise due shall be applied as residential customers or
equivalents, which are also known as RCEs, under the following circumstances:

(1) the structure to be served by the new connection replaces a structure on the same lot that
was either connected to sewers prior to February 1, 1990, and was paying full sewer charges, or, if not
connected to sewers, was nevertheless paying such full sewer charges before February 1, 1990; and

(2) the preexisting structure was subsequently demolished and sewer service abandoned and
the time between abandonment of service and connection of the new structure to sewers was less than five
years.

b. In the event the new connection replaces a connection made after February 1, 1990, the
charges may be reduced to reflect past capacity charge payments. This credit against charges otherwise
due shall be applied under the following circumstances:

(1) the preexisting structure that was connected to sewers after February 1, 1990, and paying
full sewer charges, was reported to King County by the local sewer agency; and

(2) capacity charges were paid to King County on the property with no break in payments of five
years or more; and

(3) the preexisting structure was subsequently demolished and sewer service abandoned and
the time between abandonment of service and connection of the property to sewers is less than five years.

c. Credits permitted in accordance with subsection O.5.b. (1), (2) and (3) of this section will be
determined using the county's accounts receivable record of capacity charge invoices paid on the structure.
Credit may be applied only from the demolished structure to the replacement structure. The amount of the
credit will be expressed as whole or fractional residential customer equivalents and shall reflect the
percentage of the total amount due actually paid;

6. Credits authorized under subsection O.5. of this section shall be applied only when appropriate
documentation for the demolished structure is provided to the department. Appropriate documentation shall
consist of one of the following:

a. a demolition permit for a preexisting structure at the same address as the new structure that
contains a description of the structure demolished,;

b. in the case of a subdivision of a lot or parcel, a demolition permit for a preexisting structure at
the same lot as the new structures which contains a description of the structure demolished;

c. sewer service invoices for full sewer charges, for the level of service for which credit is sought,
dated before demolition of the previously existing structure or structures that includes the service address
and number of units if the structure was a multifamily structure; or

d. A dated permit issued by the local sewer agency confirming capping of the side sewer that
includes the same address as the new structure and a description of the prior structure;

7. Credits permitted under subsection O.5. of this section shall be applied only from the
demolished structures. The credits shall be applied in the following manner:

a. When a new single family home replaces a preexisting demolished single family home for
which no capacity charge is owed, no capacity charge shall be collected;

b. When a preexisting structure is demolished and the lot or parcel is subdivided, the credit shall
be applied in equal proportion to the new structure or structures within the new subdivided parcel.

c. When a preexisting structure or structures are demolished and the lot or parcel subdivided and
new blocks are created, the credit from any qualifying preexisting structures within the footprint of the new
block shall be applied in equal proportion to the new structure or structures within that block;

8. The following apply to capacity charge billing:

a. Capacity charge biling to a legal owner of a structure or the owner's representative shall
commence as soon as possible and practical after the date of the sanitary sewer connection provided by a
local public agency served by the department in accordance with the filing frequency determined by the
director; and



b. Late notice to the department of commencement of sewer service to a property or failure of
the property owner or the owner's representative to receive a capacity charge bill does not relieve a property
owner of the responsibility for payment of charges and interest;

9. The following apply to delinquent capacity charge accounts:

a. If a customer fails to make a payment when due, an interest charge shall be computed on the
delinguent amount at an annual rate of not more than the prime lending rate of the county's bank plus four
percentage points. This interest charge and a penalty of not more than ten percent of the past due amount
shall be added to the account balance; and

b. When capacity charges plus interest charges and penalties are delinquent for more than thirty
days, the department shall send a notice of intention to file lien to the property owner or owner's
representative. The notice shall direct the property owner or representative to pay the total past due amount,
plus interest and penalties, no later than fifteen days from the date of the letter or to make suitable
arrangements to bring the account current. If the payment is not made within fifteen days, or suitable
arrangements have not been made, the total amount past due plus penalties and interest will be certified as
delinquent and a lien may be filed against the property with the recorder's office of the county. A lien charge
to cover the cost of preparing and filing the lien will be added to the delinquent amount on the date of
certification of the lien to the recorder's office of the county. Action may be taken by the department to
enforce collection of the delinquent amount at any time after the charges have been delinquent for sixty days.
The lien will be released when all past due capacity charges plus interest and late penalties have been paid.

The department is authorized to request the prosecuting attorney to bring suit for foreclosure civil
action in the superior court of the county in which the real property is located and to request payment of its
costs and disbursements as provided by statute, as well as reasonable attorneys' fees. Each account that
has been submitted to the prosecuting attorney for foreclosure shall be charged for legal fees incurred in
connection with the foreclosure, even when court proceedings are unnecessary;,

10. Local public agencies shall, at the director's request, provide such information regarding new
residential customers and residential customer equivalents as may be reasonable and appropriate for
purposes of implementing the capacity charge;

11. The director is authorized to develop and implement such additional policies and requirements
and to take such actions as may be necessary and appropriate for collection of the capacity charge and
administration of the capacity charge program as described in this subsection O.; and

12. As part of its rate-making authority, the council elects that capacity charges shall accrue as
monthly fees recorded as operating revenues in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board
Statement No. 71.

P. No person may connect a local public or private sewer to the metropolitan sewerage system
unless the local public agency or person shall then be in compliance with this section.

1. If any local public agency or person shall construct a local public sewer, private sewer or side
sewer in violation of this section, the department may issue an order to the local public agency or person to
stop work in progress that is not then in compliance with this section or the department may issue an order to
correct work that has been performed. The local public agency or person shall immediately take the action
as may be necessary to comply with the order and with this section, all at the expense of the local public
agency or person.

2. Other penalties.

a. Any person failing to comply with or violating this section or rules and regulations developed by
the director under this section shall, for each such a failure or violation, be subject to a fine in an amount not
exceeding two thousand dollars for each separate failure or violation under this section.

b. The director may order the owner of any property from which prohibited discharges are
entering any sewer to correct the condition, provided that if the property of the owner lies within a local public
agency, the director shall first give written notice of the prohibited discharge to the local public agency, and
only if the local public agency fails to correct the condition within ninety days after receipt of the notice, may
the director directly order the owner to correct the condition.

If any owner shall not cause the condition to be corrected within thirty days following receipt of the
department order, the department may proceed to enter upon the property and correct the condition, and the
cost thereof together with a penalty of fifty dollars shall be a lien upon the property to be enforced in the
manner provided by law for liens for local sewage charges.

c. Any person who shall damage, destroy or deface any structure, appurtenance, equipment or
property of the metropolitan sewerage system shall be fined in an amount not exceeding three hundred
dollars, and shall be liable for double the actual cost of restoration or repair or double the actual amount of
any irreparable damage. (Ord. 17604 § 1, 2013: Ord. 14942 § 5, 2004: Ord. 13625 § 21, 1999: Ord. 11780
§1,1995: Ord. 11034 § 5, 1993).



28.84.055 Metropolitan sewage facility capacity charge.

A. The amount of the metropolitan sewage facility capacity charge adopted by K.C.C.
28.84.050.0. that is charged monthly for fifteen years per residential customer or residential customer
equivalent shall be:

1. Seven dollars for sewer connections occurring between and including January 1, 1994, and
December 31, 1997;

2. Ten dollars and fifty cents for sewer connections occurring between and including January 1,
1998, and December 31, 2001;

3. Seventeen dollars and twenty cents for sewer connections occurring between and including
January 1, 2002, and December 31, 2002;

4. Seventeen dollars and sixty cents for sewer connections occurring between and including
January 1, 2003, and December 31, 2003;

5. Eighteen dollars for sewer connections occurring between and including January 1, 2004, and
December 31, 2004;

8. Thirty-four dollars and five cents for sewer connections occurring between and including
January 1, 2005, and December 31, 2006;

7. Forty-two dollars for sewer connections occurring between and including January 1, 2007,
and December 31, 2007,

8. Forty-six dollars and twenty-five cents for sewer connections occurring between and including
January 1, 2008, and December 31, 2008;

9. Forty-seven dollars and sixty-four cents for sewer connections occurring between and
including January 1, 2009, and December 31, 2009;

10. Forty-nine dollars and seven cents for sewer connections occurring between and including
January 1, 2010, and December 31, 2010;

11. Fifty dollars and forty-five cents for sewer connections occurring between and including
January 1, 2011, and December 31, 2011;

12. Fifty-one dollars and ninety-five cents for sewer connections occurring between and
including January 1, 2012, and December 31, 2012;

13. Fifty-three dollars and fifty cents for sewer connections occurring between and including
January 1, 2012, and December 31, 2013; and

14. Fifty-five dollars and thirty-five cents for sewer connections occurring between and including
January 1, 2014, and December 31, 2014.

B.1. In accordance with adopted policy FP-15.3.d. in the Regional Wastewater Services Plan,
K.C.C. 28.86.160.C., it is the council’s intent to base the capacity charge upon the costs, customer growth
and related financial assumptions used the Regional Wastewater Services Plan.

2. In accordance with adopted policy FP-6 in the Regional Wastewater Services Plan, K.C.C.
28.86.160.C, the council hereby approves the cash balance and reserves as contained in the attached
financial plan for 2014.

3. In accordance with adopted policy FP-15.3.c., King County shall pursue changes in state
legislation to enable the county to require payment of the capacity charge in a single payment, while
preserving the option for new ratepayers to finance the capacity charge. (Ord. 17606 § 3, 2013: Ord.
17343 § 3, 2012: Ord. 17102 § 3, 2011: Ord. 16858 § 3, 2010: Ord. 16554 § 3, 2009: Ord. 16135 § 3,
2008: Ord. 15805 § 3, 2007: Ord. 15522 § 3, 2006: Ord. 15384 § 5, 2006: Ord. 15194 § 3, 2005: Ord.
14942 § 4, 2004: Ord. 14676 § 3, 2003: Ord. 14395 § 3, 2002: Ord. 14123 § 4, 2001: Ord. 13971 § 1,
2000: Ord. 13570 § 4, 1999: Ord. 13227 § 3, 1998: Ord. 12966 § 1, 1998: Ord. 12817 § 4, 1997: Ord.
12409 § 1, 1996: Ord. 11398 § 1, 1994).

28.84.060 Industrial waste rules and regulations.
A. The director shall administer and implement the following fees, rules and regulations for the
disposal of industrial waste into the metropolitan sewerage system.
B. The following provisions shall govern the applicability of this section.

1. This section shall apply to all nondomestic users of the metropolitan sewerage system including,
but not limited to, commercial and industrial companies and government agencies. Indirect discharges from
nondomestic users regulated by this section include, but are not limited to, liquid, solid or gaseous
substances, or any combination thereof resulting from any process of industry, government, manufacturing,
commercial food processing, business, agriculture, trade, research, the development, recovery or processing
of natural resources, leachate from landfills or other disposal sites, contaminated nonprocess water,
contaminated storm water and ground water.

2. This section shall not apply to the discharge of storm water into an existing combined sanitary
and storm system unless the discharge results from industrial activity and the director has determined that
the discharge may affect the county's water quality and biosolids objectives.



3. This section shall not apply to participant local agencies when collecting domestic and industrial
waste and conveying the waste to the metropolitan sewerage system.

4. This section authorizes the issuance of wastewater discharge permits, authorizes monitoring,
compliance and enforcement activities, establishes administrative review procedures, requires user reporting
and provides for the setting of fees for the equitable distribution of costs resulting from the program
established herein.

5. Industrial waste shall be accepted into the metropolitan sewerage system subject to regulations
and requirements as may be promulgated by state and federal regulatory agencies or the county for the
protection of sewerage facilities and treatment processes, public health and safety, receiving water quality
and avoidance of nuisance. At a minimum, all industrial users of metropolitan sewerage system facilities
shall comply with the applicable pretreatment standards and requirements developed in accordance with
Sections 307(b) and 307(c) of the Act. This includes the pretreatment standards for existing and new
discharges, which are defined in regulations promulgated under Sections 307(b) and 307(c) of the Act.

C. The director shall administer, implement and enforce this section. Any powers granted to or
duties imposed upon the director may be delegated by the director to other department personnel. The
director shall establish and publish administrative procedures for implementation of this section that shall
include, but not be limited to, issuing permits and discharge authorizations, collecting samples, identifying
and inspecting industrial users, monitoring, revenue/cost recovery, appeals, discharge approval processes,
issuing waste discharge permits and discharge authorizations, conducting investigations of noncompliance,
preparing enforcement actions according to the department's enforcement response plan and setting local
limits.

D. The following discharge standards and limitations shall be applicable under this section:

1. Discharge standards and limitations shall be established to the extent necessary to enable the
county to comply with current National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System requirements, as promulgated
by the Environmental Protection Agency or the Washington state Department of Ecology, and to protect
sewerage facilities and treatment processes, public health and safety and the receiving waters, air quality and
biosolids quality.

2. Industrial users shall comply with all applicable pretreatment standards and requirements.
Discharges subject to federal categorical discharge limits shall be subject to those limits, or to county local
discharge limits, whichever is most restrictive. In addition to concentration limits, permit limits may also
include mass limits stated as total pounds of a pollutant allowed per day.

3. No industrial user shall ever increase the use of process water, or in any way attempt to dilute a
discharge, as a partial or complete substitute for adequate treatment to achieve compliance with an
applicable pretreatment standard or requirement unless expressly authorized by an applicable pretreatment
standard or requirement. The director may impose mass limitations or flow restrictions on users he or she
believes may be using dilution to meet applicable pretreatment standards or requirements.

4. No industrial user shall introduce or cause to be introduced into the POTW any pollutant or
wastewater that causes pass through or interference. These general prohibitions apply to all industrial users
of the POTW whether or not they are subject to categorical pretreatment standards or any other federal,
state or local pretreatment standards or requirements.

5. No industrial user shall discharge any of the following pollutants, substances or wastewater
directly or indirectly into any public sewer, private sewer or side sewer tributary to the metropolitan sewerage
system:

a. flammable liquids, solids or gases capable of causing or contributing to explosion or supporting
combustion in any sewerage facilities.

b. any solid or viscous substances or particulates in quantities, either by itself or in combination
with other wastes, that are capable of obstruction of flow or of interfering with the operation or performance of
sewer works or treatment facilities.

c. any gas or substance that, either by itself or by interaction with other wastes, is capable of
creating a public nuisance or hazard to life or of preventing entry by authorized personnel to pump stations
and other sewerage facilities.

d. any gas or substance that, either by itself or by interaction with other waste, may cause
corrosive structural damage to sewer works or treatment facilities.

e. wastes at a flow rate or pollutant discharge rate, or both, that are excessive over relatively short
time periods so that there is a treatment process upset and subsequent loss of treatment efficiency.

f. heat in amounts that will inhibit biclogical activity in treatment plant facilities resulting in either
interference in the treatment process or preventing entry by authorized personnel to pump stations and other
sewerage facilities. This prohibition includes but is not limited to heat in such quantities that the temperature
of the treatment works influent exceeds forty degrees Celsius, or one hundred four degrees Fahrenheit, or



the temperature exceeds sixty-five degrees Celsius, or one hundred fifty degrees Fahrenheit, at the point of
discharge from the industrial source to public sewers or the metropolitan sewerage system, or both.

g. food waste unless it will pass a one-quarter-inch sieve. The director shall establish rules on the
use of food grinders to meet the one-quarter-inch criterion. The rules shall be based upon department
biosolids criteria, impact on solid waste utilities, concerns of local health agencies and imposition of high
strength surcharge fees.

h. any radioactive wastes or isotopes that exceed such concentration limitations as established by
applicable Washington state Department of Social and Health Services regulations.

i. trucked and hauled wastes shall not be discharged into a sewer except at points in the
metropolitan sewerage system designated for the discharge by the director.

j- any waters or wastes containing higher than ordinary concentrations or quantities of compatible
pollutants, including but not limited to, biochemical oxygen demanding pollutants, suspended solids, pH and
fecal material, may be required to discharge at a specific release rate or at a specified strength if, in the
opinion of the director, the release of the waste in an uncontrolled manner could adversely affect proper
handling and treatment in the metropolitan sewerage system.

k. storm water, surface water, ground water, roof runoff, subsurface drainage, cooling water
and unpolluted wastewater unless specifically authorized elsewhere in this section or by rules published by
the director regarding the acceptance of clean water into the metropolitan sewerage system. The rules
shall be based upon existing sewer capacity, cost and availability of alternate disposal options, cost of
implementing control measures to prevent contamination of storm water, surface water and ground water,
cost of recycling or reclaiming clean water, benefits to regional water conservation using reclaimed
effluent and adverse impacts to water quality and public health.

I. any waters or wastes generated during construction activities, which may include, but not be
limited to, contaminated storm water, surface water or ground water and wells constructed for the purpose of
lowering the groundwater table unless specifically authorized by the director.

m. wastewater that imparts color that cannot be removed by the treatment process, such as dye
wastes and vegetable tanning solutions that consequently impart color to the treatment plant's effluent,
thereby violating the county's National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System permit.

n. detergents, surface-active agents or other substances that may cause excessive foaming in
the metropolitan sewerage system.

E. The national categorical pretreatment standards found at 40 CFR Chapter |, Subchapter N, Parts
405-471 are hereby incorporated in this section. These categorical pretreatment standards shall be met by
all industrial users of the regulated industrial categories.

F. Local discharge limits shall be developed and complied with as follows:

1. The director shall publish and revise from time to time local discharge limits, including best
management practices, developed according to guidelines promulgated by the Environmental Protection
Agency or Washington state Department of Ecology using data specific to the metropolitan sewerage system
and its industrial users. At a minimum, local discharge limits shall restrict the following parameters: metals;
organics; pH; temperature; fats, oils and greases of animal or vegetable origin; fats, oils and greases of
mineral origin; and other toxic substances as required, including those defined in applicable state and federal
regulations. These published local discharge limits shall, by this reference, be made a part of this section.

2. No industrial user shall discharge wastewater containing concentrations or mass limitations, or
both, in excess of the published local discharge limits, except as provided for in this section.

3. Individual limits for specific companies or general permit limits for groups of companies may be
established on a case-by-case basis for compounds not specifically listed in published local discharge limits
or at levels higher or lower than published local discharge limits. The individual limits may be higher than
published local discharge limits only for companies or groups of companies that have demonstrated that no
reasonable treatment method is available to meet published limits, and the volume and mass of pollutants
discharged does not endanger sewerage facilities or put the POTW at risk of violating National Pollutant
Discharge Elimination System limits, water quality standards, air quality standards, biosolids standards or
worker safety standards. Individual limits may be lower than published local discharge standards when the
volume of discharge or mass of pollutants, or both, such that lower limits are necessary to protect sewerage
facilities and treatment processes, public health and safety, the receiving waters, air quality or biosolids
quality.

G. Whenever deemed necessary, the director may require users to restrict their discharge during
peak flow periods, designate that certain wastewater be discharged only into specific sewers, relocate or
consolidate, or relocate and consolidate, points of discharge, separate domestic wastewaters from industrial
waste streams and other conditions as may be necessary to protect the POTW and determine the users
compliance with the requirements of this section.



H. In areas served by combined sewers, storm water connections made before January 26, 1961,
and storm water connections made after January 26, 1961, that have no public or private storm sewer
available within a reasonable distance may continue to discharge without authorization from the director
unless the discharge has the potential to affect the county's ability to comply with all federal, state and local
regulations and meet the county's water quality objectives as stated in this chapter. In such cases, the storm
water shall be regulated as an industrial waste and be subject to all of this section. In some cases, the
county may require the industrial user to eliminate or mitigate storm water discharges by implementing
control measures that shall include but not be limited to installation of a separate storm sewer, detention,
pretreatment, roofing, reuse, relocation of processing or treatment areas and discharging to receiving waters.

I. The following provisions shall govern compliance with applicable pretreatment requirements:

1. Compliance by existing users covered by categorical pretreatment standards shall be within
three years of the date the standard is effective unless a shorter compliance time is specified in the
appropriate standards.

2. The director shall establish a final compliance deadline date for any existing user not covered by
categorical pretreatment standards or for any categorical user when the local limits for the user are more
restrictive than the Environmental Protection Agency's categorical pretreatment standards. In establishing
such a compliance deadline, the director shall consider the potential for violations of National Pollutant
Discharge Elimination System limits, biosolids quality, air quality and worker safety standards and the
difficulty and cost to industrial users of changes in industrial processes and installation of new pretreatment
equipment.

3. New source industrial users and all other new users including significant industrial users shall
comply with applicable pretreatment standards within the shortest feasible time, not to exceed ninety days
from the beginning of discharge. New sources and new users shall install and have in operating condition all
pollution control equipment required to meet applicable pretreatment standards before beginning to
discharge.

J. The following provisions shall govern waste discharge permits and authorizations:

1. Each person discharging or proposing to discharge industrial waste into a POTW treatment
plant, public sewer, private sewer or side sewer tributary to the metropolitan sewerage system shall secure
written discharge authorization, which may include, but shall not be limited to, a waste discharge permit,
minor discharge authorization or general permit from the department unless otherwise provided in this
section. The conditions and discharge standards in all written discharge authorizations shall be predicated
on federal, state, county and other applicable local regulations and requirements and on the results of
analysis of the type, concentration, quantity and frequency of discharge including the geographical
relationship of the point of discharge to sewerage and treatment facilities. These conditions and discharge
standards shall be re-evaluated upon expiration of the written discharge authorization and may be revised
from time to time as required by county, state or federal regulations and requirements or to meet any
emergency. Obtaining a written discharge authorization, however, shall not relieve a user of its obligation to
comply with all federal and state pretreatment standards or requirements, or with any other requirements of
federal, state and local law.

a. Any person proposing to discharge industrial waste, but not holding a valid waste discharge
permit or other written discharge authorization, shall apply to secure a waste discharge permit or discharge
authorization unless the director has determined that written authorization is not required. Application to the
department shall be made for permits at least sixty days before beginning discharge unless the industrial
user is subject to categorical pretreatment standards under 40 CFR 4036 and 40 CFR Chapter |,
Subchapter N, in which case application to the department shall be made for the permit ninety days before
beginning of discharge. Application to the department shall be made for all other written discharge
authorizations thirty days before beginning of discharge. Any new source or new user meeting the definition
of significant industrial user shall not discharge without a waste discharge permit.

b. Any person with an existing permit or written discharge authorization proposing to make a
change in an existing industrial waste discharge that will substantially change the volume of flow or the
characteristics of the waste or establish a new point of discharge, shall apply for a new waste discharge
permit thirty days before making the change. Substantial changes may include, but are not limited to, a
twenty percent increase in the authorized daily maximum flow, addition of a new process, product or
manufacturing line that will increase or decrease the concentration of pollutants in the waste stream or
require modification in the operation of the pretreatment system, addition of new pretreatment equipment or
altering a sample site.

c. The director may grant permission to discharge without written authorization when the
discharge is limited in concentration of pollutants, volume or duration, or when the user has applied for
and is in the process of obtaining written discharge authorization.



2. Al significant industrial users shall secure a waste discharge permit. Existing significant
industrial users without permits and industrial users that the director has determined present a substantial
risk with existing discharges shall, upon receipt of written notice, apply for a waste discharge permit within
thirty days. Extensions of time for submittal of an application may be granted by the director, not to exceed a
total of sixty days. The director on his or her own initiative or in response to a petition from an industrial user
may determine that an industrial user is not a significant industrial user when there is no reasonable potential
for the discharge to adversely affect the POTW's operation or to violate any pretreatment standard or
requirement.

3. Persons who are not subject to federal categorical standards or who discharge less than twenty-
five thousand gallons per day or who in the opinion of the director have no reasonable potential for adversely
affecting the POTW's operation or for violating any pretreatment standard or requirement are not required to
obtain a waste discharge permit. Instead, the director may require and issue some other form of written
authorization, which may include, but is not limited to, a minor discharge authorization, a letter of discharge
approval, or a general permit. The director may require industrial users to obtain a waste discharge permit
when noncompliance with this section exists. Upon written notice from the department that a permit is
required the person so notified shall apply for a waste discharge permit within thirty days. Extensions of time
for submittal of an application may be granted by the director, not to exceed a total of sixty days.

4. Application for waste discharge permits and authorizations shall be made to the director in
writing on forms provided by the department and shall include such data, information and drawings as to
enable the department to determine which federal, state and local regulations apply to the discharge and to
set conditions for the industrial user to comply with the regulations. The information shall include, but not be
limited to, identifying information such as name, address, owner and contact person, other environmental
permits held by the operation, operation and site descriptions including manufacturing processes, flow
measurements, measurements of pollutants, pretreatment system designs and operation and maintenance
manuals, spill control plans and certification statements. The department will act only on complete
applications. Significant industrial users shall comply with all requirements of 40 CFR 403.12 (b) by the time
of permit issuance or upon commencement of discharge, whichever comes first, unless the specific
conditions of a waste discharge permit establish an alternate deadline.

5. Upon receipt of a completed application, the director shall determine if a permit, minor discharge
authorization or other document is required and notify the applicant. Waste discharge permits and
authorizations shall be processed in accordance with chapter 90.48 RCW, as amended, Public Law 92-500
and this section, which includes: public notice for discharges requiring permits; determination of applicable
discharge limits and special conditions; review and approval of any pretreatment facilities; facility inspections;
issuance of a draft permit; review of the application and any draft permits by appropriate federal, state and
local agencies; and issuance of the final permit or written authorization.

a. If a permit is required, the director shall complete the public notice requirements and bill the
applicant for the cost or the director shall instruct the applicant at its expense to publish notices twice in a
newspaper of general circulation within King County and in a local newspaper serving the area where the
industrial user is located and in other appropriate information media as the director may direct. The notice
shall include a statement that any person desiring to present their views with regard to the application may do
so in writing to the director, but only if the person submits his or her views or notifies the director of the
person's interest within thirty days of the last date of publication of the notice. The notification or submission
of views to the director shall entitle the person to review and comment on the draft permit and to a copy of the
action taken on the application.

b. Waste discharge permits and written discharge authorizations shall be issued with conditions to
demonstrate compliance, meet applicable federal, state and local regulations and prevent violations of this
section and the waste discharge permit or authorization. The conditions may include, but shall not be limited
to, discharge limitations and standards, spill control measures, accidental spill prevention plans, slug control
plans, monitoring requirements, maintenance requirements, installation of monitoring equipment, record-
keeping requirements, reporting requirements, federal and state requirements, installation of sampling sites,
flow restrictions, engineering reports, solvent management plans, implementation of best management
practices and special studies to evaluate discharge limits or compliance status.

c. As a condition of the granting of a waste discharge permit or other autherization, the director
may require the industrial user to install pretreatment facilities or make plant or process modifications as
deemed necessary by the director to meet the requirements of this section and applicable federal and state
standards. The facilities or modifications shall be designed, installed, constructed, operated and maintained
at the industrial user's expense in accordance with this section and in accordance with the rules and
regulations of all local and governmental agencies.

d. The director shall have the authority to require that an industrial user implement a technology
based approach to limit pollutants discharged to the sanitary sewer through the application of AKART.



e. No industrial user may discharge industrial waste into a public sewer, private sewer, or side
sewer tributary to the metropolitan sewerage system until inspection has been made by the department for
compliance with conditions of the permit or authorization and with this section unless the director has
determined that an inspection is not required.

f. A draft permit shall be issued for review and comment by the applicant, federal, state and local
agencies and members of the public who wish to comment on the application or draft permit. All comments
will be reviewed and addressed by the director before issuance of a final permit.

g. During the application processing, the department will consult with and provide copies of
applications and draft permits to participant local agencies, the Washington state Department of Ecology
and the Environmental Protection Agency, when appropriate, to ensure that the limitations and conditions
of waste discharge permits or other written discharge authorizations will meet requirements of applicable
federal, state and local regulations.

h. The director may deny a permit or discharge authorization when the applicant's discharge will
not comply with this section or will create a public nuisance. The director may also deny a permit or
authorization to protect public health and welfare.

i. Waste discharge permits and authorizations shall be issued by the director for a specified
period, not to exceed five years. A waste discharge permit or authorization may be issued for a period fewer
than five years at the discretion of the director. Each waste discharge permit or authorization will indicate a
specific date upon which it will expire.

j. If the characteristics of the proposed discharge or discharges meet the requirements of
appropriate participant local agencies, the Washington state Department of Ecology, the [Environmental
Protection Agency]*[,]Jany other applicable state and federal laws and regulations and this section, the director
shall issue a waste discharge permit or authorization to the applicant with appropriate conditions. A copy of
the, final permit will be submitted to the Washington state Department of Ecology. The appropriate local
agencies will be notified in writing of the issuance of such a permit and will be furnished with one copy of
each draft and final permit or other written discharge authorization issued within its jurisdiction at no charge.

6. Discharge conditions published in a waste discharge permit or authorization shall remain in
effect until the permit or authorization expires, except that the director may modify the permit or authorization
for good cause including the following:

a. to incorporate any new or revised federal, state or local pretreatment standards or
requirements;

b. to address alterations or additions to the user's operation, processes or wastewater volume or
character since the time of permit or authorization issuance, for which the modifications may be requested by
the industrial user;

c. achange in the POTW that requires either a temporary or permanent reduction or elimination
of the authorized discharge;

d. information indicating that the permitted discharge poses a threat to the metropolitan sewerage
system, the department's, county's or participant local agency's personnel or the receiving waters;

e. violation of any terms or conditions of the waste discharge permit or authorization;

f. to correct typographical or other errors in the waste discharge permit or authorization; or

g. to reflect a transfer of the facility ownership or operation, or both, to a new owner or operator.

7. If the industrial user wishes to continue discharging after the expiration date, an application shall
be filed for renewal of the permit at least one hundred eighty days before the expiration date or at least ninety
days before expiration date for authorizations. Applications for renewal permits or authorizations shall be
processed in accordance with the requirements of this section, with the exception of the public notice
requirement. An industrial user whose existing waste discharge permit or authorization has expired and has
submitted its application for permit renewal in the time specified herein shall be deemed to have an effective
waste discharge permit or authorization until the director issues or denies the new waste discharge permit.
An industrial user whose existing waste discharge permit or authorization has expired and who failed to
submit its reapplication in the time period specified herein will be deemed to be discharging without a waste
discharge permit or authorization.

8. A permit or authorization shall be subject to revocation upon thirty days' notice in writing if the
director finds:

a. it was procured by misrepresentation of any material fact or by lack of full disclosure in the
application;

b. a material change in the volume of flow or characteristics of waste was effected without notice
to the department and application to the department for a new permit or authorization was not made and a
permit or authorization issued as required in this section;

c. there has been a violation of the limitations or conditions of the permit or authorization, and the
industrial user refuses to take corrective action, or that a violation has continued after notice thereof;



d. the industrial user has refused reasonable access to its premises for the purpose of inspecting
or monitoring the discharge;

e. the industrial user has falsified self-monitoring reports or tampered with monitoring equipment;

f. the industrial user has failed to pay sewer charges or fines; or

g. the industrial user has failed to provide advance notice of the transfer of a waste discharge
permit.

At the time that a permit or authorization is revoked, the director may thereafter require disposal of
the waste in some manner other than into a public sewer, private sewer or side sewer tributary to the
metropolitan sewerage system at the expense of the person whose permit is revoked. The appropriate local
agency and the Washington state Department of Ecology will be notified in writing of the revocation of the
permit.

9. A permit or authorization may be suspended temporarily and further discharges halted by the
director if the director determines that waste discharges are in violation of waste discharge permit or
authorization limitations or conditions or county, state or federal standards and pose an immediate risk to
public health and safety, receiving water quality or biosolids quality, or an immediate risk of damage,
obstruction or interference with treatment facilities. The suspension shall be effective immediately upon
written notice delivered to the industrial user's business premises or posting at the point of discharge.

10. A waste discharge permit or authorization shall not be transferred without prior
notification and approval by the director. The notification shall be submitted at least thirty days before the
date of facility transfer and shall:

a. include a statement that the new owner or operator, or both, have no immediate intent to
change the facility's operations and processes;

b. identify the specific date on which the transfer is to occur;

c. acknowledge full responsibility for complying with the existing waste discharge permit; and

d. include a written agreement between the old and new owner or operator, or both, containing a
specific date for transfer of permit responsibility, coverage and liability.

Failure to provide advance notice of a transfer renders the waste discharge permit or authorization
voidable on the date of facility transfer.

K. Industrial users shall have the following responsibilities in discharging industrial waste into the
metropolitan sewerage system:

1. It shall be the responsibility of every industrial user to control the discharge of industrial waste
into a public sewer, private sewer or side sewer tributary to the metropolitan sewerage system in compliance
with this section and the requirements of a waste discharge permit or written discharge authorization issued
under this section.

2. Whenever pretreatment facilities are required under this section, they shall be designed,
constructed, installed, operated and maintained at the expense of the industrial user and in a manner
prescribed by the director. The director may require dischargers to submit plans in the form of engineering
reports and drawings for approval. The reports and plans shall be prepared according to federal and state
requirements. The industrial user shall maintain records indicating routine maintenance check dates,
cleaning and waste removal dates and means of disposal of accumulated wastes. The records shall be
retained for a minimum of three years and be subject to review in accordance with this section. Approval of
proposed facilities or equipment by the director will not in any way guarantee that these facilities or equipment
will function in the manner described by their constructor or manufacturer, nor shall it relieve a person of the
responsibility of enlarging or otherwise modifying or replacing the facilities to accomplish the intended
purpose and to meet the applicable standards, limitations and conditions of a waste discharge permit.

3. Industrial users will be required to submit samples of industrial waste discharges to the director
or to perform tests and report the test results to the director on a routine and continuing basis when:

a. required by 40 CFR 403.12, as amended,;

b. requested by state or participant local agencies; or

¢. deemed necessary by the director for the proper treatment, analysis or control of waste
discharges.
All such tests and reports shall be at the cost of the industrial user.

4. All sampling data collected by industrial users and analyzed using procedures approved by 40
CFR 136 or approved alternatives shall be submitted to the director whether required as part of a written
authorization or done voluntarily by the industrial user.

5. To the degree practicable, the director will provide each permittee or applicant with information
on applicable county, state and federal waste analysis and reporting requirements, provided, however, that
any failure or inadvertence to do so shall not excuse the permittee from compliance with the requirements.
Specific requirements will be established by written permit or authorization.



6. All wastewater discharge permit applications and industrial user reports must be signed by an
authorized representative of the industrial user and contain the following certification statement:

"I certify under penalty of law that this document and all attachments were prepared under
my direction or supervision in accordance with a system designed to assure that qualified
personnel properly gather and evaluate the information submitted. Based on my inquiry of
the person or persons who manage the system, or those persons directly responsible for
gathering the information, the information submitted is to the best of my knowledge and
belief, true, accurate and complete. | am aware that there are significant penalties for
submitting false information, including the possibility of fine and imprisonment for knowing
violations."

7. When required by the director, the industrial user shall install and maintain at its expense a
suitable sample site or control manhole in its side sewer to facilitate observation, sampling and measurement
of wastes therein. The sample sites or manholes shall be located, if feasible, where it is accessible from a
public road or street. It shall be constructed in accordance with plans approved by the director and shall be
arranged so that flow measuring and sampling equipment and a shutoff gate or a screen may be
conveniently installed by the director. The industrial user shall make access to the sample site or manhole
available to the director at all times. Any tampering with flow or sampling equipment by the discharger or its
employees is prohibited. When deemed necessary by the director, an industrial user may be required to
obtain, install, operate and maintain, at its expense, an automatic sampler or analyzer, or both, or flow
measurement device in order to monitor its industrial waste discharges in the manner directed by the
director.

8. Any person becoming aware of the discharge of regulated substances, spills or slug discharges
directly or indirectly into a public sewer, private sewer or side sewer tributary to the metropolitan sewerage
system shall report the discharge immediately to the department and one of the treatment plants of the
county. This notification shall include the location of discharge, type of waste, concentration and volume, if
known, and any corrective actions. Failure by any person aware of the discharge of prohibited or restricted
substances, spills or slug discharges to report the discharge in the manner provided above shall constitute a
violation, as that term is defined in this section, and subject the person to the penalties in this section. Each
failure to report a discharge shall be considered a separate violation. Notification shall not relieve the person
responsible from penalties or recovery of the cost of damages resulting from the discharge. Discharges of
prohibited or restricted substances directly or indirectly into navigable waters, or into streams, ditches or
sewers tributary to navigable waters, shall be reported to the United States Coast Guard or to the regional
office of the Washington state Department of Ecology, in accordance with Section 311 of the Act, 42 U.S.C.
1321, as amended.

9. In order that employees of industrial users involved in discharge to sewers will be informed of
the county's requirements, the industrial users shall make available to their employees copies of this section
together with such other wastewater information and notices directed toward more effective water pollution
control that may be furnished by the director from time to time. A nctice advising employees whom to call in
case of a discharge violation of this section shall be furnished and permanently posted in highly visible places
such as bulletin boards and lunchrooms. Where lack of proper employee training is determined to have
caused noncompliance with this section or with the requirements of a waste discharge permit or written
discharge authorization, the director shall require industrial users to provide employee training.

10. Any direct or indirect connection or entry peint that could allow prohibited or regulated
substances to enter the industrial user's plumbing or drainage system shall be eliminated. Where the action
is impractical or unreasonable, the industrial user shall label the entry points appropriately to warn against
discharge of wastes in violation of this section.

11. Al industrial users shall notify the director, the Environmental Protection Agency Region 10
Waste Management Division Director and the Washington state Department of Ecology in writing of any
discharge to the sewer of a substance, that, if otherwise disposed of would be a hazardous waste as set forth
in 40 CFR Part 261.

a. Notification shall include the name of the hazardous waste as set forth in 40 CFR part

261, the
Environmental Protection Agency hazardous waste generator number, where required, and the type of
discharge, be it continuous, batch or other. If the industrial user discharges more than one hundred
kilograms, or two hundred twenty pounds, of such waste per calendar month to the POTW, the notification
shall also contain the following information:

(1) an identification of the hazardous constituents contained in the wastes;

(2) an estimation of the mass and concentrations of the constituents in the waste stream
discharged during that calendar month; and



(3) an estimation of the constituents in the waste stream expected to be discharged during the
following twelve months.

Discharges of more than fifteen kilograms, or thirty-three pounds of nonacute hazardous wastes in a
calendar month or of any quantity of acute hazardous wastes as specified in 40 CFR 261.30(d) and
261.33(e) requires a one-time notification. All notifications shall be submitted by January 24, 1991, for
existing industrial users. Industrial users who commence discharge after January 24, 1991, shall submit
notification no later than one hundred eighty days after the discharge of the hazardous wastes. Any industrial
user required to submit notification under this subsection shall be required to submit only once for each
hazardous waste discharged unless the discharge is changed according to 40 CFR 403.12(j). Notification
requirements under this subsection do not apply to pollutants already reported under the self monitoring
requirements of 40 CFR 403.12(b), (d), and (e) before January 24, 1991.

b. Industrial users are exempt from the notification requirements during a calendar month in
which they discharge no more than fifteen kilograms of hazardous wastes, unless the wastes are acute
hazardous waste as specified in 40 CFR 261.30 (d) and 261.33(e).

c. Inthe case of new regulations under Section 3001 of the Resource Conservation and Recovery
Act (RCRA), 42 U.S.C. 6921, identifying additional characteristics of hazardous wastes or listing any
additional substance as a hazardous waste, the industrial user shall submit notification as required under this
section within ninety days of the effective date of the new regulations.

d. Any industrial user subject to the notification requirements under this section shall certify in
writing at the time of notification that the industrial user has a program in place to reduce the volume or
toxicity of hazardous wastes generated to the degree it has determined to be economically practical.

12. Industrial users shall maintain records relating to discharges to the metropolitan sewerage
system. The records, which include, but are not limited to, routine maintenance, documentation associated
with best management practices, waste disposal dates, manifests and disposal records for accumulated
wastes, self-monitoring reports, analytical lab results, dates and times of sample collection and batch
discharges, pH and equipment calibration log books, pH monitoring records and flow records, shall be
retained for a minimum of three years and shall be subject to review in accordance with this section.

13. The director may establish rules by which required reports can be received electronically from
industrial users. The rules shall establish the framework for electronic reporting that ensures the legal
dependability of electronic documents submitted in accordance with this section.

L. The following provisions shall apply to the inspection and sampling of industrial users:

1. To carry out this section and ensure compliance with federal and state laws and regulations
relating to water pollution, authorized and properly identified representatives of the county shall have the right
to enter that portion of the premises of any person discharging industrial waste into a public sewer, private
sewer or side sewer tributary to the metropolitan sewerage system, whether or not the discharge is officially
permitted or authorized. The purpose of entry shall be for inspection, observation, measurement, review of
operating and waste management records, including documentation associated with best management
practices, sampling and testing in accordance with this section, at reasonable times or for the purpose of
handling an emergency, as determined by the director, at any time if the director determines that an
emergency exists. Inspections shall be limited to that portion of the premises that contains a side sewer,
measuring manhole, pretreatment facilities or facilities for the transportation, collection, concentration or
treatment of wastes. All regular sanitary and safety requirements of the person shall be complied with by the
representative during the inspection. Before entering the premises, representatives of the county shall state
their purpose and present credentials and an administrative inspection warrant, if one is required.

2. A warrant shall not be required for entry and administrative inspections, including observation,
measurement, sampling or testing, under this section in the following situations:

a. with the consent of the owner, operator or agent in charge of the premises;

b. if the discharge is permitted under an industrial waste discharge permit or other written
discharge authorization;

c. in situations where the director has determined that an emergency exists presenting imminent
danger to the public or worker health, safety and welfare, the environment or water quality of a receiving
water or interference or risk of interference or obstruction with the functioning of the metropolitan sewerage
system, or violating the county's National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System permit limits;

d. in any emergency circumstance where there is neither time nor opportunity to apply for a
warrant; and

e. in any other situation where a warrant is not required by law.

3. Inthe event an administrative inspection warrant must be obtained to enter upon the premises of
any person disposing of industrial waste into a public sewer, private sewer or side sewer tributary to the
metropolitan sewerage system, the director shall apply to the superior court for issuance of warrants for the



purpose of conducting administrative inspections authorized by this section. For purposes of an
administrative inspection, probable cause justifying the issuance of a warrant may be based either on:

a. specific evidence of an existing violation of the terms and conditions of a waste discharge
permit, this section or any state or federal law or regulation relating to water pollution; or

b. evidence that reasonable administrative standards for conducting an inspection, including
observation, measurement or testing of industrial waste, are satisfied with respect to a particular premises
and that a specific premises has been selected for county inspection on the basis of a general administrative
plan for the enforcement of this section or any county, state or federal laws or regulations relating to water
pollution.

4. Consistent with federal pretreatment standards, pollutant levels for all regulated processes will
be monitored at the point of compliance. The point of compliance shall be at the end of the regulated
process following pretreatment or as specified in the waste discharge permit or written discharge
authorization. The monitoring shall be before the addition of any dilution water.

5. The purpose of the inspection and sampling programs shall be to verify independent of
information supplied by industrial users in accordance with this section, the compliance or noncompliance
with applicable pretreatment standards and requirements, best management practices or special
requirements as prescribed by the director.

6. The sampling programs shall be designed to provide sampling emphasis on those industrial
users discharging the greatest volume and concentration of pollutants. Comprehensive sampling by
automatic samplers will be augmented with grab samples taken on a random basis. Flow proportioned
samples are preferred. At a minimum, significant industrial users will be sampled at the frequency [required
by 40 CFR 403.12, as amended]*. Those users with large industrial discharges can expect to be sampled
quarterly or more often, while users with small discharges may be sampled once annually or as required by
federal regulations or an National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System permit issued to the county.
Industrial users also discharging high strength waste will be sampled or classified as part of the industrial
surcharge program.

7. The inspection programs shall be designed to provide emphasis on those industrial users
discharging the greatest volume and concentration of pollutants. A significant industrial user will be inspected
at the frequency required by 40 CFR 403.12, as amended.

8. The postviolation inspection and sampling program shall provide for additional inspection and
sampling of any industry failing to comply with or violating any of this section or applicable state and federal
requirements.

9. Except as otherwise stipulated below, information and data on industrial users obtained from
reports, questionnaires, permit applications, permits, monitoring programs and inspections shall be available
to the public or other governmental agencies in conformance with county ordinances and state laws and
regulations. Industrial user information such as trade secrets may be withheld provided confidentiality is
specifically requested by the industrial user at the time the information is provided or submitted to the
director. Wastewater constituents and characteristics shall not be recognized as confidential information and
will be available to the public without restriction.

10. A portion, or cocollected sample in the instance of fats, oils and greases, of any samples
collected by department personnel shall be made available to the industrial user being sampled. If the
industrial user has samples analyzed for comparison with the department's results, the comparison will be
considered valid only if methods and procedures are the same as those utilized or approved by the
department and those methods and procedures conform to and are consistent with the analytical methods
established by the latest edition of the following references:

a. Standard Methods for the Examination of Water and Wastewater;

b. American Society for Testing and Materials, A.S.T.M. Standards, part 23, Water, Atmospheric
Analysis;

c. Environmental Protection Agency, Water Quality Office Analytical Control Laboratory, Methods
for Chemical Analysis of Water and Wastes; or

d. any other analytical method determined by the department to be required to identify and
quantify a particular pollutant not adequately sampled by the above referenced methods.

11. If, as the result of a valid sample comparison, a discrepancy arises between the analytical
results obtained by an industrial user and the county's results, and if a statistical summary indicates that the
precision of the county's and the industrial user's results are within acceptable quality assurance/quality
control standards, the two results will be averaged to determine the user's compliance.

12. The director may require any user to develop and implement an accidental discharge
(spill)/slug control plan. An accidental discharge or accidental spill prevention plan (ASPP)/slug control
plan describing facilities to prevent accidental discharge or slug discharges of pollutants and operating
procedures to provide this protection, shall be submitted to the director for review and approval before



implementation. The director shall determine which user is required to develop a plan and require the
plan be submitted within ninety days following notification by the director. Each user shall implement its
ASPP as submitted or as modified after the plans have been reviewed and approved by the director.
Review and approval of the plans and operating procedures shall not relieve the user from the
responsibility to modify its facility as necessary to meet spill control requirements.

a. Any user required to develop and implement an accidental discharge/slug control plan shall
submit a plan that addresses, at a minimum, the following:

(1) description of discharge practices, including nonroutine batch discharges;

(2) description of stored chemicals;
(3) procedures for immediately notifying the POTW of any accidental or slug discharge; and
(4) procedures to prevent adverse impact from any accidental or slug discharge including, but
not limited to, inspection and maintenance of storage areas, handling and transfer of materials, loading and
unloading operations, control of plant site runoff, worker training, building of containment structures or
equipment, measures for containing toxic organic pollutants, including solvents, or measures and equipment
for emergency response.

b. Users shall notify the director immediately upon the occurrence of a slug or accidental
discharge of substances regulated by this section. The notification shall include location of discharge, date
and time thereof, type of waste, concentration and volume and corrective actions.

c. Within five days following an accidental discharge, the user shall submit to the director a
detailed written report describing the cause of the discharge and the measures taken by the user to prevent
similar future occurrences.

d. Signs shall be permanently posted in conspicuous places on the user's premises advising
employees whom to call in the event of a slug or accidental discharge.

e. A significant industrial user shall notify the POTW immediately of any changes at its facility
affecting potential for a slug discharge.

M. The following provisions shall govern permit fees compliance monitoring and
administrative fees and postviolation inspection and sampling program charges.

1. To cover the cost of drafting waste discharge permits as provided in this section, the director
shall establish a permit fee. The fee shall be applicable to each new or revised permit issued after the
adoption of this section. The permits shall normally be issued for a period of five years and the fee shall
entitle the permittee to the review of two draft permits and the review and issuance of one final permit and
one permit revision during the stated term of each permit. No additional charges shall be made for revisions
or draft permit revisions initiated by the department. The cost for routine permit administration, including
annual permit inspections, are covered under other provisions in this section. The director is hereby
authorized to establish the permit drafting fee as part of the county's annual budget process.

2. Those permittees authorized to discharge heavy metals and those permittees authorized to
discharge oil and grease shall pay a compliance monitoring and administrative fee. The fee shall be a unit
charge calculated in accordance with the procedures hereafter set forth herein and in accordance with the
following:

HEAVY METAL AND OIL & GREASE
MONTHLY COMPLIANCE MONITORING AND ADMINISTRATIVE FEES

The heavy metal and oil & grease monthly compliance monitoring and administrative charges for each
industrial user shall be computed using the following formulas:

Heavy metals monthly charge [Q-Qs] [ Costim]

12

il & Grease monthly charge [Q:-Qs] [Costos]

12
Where:
Q = measured sewage flow; 100 cubic feet/year;
Q, = computed sanitary flow; 100 cubic feet/year;
Costyy = unit cost for administering and monitoring for heavy metals of permitted



companies;

Costos = unit cost for administering and monitoring for oil & grease of permitted
companies;
Further:
Q- Qs = industrial wastewater discharged; 100 cubic feet/yr
Where:
Q.EO
748
Qe = sanitary volume exclusion per employee per day;

gallons/day;

E = average daily number of employees;
0] = average number of annual operating days;
748 = factor for converting gallons to 100 cubic feet;
Further:
Cost, = AM,
"IF,
Where:
Cost, = unit cost for administering and monitoring heavy metals or cil and grease
program;
AM, = budget allocated to administering heavy metals or oil and grease program;
"IF, = total industrial flow discharged by heavy metal permittees or oil and grease

permittees; 100 cubic feet/year.

a. The compliance monitoring and administrative fees shall be based upon the county's estimated
costs for the total compliance monitoring program for the heavy metals and oil and grease programs. A
review of the costs and their allocation will be conducted annually by the director, and unit charges may be
adjusted to reflect the actual monitoring costs. Compliance monitoring and administrative fees shall include,
but not be limited to, routine permit administration, program development, laboratory analysis and recovery of
fifty percent of the costs of the key manhole monitoring program and industrial monitoring costs not
recovered directly via fees for the postviolation inspection and sampling program.

b. Compliance monitoring and administrative charges shall be based upon the average monthly
volume of discharge by each industrial/commercial permittee served directly or indirectly by the metropolitan
sewerage system. The average monthly discharge volume will be based on water consumption figures of
each industrial/commercial permittee for the previous four quarters of the year. Each participant local agency
shall provide the department each quarter with a listing of the water consumption of each
industrial/commercial permittee served by the participant local agency and the department. Where actual
sewage flow is metered, the metered flow shall be reported in lieu of water consumption.

¢. The director shall not impose the compliance monitoring and administrative fee where the
compliance monitoring payments do not exceed the department's estimated costs for monitoring and
processing an individual account. The department reserves the right to thereafter reimpose the compliance
monitoring and administrative fee for heavy metals or oil and grease, or both, whenever the director
determines that the payments will exceed administrative costs.

d. The department will assign the responsibility for biling and collecting the compliance
monitoring and administrative fees to each of its participant local agencies for those companies within the
agencies' jurisdiction. The permit fee will be billed directly to the permittee.

3. The department shall have the right to impose an administrative fee to recover the cost of
drafting minor discharge authorizations and general permits as provided under other provisions of this
section.

4. Users discharging waste with a strength greater than domestic waste shall pay a high strength
surcharge in addition to the basic fee. The surcharge for high strength industrial wastes shall be based on
treatment or removal costs of those constituents whose concentration exceeds that contained in domestic



wastes and that contribute to the costs of operation and maintenance of the metropolitan sewerage system.
The constituents presently in this category are biochemical oxygen demand (BOD) and suspended solids.

a. The surcharge shall be the unit cost of treating BOD5 or suspended solids times the strength in
excess of domestic strength. The unit costs for BOD5 and suspended solids are computed from the actual
costs of operating and maintaining the metropolitan sewerage system by allocating costs to flow, BOD5 and
suspended solids and dividing the allocated costs by the total amounts of flow, BODS5 and suspended solids
treated in the metropolitan sewerage system.

b. The fees shall be determined according to the following surcharge formula:

The computation of the high-strength surcharge is described by the following formula:

Surcharge = Q; [(BODy - BODg)UCgqp + (SSy - SS¢)UCsg]
Where:

Surcharge = Monthly surcharge payment; $/month

Q = Average month sewage flow;

100 cubic feet/month

BODy = Measured BOD waste strength for industry; mg/|

BODy = Defined BOD strength for domestic waste; mg/

SSy = Measured SS waste strength for industry; mg/l

SSy = Defined SS strength for domestic waste; mg/l

UCgop = Unit cost of treating BOD; $/mg/l/100 cubic feet

UCss = Unit cost of treating SS; $/mg/I/100 cubic feet
And;

UC= [ OM, + PC
(8.34 Ib/gal)(7.48/%)(100ft%)(10°)

TW, SW,

uc, = Unit cost for BOD or suspended solids

OM, = Allocated operation and maintenance costs to
BOD or suspended solids;

PC = Costs of administering and sampling for the
surcharge program;

TW, = Total BOD or suspended solids handled by the
county sewerage system, Ib/year

SW, = Surchargeable BOD or suspended solids handled

by the county sewerage system,; Ib/year

Surchargeable BOD and suspended solids is the amount that exceeds the established domestic
waste strength.

¢. The concentration of domestic wastes shall be defined by the director.

d. Treatment costs will be based on system-wide maintenance and operation costs allocated to
the appropriate waste parameters. The director shall conduct an annual review of treatment costs and adjust
charges to reflect actual operation and maintenance costs.

e. The surcharge shall be based upon the average annual strength and volume of discharge by
the industrial user. Industrial users shall have the right to challenge the values the director develops by
submitting a series of analyses from a state certified laboratory documenting the substitute values proposed
by the industrial user. Satisfactory sampling techniques in such instances shall be subject to approval by the
director.

f. The director shall establish the average annual waste strength for each industrial user either by
direct measurement or by classification. Those users discharging in excess of 600 pounds per day of BOD
and suspended solids will be monitored directly at a frequency of not less than twice per year. Those users
discharging less than those quantities will be classified by user group and assigned a waste strength based
upon measured values for representative industrial users within each group. Industrial users who can
demonstrate a significant difference in waste generating operations from that of their assigned class leader
shall have the right to challenge their assigned classification by submitting a series of analyses from a



competent laboratory documenting the substitute values proposed by the industrial user. Satisfactory
sampling techniques in such instances shall be subject to approval by the director.

g. There shall be a domestic type classification established originating from domestic type
activities. All industrial users in the domestic type classification shall be assigned a waste strength equal
to the domestic equivalent.

h. The average annual discharge volume will be based upon water consumption figures utilized
by the industrial user for the previous four quarters. Each participant local agency shall provide the county
each quarter with a listing of the water consumption of each surcharged user. Where actual sewage flow is
metered, the metered flow shall be reported in lieu of water consumption.

i. Those industrial users whose high strength waste surcharge payments fall below the
administrative costs for an individual account will be excluded from the program.

j- The county will assign the responsibility for biling and collecting the high strength waste
surcharge to each of its participant local agencies for those industrial users within the agencies' jurisdiction.
The county will review the local agencies' billing procedures annually to ensure that the agencies' user charge
is being applied equitably and in accordance with federal regulations.

5. Any industrial user that believes the compliance monitoring and administrative fee or permit fee
imposed on it by the director may be in error may appeal the action by following the appeal process outlined
in this section.

6. Any industrial user for whom the director implements a postviolation inspection and sampling
program under this section shall be responsible for costs therefore incurred by the county, including without
limitation expert, legal and administrative costs. The costs shall be in addition to the other fees, penalties and
costs for damages set forth in this section. Any industrial user subject to postviolation inspection and
sampling shall be billed directly for the county's costs. The costs recovered by the county shall include all
labor, supplies and special costs incurred for the inspection and monitoring effort. A review of the costs and
their allocation will be conducted annually by the director, and unit charges may be adjusted by the director to
reflect the actual sampling and inspection costs.

N. The following provisions shall govern violations of discharge requirements:

1. The criteria constituting violations shall be as follows:

a. A discharge violation will be considered to have occurred if the limitations established in or in
accordance with this section, federal or state pretreatment standards, specific requirements of an industrial
waste discharge permit, written discharge authorization or any other pretreatment standards are exceeded,
regardless of intent or accident.

b. A mass violation will be considered to have occurred if mass related limitations for specific
pollutants have been exceeded. Mass related limitations will be based on daily average limits. A violation will
be determined utilizing the formula: (8.34) x (millions of gallons discharged per day) x (concentration of
pollutant in mg/L). The concentration used for the pollutant will be the arithmetic mean of those
concentrations for samples collected during the period monitored over the operating day or the concentration
of a flow proportioned composite during that period. The volume will be determined by either a water meter
or sewer meter serving the monitored process and read immediately before and after sampling.

c. A violation will be considered to have occurred if special reporting requirements established by
permit, provided for in this section, included in written documents from the director, or specified by general
federal pretreatment standards in 40 CFR 403.12 as amended, are not complied with.

d. A violation will be considered to have occurred if special conditions, best management
practices or requirements established by this section, waste discharge permit, general permit, major or minor
discharge authorization, letter of discharge authorization or written orders from the director are not complied
with. The violations include, but are not limited to, failure to pay sewer charges or fines, failure to complete
the requirements of a compliance order, failure to meet the deadlines of a compliance schedule and
inaccurate reporting.

e. Each discrete discharge that constitutes a violation under this section shall constitute a
separate violation, or if the discharge is continuous, then each hour of the discharge shall constitute a
separate violation, provided the director shall have the discretion to combine the discrete or continuous
discharges and limit the number of violations for purposes of assessing penalties, if the violations are minor
and do not pose significant risks to public health and safety or treatment processes and facilities, and the
industrial user demonstrates to the reasonable satisfaction of the director that it is using its best efforts and
the most current technology to avoid the discrete or continuous discharges.

2. In accordance with 40 CFR 403.8, the director will cause to be published in [a]* newspaper of
general circulation within the county, at a minimum once every twelve months, a list of those industrial users
that since the last previous publication were determined to be in significant noncompliance of the limitations
established by this section and applicable pretreatment standards or other requirements under this section.



This notification will summarize enforcement actions taken by the county during the same period covered by
the publication.

O. The following provisions shall govern penalties and enforcement of the requirements of this
section:

1. Any person failing to comply with or violating any of this section shall, for each such a failure or
violation or for each day that the failure or violation occurred or continues to occur, be required to correct
such violation and shall be subject to enforcement action or actions to be determined by the director.
Depending upon the severity of the situation, the director may require the immediate cease of discharge and
disposal of the industrial waste in some manner other than into the public sewer, private sewer or side sewer
tributary to the metropolitan sewerage system, at the expense of the person responsible for the failure or
violation.

2. The director shall develop and implement an enforcement response plan that contains
guidelines indicating how the county will investigate and respond to instances of industrial user
noncompliance. At a minimum the plan shall: describe how the county will investigate violations; describe
escalating enforcement remedies and the time periods in which they will take place, including Notice of
Violation, Compliance Order, Final Notice, Monetary Penalties, Postviolation Inspections and Sampling,
Cease Discharge Notice, Emergency Suspension, Termination of Discharge and Supplemental
Environmental Projects; identify by title the official or officials responsible for implementing each enforcement
response; and reflect the county's responsibility to enforce all applicable pretreatment requirements and
standards. In determining the type of enforcement action and the amount of penalties to be levied, the
enforcement response plan shall consider the type and concentration of the pollutant causing the violation,
the analytical variability for that pollutant, the volumes discharged, the damages caused by or related to the
discharges, the history of past violation by the same industrial user, the assessment of any prior penalties for
similar violations and the number of violations as determined in accordance with other provisions of this
section.

a. Upon determination that a violation has taken or is taking place, a representative of the county
shall make a reasonable effort to notify the violating party immediately. The first notification may be verbal if
followed by written notification. The written notification shall be entitled "Notice of Violation" and shall specify
the nature and source of the violation. The written notice may be delivered to the business premises of an
industrial user or submitted by regular mail to the permit holders' address, as given to the county. Following
these notification procedures, applicable follow-up correspondence will be used to establish penalties and
corrective action to be taken by the violator. Within fourteen calendar days of receiving a Notice of Violation,
the violator shall submit a report to the director describing the circumstances surrounding the violating
condition. In the case of a discharge violation, the violator shall also collect an effluent sample and submit
resultant data to the director in addition to the report. Submission of this report shall in no way relieve the
user of liability for any violations occurring before or after receipt of the Notice of Violation.

b. Upon determination that a violation has taken or is taking place, the director may issue a
compliance order to the violating party responsible for the discharge, directing that the user come into
compliance within a time specified in a schedule. Compliance orders may also contain other requirements to
address the noncompliance, including but not limited to additional self-monitoring and management
practices, evaluations of control measures or pretreatment equipment and installation of pretreatment
equipment designed to minimize the amount of pollutants discharged to the sewer. A compliance order may
not extend the deadline for compliance established for a federal pretreatment standard or requirement, and a
compliance order does not release the user of liability for any violation, including any continuing violation.
Issuance of a compliance order shall not be a prerequisite to taking any other action against the user.

c. Upon determination that a violation has taken or is taking place, the director may issue a final
notice to the violating party. Final notice places the user on notice that further violations, or failing to
complete a requirement within a designated period of time, shall result in assessment of monetary penalties.

Issuance of final notice shall not be a prerequisite to taking any other action, including assessment of
monetary penalties, against the user.

d. For each failure or violation hereunder, the person responsible shall be liable for a maximum
civil penalty of ten thousand dollars per violation per day, but not less than one hundred dollars per violation,
per day. Issuance of a monetary penalty shall not be a prerequisite for taking any other action against the
user. In addition to monetary penalties, the director may recover expenses incurred by the county associated
with enforcement activities, including, but not limited to: any additional treatment costs; additional operational
costs; costs incurred by the county from tracking down violators; any penalties, fines or other costs levied
against the county for violation of state and federal permits resulting from discharges; and any other costs,
including expert, legal or administrative costs or the withholding of any grant money, incurred by the county or
the local public agency, to the extent permitted by law. In addition to any monetary penalty that reflects the



gravity of the violation, a calculated amount based on the industrial user's economic benefit of
noncompliance may be recovered by the director.

e. Upon determination that a violation has taken place, the director may require postviolation
inspections and sampling of an industrial user as defined in K.C.C. 28.82.370. Costs for postviolation
inspection and monitoring, as set forth in this section, shall be in addition to other fees, penalties and costs
for damages set forth in this section.

f. Upon determination that a violation has taken or is taking place, or that the user's past
violations are likely to recur, the director may issue an order to the user directing it to cease and desist all
such violations and directing the user to:

(1) immediately comply with all requirements; and

(2) take such appropriate remedial or preventive action as may be needed to properly address a
continuing or threatened violation, including halting operations or terminating the discharge, or both.
Issuance of a cease discharge notice shall not be a prerequisite for taking any other action against the user.

g. The director may immediately suspend a user's discharge, after informal notice to the user,
whenever the suspension is necessary in order to stop an actual or threatened discharge that reasonably
appears to present or cause an imminent or substantial endangerment to the health or welfare of persons.
The director may also immediately suspend a user's discharge, after notice and opportunity to respond, that
threatens to interfere with the operation of the metropolitan sewerage system, including, but not limited to,
maintaining compliance with the county's National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System permit and
biosolids quality requirements, or that presents or may present a danger to the environment.

h. In addition to other provisions of this section, any user that violates the following conditions is
subject to discharge termination: violation of waste discharge permit or written discharge authorization
conditions; failure to accurately report wastewater constituents and characteristics of discharge; failure to
report significant changes in operations or wastewater volume, constituents and characteristics before
discharge; refusal of reasonable access to the user's premises for the purpose of inspection, monitoring or
sampling, as provided in this section; and violation of the limitations established in this section.

i. The penalties and enforcement provisions in this section are not exclusive remedies. The
director is authorized to take any, all or any combination of these actions against a noncompliant user.
Enforcement of pretreatment violations will generally be in accordance with the enforcement response plan.
However, the director may take other action against any user when the circumstances warrant. Further, the
director is authorized to take more than one enforcement action against any noncompliant user.
Enforcement actions may be taken concurrently.

j. Where criminal enforcement action is considered in a particular case, that case may be referred
to state or federal authorities.

3. Any person causing structural damage to a public sewer or treatment facility or causing resource
damage to receiving water quality or biosolids by discharges not in compliance with this section and the
requirements of any permit or written discharge authorization, shall be liable for any such damage in addition
to monetary penalties.

4. In accordance with this section, where the enforcement remedy is the assessment of a
substantial monetary penalty, where in certain instances projects or activities remediating adverse public
health conditions or environmental consequences of the violations may be included in the enforcement
action, and where the size of the final assessed penalty may reflect the commitment of the user to
undertake environmentally beneficial expenditures, the director may approve a supplemental
environmental project other than those required to correct the underlying violation to be undertaken by the
user in exchange for a reduction in the amount of the assessed monetary penalty. All supplemental
projects must improve the injured environment or reduce the total risk burden posed to public health or the
environment by the identified viclation. Any supplemental environmental project must be shown to be of
equal monetary value to the amount of reduction in the assessed monetary penalty. The director shall
establish rules by which consideration and acceptance of a supplemental environmental project are
determined. The rules shall be based upon categories of potential supplemental environmental projects
including but not limited to: pollution prevention projects, pollution reduction projects, environmental
restoration projects, environmental auditing projects and environmental public awareness projects. The
rules shall also provide for public involvement in the acceptance of any project and in establishing the
benefit of any project to the performance of the metropolitan water pollution abatement function by the
county. Categories of potential supplemental environmental projects, except for public awareness
projects, may be considered if there is an appropriate relationship or "nexus” between the nature of the
violation and the environmental benefits to be derived from the type of supplemental project. A
supplemental environmental project cannot be used to resolve violations at a facility other than the facility
or facilities that are the subject of the enforcement action. Under no circumstances will a user be given
additional time to correct the violation and return to compliance in exchange for the conduct of a
supplemental environmental project.



5. The county does not allow for the affirmative defense of an enforcement action brought
for noncompliance with applicable pretreatment standards based on conditions of "upset" or "bypass." For
the purpose of this section, "upset" means an exceptional incident in which there is unintentional and
temporary noncompliance with discharge standards because of factors beyond the reasonable control of
the user. For the purpose of this section, "bypass" means the intentional diversion of waste streams from
any portion of a user's treatment facility. The diversion or bypass of any discharge from any pretreatment
facility utilized to maintain compliance with applicable pretreatment standards is prohibited except where
unavoidable to prevent loss of life or severe property damage. "Severe property damage" means
substantial physical damage to property, damage to the treatment facilities that causes them to become
inoperable or substantial and permanent loss of natural resources that can reasonably be expected to
occur in the absence of a bypass.

P. The director is authorized and directed to promulgate such rules, regulations and guidelines as
the director deems necessary to carry out the purposes or provisions of this section, to ensure the
department's compliance with the requirements of any federal or state law or administrative regulation
relating to water pollution and any changes or amendments thereto and to ensure the department performs
the metropolitan water pollution abatement function under chapter 35.58 RCW. Nothing herein shall prevent
the director from seeking judicial or governmental agency assistance to implement the policies and
requirements of this section. The rule-making process followed by the director shall provide for public
participation. Before the adoption of any rule, the director shall notify users and the general public of the
proposed rule. Notification will include but need not be limited to: newsletters; public hearings; or legal
notices published in area newspapers.

Q. The director is authorized to delegate responsibility to participant local agencies where the
participant agency has requested the delegation and where the director has approved its plans and
procedures for implementation of the delegated responsibility. (Ord. 16929 § 14, 2010: Ord. 11963 § 12,
1995: Ord. 11034 § 6, 1993).

*Reviser's note: Added but not underlined in Ordinance 16929. See K.C.C. 1.24.075.

28.84.075 Brightwater Environmental Education and Community Center - use fees -
establishing - initial - setting and modifying - waiver - notice.

A. The following definitions apply to this section.

1. "Brightwater Environmental Education and Community Center' means the environmental
education and community center located at the Brightwater Regional Wastewater Treatment Plant, 22505 SR
9 SE, Woodinville, WA 98072.

2. "Director" means the director of the department of natural resources and parks.

3. "Use fee" means a fee collected for the use and rental of the Brightwater Environmental
Education and Community Center.

B. Use fees for the Brightwater Environmental Education and Community Center shall be
established for the following:

Classroom or lab room;

Room rentals;

Outdoor area rentals;

Banquets, weddings, special events;
Cleaning;

Deposits;

a. damage; and

b. key;

7. Cancellations;

8. Equipment or materials use;

9. Facility use;

10. Special personnel requests, including, but not limited to, security and after hours event staff
and facility openings; and

11. Utilities.

C. The director shall set the initial use fees for any uses of the Brightwater Environmental Education
and Community Center that are not established in Attachment A to Ordinance 17586* and may modify any
use fee from time to time in accordance with this section.

D. In setting and modifying use fees, the director shall consider the following, among other factors:

1. The cost of providing the facilities and services and the demand for the facilities and services;

2. The administrative costs of collecting the fees; and

ook wnN =



3. The target revenue rate from use fees is at least one hundred percent of operation and

maintenance costs, including overhead.
E. Consistent with applicable law the director may waive, in whole or in part, the use fee for use
agreements as set forth in K.C.C. 4.56.150 E.1.d. The director shall document all waivers of use fees.
F. The director shall set and modify use fees in a way that clearly and simply states the amounts
and events or facilities to which the fees apply.
G.1. The director shall give at least twenty days' notice of the director's intention to set or modify use
fees by providing notice:
a. in writing or in electronic format to:
(1) the clerk of the council;
(2) all councilmembers; and
(3) all persons who have made a timely request for advance notice of fee setting;
b. by posting notice at the Brightwater Environmental Education and Community Center; and
¢. by publishing in the official county newspaper a summary of the notice of the proposed action,
including the information in subsection [G.]2.a. through e. of this section.

2. The notice made in subsection F.1.a. and b. of this section shall:

a. include a reference to this section;

b. include a date and place by which comments must be submitted,

c¢. specify whether the proposal is the determination, modification or elimination of a fee;

d. if the proposal is to modify a fee, indicate both the amount of the existing fee and the proposed
fee; and

e. state the reason for and methodology used to determine the proposed new fee.

3. The director shall consider all comments received by the prescribed date for comment before
the user fee is set or modified.

4. The use fees set or modified by the director under this section shall be consistent with applicable
law, including 43.09.210 RCW, Section 230.10.10 of the King County Charter; and K.C.C. 28.86.160.

5. A modified use fee is set when signed by the director. A use fee takes effect ten days after it is
set.

6. The director may not increase the use fee more than fifty percent unless the authority to
increase the fee is granted by the council by ordinance.

7. The director may not increase the use fee within one hundred twenty days of a previous
increase to the fee unless the authority for the increase is granted by the council by ordinance.

8. A use fee may not be established unless the original fee is approved by the council by
ordinance.

9. Once the use fee is set, the director shall post the amount of the fee in both written and
electronic form for inspection, review and copying by the public, including providing a copy, in writing or by
electronic format, of the fee to the clerk of the county council and each member of the county council and
posting the fee on the Internet.

10. Use fees generated under this section shall be applied and used for the exclusive benefit of the
wastewater system. (Ord. 17586 § 4, 2013).

*Available in the office of the clerk of the council.

28.84.080 Financial feasibility guideline for extension to the metropolitan sewage system.
Financial feasibility guideline for extension to the metropolitan sewage system. The allowable county
expenditure for extensions to the metropolitan system shall be based on the capital cost that can be
amortized by the customer charges paid to the county for sewer service by the residential customers and
residential customer equivalents in the drainage basin to be served by the proposed extension. Only the
portion of said charges attributable to the debt service and capital costs of the metropolitan system shall be
used in the calculation of the capital cost that can be amortized. (Ord. 12963, 1998).

28.84.090 Interlocal agreements for biosolids management and pursuit of formation of a
Regional Biosolids Authority.

A. The executive is hereby authorized to execute and the director to administer interlocal
agreements with local, county, state, and federal agencies to allow access to sites for biosolids beneficial-use
coordinated by the department; provided, that such agreements shall be approved by the council as required
by the King County Charter, King County Code and/or applicable state law.

B. The director is hereby authorized to consult with other jurisdictions on the feasibility and
desirability of a regional biosolids authority. (Ord. 11034 § 8, 1993).



28.84.100 Appeal procedure. The following provisions shall govern appeals from decisions of the
director related to permits, discharge authorizations, violations and penalties under K.C.C. 28.84.050 and
28.84.060.

A. Any person allegedly aggrieved by any such a decision of the director shall, before filing any
appeal with the King County hearing examiner, request that the director reconsider the decision. The request
must be made within fifteen calendar days of the date of the decision. The request shall state the decision to
be appealed, the grounds for the appeal and the relief being sought. The director shall promptly issue a final
decision, which shall be appealable only as provided herein.

B. Within fifteen calendar days of the date of issuance of the director's final decision, the person
allegedly aggrieved may file a written appeal statement with the King County hearing examiner. The appeal
shall state the decision being appealed and the grounds for appeal.

C. The examiner shall hear the appeal, determine whether the decision of the director was
consistent with K.C.C. 28.84.050 or 28.84.060, as applicable, this chapter and rules and regulations
promulgated by the director, and promptly issue a final decision K.C.C. 20.24.080.

D. Appeals of the examiner's final decision shall be to the superior court or the state Pollution
Control Hearings Board, as provided by law. (Ord. 16929 § 15, 2010: Ord. 11963 § 13, 1995: Ord. 11416,
1994: Ord. 11034 § 9, 1993).

IV. WASTEWATER TREATMENT
28.86 WASTEWATER TREATMENT

Sections:

28.86.010  Definitions.

28.86.020 Comprehensive water pollution abatement plan — readoption and ratification.

28.86.030 Regional wastewater services plan as supplement to comprehensive water pollution
abatement plan.

28.86.040 Regional wastewater services plan policies and explanatory material, financial policies
for comprehensive water pollution abatement plan—application.

28.86.050 Treatment plant policies (TPP).

28.86.060 Conveyance policies (CP).

28.86.070 I/l policies (I/IP).

28.86.080 Combined sewer overflow control policies (CSOCP).

28.86.090 Biosolids policies (BP).

28.86.100 Water reuse policies (WRP).

28.86.110 Wastewater services policies (WWSP).

28.86.120 Water quality protection policies (WQPP).

28.86.130 Wastewater planning policies (WWPP).

28.86.140  Environmental mitigation policies (EMP).

28.86.150  Public involvement policies (PIP).

28.86.160  Financial policies (FP).

28.86.165 Reporting policies.

28.86.170 Capital improvement program.

28.86.180  Implementation.

28.86.200  Productivity initiative for the wastewater program.

28.86.010 Definitions. The definitions in this section apply throughout this chapter unless the
context clearly requires otherwise.

A. “Biosolids” means a primarily organic product produced by wastewater treatment processes that
can be beneficially recycled. The product may contain water, sand, organic matter, microorganisms, trace
metals and other chemicals.

B. “Capacity” and “rated capacity” mean the average wet weather flows that the treatment plant or
conveyance system is designed to handle. Average wet weather flows are wastewater flows that occur
during wet months but not during storms.

C. "Capacity charge” means a charge levied on a new customer to recover capital costs needed to
serve new customers.

D. "Community treatment system” means a treatment device or drainfield, or both, that is shared by
two or more property owners.



E. "Component agencies” means the cities, towns, counties and sewer districts that retail
wastewater treatment services, that dispose of any portions of their sanitary sewage into the wastewater
system and that have entered into a contract with the county for providing for wastewater treatment.

F. "Comprehensive Water Pollution Abatement Plan” means a plan developed pursuant to RCW
35.58.200.

G. “CS0O” means a combined sewer overflow, which is an overflow from a combined sewer that is
designed to collect both sanitary sewage and stormwater runoff. The overflows occur during storms when
flows in the system exceed the capacity of the wastewater collection system.

H. “ESA" means the federal Endangered Species Act.

1. “Existing customer” means a customer who connects, reconnects, or establishes a new service
on sewers tributary to the county's metropolitan sewerage service before January 1, 2003.

J. “II" means inflow/infiltration, which is the total quantity of water from both inflow and infiltration
without distinguishing the source.

K. ‘“Indirect potable use” means discharging reclaimed water to surface or groundwater and
withdrawing water for treatment prior to use as a drinking water source from another location in the same
watershed.

L. “Infiltration” means the water entering a wastewater system, including sewer service connections,
from the ground through such means as, but not limited to, defective pipes, pipe joints, connections or
manhole walls.

M. “Inflow” means the water discharged into a wastewater system, including service connections
from such sources as, but not limited to, roof leaders, cellar, yard and area drains, foundation drains, cooling
water discharges, drains from springs and swampy areas, manhole covers, cross-connections from storm
sewers and combined sewers, catch basins, storm waters, surface runoff, street wash waters or drainage.
“Inflow” does not include, and is distinguished from, infiltration.

N. “Mgd” means million gallons per day, a measure of wastewater treatment capacity,

0. “New customer” means a customer who connects, reconnects, or establishes a new service on
sewers tributary to the county's metropolitan sewage system on or after January 1, 2003. This includes:

1. New connections to the existing collection system, including:
a. flows from new single family and multiple unit residential connections; and
b. new commercial or industrial connections;
2. Expansions in activity from existing connections, including:
a. conversion of residential units (single or multiple) to include additional customers or
equivalents, or both; and
b. expansions in commercial or industrial activity;
3. Septic to sewer conversions; and
4. 1/l flows from the new connections and newly constructed conveyance systems.

P. “Nonpotable use” means using reclaimed water for nondrinking water applications that may
include but are not limited to irrigation, industrial processing, agricultural uses and stream augmentation.

Q. “Reclaimed water” means wastewater that is treated to a sufficiently high level that it can be
safely used for intended purposes.

R. “Residential customer equivalent” means the factor in cubic feet of water used to describe the
discharge from a single-family residence. Commercial and industrial customers are converted to residential
customer equivalents based on the volume of water consumption.

S. “RWQC" means the regional water quality committee, which is a regional committee as defined
by Section 270 of the King County Charter, with powers and duties to “develop, review and recommend
ordinances and motions adopting, repealing, or amending county-wide policies and plans relating to the
subject matter area for which a regional committee has been established.”

T. “RWSP” means the regional wastewater services plan.

U. "Sewer rate" means the amount in dollars, charged to a residential customer equivalent each
month for use of the wastewater system.

V. “Shall’ and “will” in a policy mean that it is mandatory to carry out the policy. “Should” in a policy
provides noncompulsory guidance and establishes some discretion in making decisions. “May” in a policy
means that it is in the interest of the county or other named entity to carry out the policy but there is total
discretion in making decisions.

W. “Wastewater revenues” means revenues from the monthly sewer rate, capacity charge, grants
and other revenues, such as interest income and charges for services, available for the wastewater system.

X. “Wastewater system” means all the county’s water pollution abatement facilities, together with all
lands, property rights, equipment and accessories necessary for those facilities, and any other infrastructure,
and all operations and programs provided by the county under chapter 35.58 RCW, including but not limited
to: 1. conveyance of influent from component agencies; 2. treatment of sewage; 3. disposal of treated



effluent; 4. production and recycling of biosolids; 5. regulation of I/l; 6. control of combined sewer overflows;
and 7. production of reclaimed water.
Y. "Water reuse” means using reclaimed water. (Ord. 14219 § 2, 2001: Ord. 13680 § 1, 1999).

28.86.020 Comprehensive water pollution abatement plan — readoption and ratification.
Resolution No. 23 and all subsequent resolutions that amended and implemented the comprehensive water
pollution abatement plan, duly enacted by the council of the Municipality of Metropolitan Seattle (Metro) and
not expressly repealed by that body effective not later than midnight, December 31, 1993, and that are not
inconsistent with the King County Charter or county ordinances, are hereby readopted and ratified as the
comprehensive water pollution abatement plan for King County. (Ord. 13680 § 2, 1999).

28.86.030 Regional wastewater services plan as supplement to comprehensive water
pollution abatement plan. Under the provisions of the King County Charter and RCW 35.58.200, the
RWSP, set forth in K.C.C. 28.86.010 and 28.86.040 through 28.86.150, is hereby adopted as a supplement
to the comprehensive water pollution abatement plan for King County. The RWSP provides policy guidance
for the wastewater system through the year 2030. (Ord. 13680 § 3, 1999).

28.86.040 Regional wastewater services plan policies and explanatory material, financial
policies for comprehensive water pollution abatement plan - application.

A. The RWSP policies, as set forth in this chapter, shall provide direction for the operation and
further development of the wastewater system, its capital improvement program and, as necessary, the
development of subsequent policies.

B. The RWSP explanatory material, as set forth in this chapter, provides background information
and generally describes the objectives of the RWSP policies.

C. Financial policies for the comprehensive water pollution abatement plan and its supplement, the
RWSP, are separately adopted in K.C.C. 28.86.160. (Ord. 13680 § 4, 1999).

28.86.050 Treatment plant policies (TPP).

A. Explanatory material. The treatment plant policies are intended to guide the county in providing
treatment at its existing plants and in expanding treatment capacity through the year 2030. The policies
direct that secondary treatment will be provided to all base sanitary flows. The county will investigate
possible tertiary treatment with a freshwater outfall to facilitate water reuse. The policies also direct how the
county will provide the expanded treatment capacity necessary to handle the projected increases in
wastewater flows resulting from population and employment growth. The policies provide for the construction
of a new treatment plant (the Brightwater treatment plant) to handle flows in a new north service area,
expansion of the south treatment plant to handle additional south and east King County flows and the
reservation of capacity at the west treatment plant to handle Seattle flows and CSOs. The potential for
expansion at the west and south treatment plants will be retained for unanticipated circumstances such as
changes in regulations. The policies address goals for odor control at treatment plants and direct that water
reuse is to continue and potentially expand at treatment plants.

B. Policies.

TPP-1: King County shall provide secondary treatment to all base sanitary flow delivered to its
treatment plants. Treatment beyond the secondary level may be provided to meet water quality standards
and achieve other goals such as furthering the water reuse program or benefiting species listed under the
ESA.

TPP-2: King County shall provide additional wastewater treatment capacity to serve growing
wastewater needs by constructing the [Brightwater]* treatment plant [at the Route 9 site north of the city of
Woodinville]* and then expanding the treatment capacity at the south treatment plant. The west treatment
plant shall be maintained at its rated capacity of one hundred thirty-three mgd. The south treatment plant
capacity shall be limited to that needed to serve the eastside and south King County, except for flows from
the North Creek Diversion project and the planned six-million-gallon storage tank, or minor rerating to
facilitate south or east county growth. The potential for expansion at the west treatment plant and south
treatment plant should be retained for unexpected circumstances which shall include, but not be limited to,
higher than anticipated population growth, new facilities to implement the CSO reduction program or new
regulatory requirements.

TPP-3: Any changes in facilities of the west treatment plant shall comply with the terms of the West
Point settlement agreement.

TPP-4: King County’s goal is to prevent and control nuisance odor occurrences at all treatment
plants and associated conveyance facilities and will carry out an odor prevention program that goes
beyond traditional odor control. To achieve these goals, the following policies shall be implemented:



1. Existing treatment facilities shall be retrofit in a phased manner up to the High/Existing Plant
Retrofit odor prevention level as defined in Table 1 of Attachment A to Ordinance 14712**, the odor
prevention policy recommendations dated March 18, 2003. This level reflects what is currently defined as the
best in the country for retrofit treatment facilities of a similar size. Odor prevention systems will be employed
as required to meet the goal of preventing and controlling nuisance odor occurrences;

2. Existing conveyance facilities that pose nuisance odor problems shall be retrofitted with odor
prevention systems as soon as such odors occur, subject to technical and financial feasibility. All other
existing conveyance facilities shall be retrofitted with odor control systems during the next facility upgrade;

3. The executive shall phase odor prevention systems implementing the tasks that generate the
greatest improvements first, balancing benefit gained with cost, and report to the council on the status of the
odor prevention program in the annual RWSP report as outlined in K.C.C. 28.86.165;

4. New regional treatment facilities shall be constructed with odor control systems that are
designed to meet the High/New Plant odor prevention level as defined in Table 1 of Attachment A to
Ordinance 14712**, the odor prevention policy recommendations dated March 18, 2003. This level reflects
what is currently defined as the best in the country for new treatment facilities of a similar size;

5. New conveyance facilties serving these new regional treatment facilities shall also be
constructed with odor control systems as an integral part of their design;

6. Design standards will be developed and maintained for odor control systems to meet the
county's odor prevention and control goals;

7. A comprehensive odor control and prevention monitoring program for the county's wastewater
treatment and conveyance facilities will be developed. This program shall include the use of near facility
neighbor surveys and tracking of odor complaints and responses to complaints and shall consider
development of an odor prevention benchmarking and audit program with peer utilities; and

8. New odor prevention and measurement technologies will be assessed and methods for pilot
testing new technologies identified when determined by the executive to be necessary and appropriate for
achieving the goals of this policy.

TPP-5: King County shall undertake studies to determine whether it is economically and
environmentally feasible to discharge reclaimed water to systems such as the Lake Washington and Lake
Sammamish watersheds including the Ballard Locks.

TPP-6: The county shall evaluate opportunities in collaboration with adjacent utilities regarding the
transfer of flows between the county’s treatment facilities and treatment facilities owned and operated by
other wastewater utilities in the region. The evaluation shall inciude, but not be limited to, cost environmental
and community impacts, liability, engineering feasibility, flexibility, impacts to contractual and regulatory
obligations and consistency with the level of service provided at the county owned and operated facilities.

TPP-7: King County may explore the possibility of constructing one or more satellite treatment plants
in order to produce reclaimed water. The county may build these plants in cooperation with a local
community and provide the community with reclaimed water through a regional water supply agency. In
order to ensure integrated water resource planning, in the interim period prior to the development of a
regional water supply plan, King County shall consult and coordinate with regional water suppliers to ensure
that water reuse decisions are consistent with regional water supply plans. To ensure costs and benefits are
shared equally throughout the region, all reclaimed water used in the community shall be distributed through
a municipal water supply or regional water supply agency consistent with a regional water supply plan.

TPP-8: King County shall continue water reuse and explore opportunities for expanded use at
existing plants, and shall explore water reuse opportunities at all new treatment facilities. (Ord. 15602 § 1,
2006: Ord. 15384 § 1, 2006: Ord. 14712 § 2, 2003: Ord. 13680 § 5, 1999).

*Reviser's note: This language was added in Ordinance 15602 but not underlined in accordance with K.C.C. 1.24.075.
**Available in the office of the clerk of the council.

28.86.060 Conveyance policies (CP).

A. Explanatory material. The conveyance policies are intended to guide how major improvements
to the wastewater conveyance system, including building and upgrading the pipes and pump stations needed
to convey wastewater to the Brightwater treatment plant and building the outfall pipe from the Brightwater
treatment plant, will be accomplished. The policies also include guidance for other major and minor
conveyance improvements to accommodate increased flows in other parts of the service area and to prevent
improper discharges from the sanitary system.

B. Policies.

CP-1: To protect public health and water quality, King County shall plan, design and construct
county wastewater facilities to avoid sanitary sewer overflows.



1. The twenty-year peak flow storm shall be used as the design standard for the county’s
separated wastewater system.

2. Parameters developed by the wastewater treatment division in consultation with the metropolitan
water pollution abatement advisory committee shall be used to guide project scheduling and prioritization for
separated wastewater system projects.

3. The south treatment plant effluent transfer system shall be designed with a five-year design
storm standard. When effluent volumes exceed the five-year design standard and exceed the capacity of the
south treatment plant effluent transfer system, secondary treated effluent from the south treatment plant will
be discharged to the Green/Duwamish river until the flow subsides such that the flow can be discharged
through the south treatment plant effluent transfer system.

CP-2: King County shall construct the necessary wastewater conveyance facilities, including, but not
limited to pipelines, pumps and regulators, to convey wastewater from component agencies to the treatment
plants for treatment and to convey treated effluent to water bodies for discharge. Conveyance facilities shall
be constructed during the planning period of this plan to ensure that all treatment plants can ultimately
operate at their rated capacities. No parallel eastside interceptor shall be constructed. No parallel Kenmore
Interceptor shall be constructed.

CP-3: King County shall periodically evaluate population and employment growth assumptions and
development pattern assumptions used to size conveyance facilities to allow for flexibility to convey future
flows that may differ from previous estimates. The following activities shall take place to confirm
assumptions and conveyance improvement needs:

1. Field verification of wastewater flows and conveyance component conditions prior to
implementation of regional conveyance capital projects that are intended to expand capacity of the system;
and

2. Decennial flow monitoring to correspond with the Federal Census conducted every ten years.

CP-4: The executive shall update the conveyance system improvement program every five years
beginning in 2013 to ensure the program remains current. The program updates shall provide information on
growth patterns, rate of growth and flow projections and report on how this information affects previously
identified conveyance needs. The program updates shall also provide information on changed or new
conveyance needs identified since the previous update.

CP-5: King County shall apply uniform criteria throughout its service area for the financing,
development, ownership, operation, maintenance, repair and replacement of all conveyance facilities. The
criteria shall include:

1. County ownership and operation of permanent conveyance facilities that serve natural drainage
areas of greater than one thousand acres;

2. Conformance to the county's comprehensive water pollution abatement plan and the Regional
Wastewater Service Plan as precondition of county ownership; and

3. A financial feasibility threshold governing limitations of the county's financial contribution to:
development of a new interceptor or trunk sewer; or acquisition of an interceptor or trunk sewer constructed
by a local agency. The threshold, as specified in K.C.C. 28.84.080, shall consider the capital costs that can
be supported by the existing customers in the natural drainage area that would be served by the new facility.

CP-6: King County shall closely integrate water reuse planning and I/l study results with planning for
wastewater conveyance and treatment facilities. King County shall consider water conservation and demand
management assumptions developed by local utilities for wastewater facility planning.

CP-7:  King County shall evaluate other demand management alternative to meet identified
conveyance needs, such as infiltration and inflow (I/1) reduction, water conservation, and reclaimed water
facilities. Factors such as operational, environmental and financial impacts, costs and benefits, and the net
present value of alternatives shall be included in the evaluation of all feasible alternatives identified by the
county. (Ord. 16033 § 1, 2008: Ord. 15602 § 2, 2006: Ord. 13680 § 6, 1999).

28.86.070 I/l policies (I/IP).

A. Explanatory material. The I/l policies are intended to guide the county in working cooperatively
with component agencies to reduce the amount of I/l that flows into component agencies' local collection
systems, thereby reducing the impact of I/l on the regional system’s capacity. This cooperative process will
assess levels of I/l in local conveyance systems and construct pilot projects and will evaluate the cost-
effectiveness and environmental costs and benefits of local collection system rehabilitation. The executive
will develop and recommend long-term measures to reduce existing and future levels of I/l into local
collection systems. Incentives for component agencies to meet the adopted target for I/l reduction may
include a surcharge.

B. Policies.



I/IP-1: King County is committed to controlling I/l within its regional conveyance system and
shall rehabilitate portions of its regional conveyance system to reduce |/l whenever the cost of
rehabilitation is less than the costs of conveying and treating that flow or when rehabilitation provides
significant environmental benefits to water quantity, water quality, stream flows, wetlands or habitat for
species listed under the ESA.

I/IP-2: King County shall work cooperatively with component agencies to reduce I/l in local
conveyance systems utilizing and evaluating I/l pilot rehabilitation projects, and developing draft local
conveyance systems' design guidelines, procedures and policies, including inspection and enforcement
standards. Evaluations of the pilot rehabilitation project sand a regional needs assessment of the
conveyance system and assessments of I/l levels in each of the local sewer systems will form the basis
for identifying and reporting on the options and the associated cost of removing I/l and preventing future
increases. The executive shall submit to the council a report on the options, capital costs and
environmental costs and benefits including but not limited to those related to water quality, groundwater
inception, stream flows and wetlands, and habitat of species listed under the ESA. No later than
December 31, 2005, utilizing the prior assessments and reports the executive shall recommend target
levels for I/l reduction in local collection systems and propose long-term measures to meet the targets.
These measures shall include, but not be limited to, establishing new local conveyance systems design
standards, implementing an enforcement program, developing an incentive based cost sharing program
and establishing a surcharge program. The overall goal for peak I/l reduction in the service area should
be thirty percent from the peak twenty-year level identified in the report. The county shall pay one hundred
percent of the cost of the assessments and pilot projects.

I/IP-3: King County shall consider an I/l surcharge, no later than June 30, 2006, on
component agencies that do not meet the adopted target levels for I/l reduction in local collection systems.
The I/l surcharge should be specifically designed to ensure the component agencies’ compliance with the
adopted target levels. King County shall pursue changes to component agency contracts if necessary or
implement other strategies in order to levy an I/l surcharge. (Ord. 15602 § 3, 2006: Ord. 13680 § 7,
1999).

28.86.080 Combined sewer overflow control policies (CSOCP).

A. Explanatory material. The CSO control policies are intended to guide the county in controlling
CSO0 discharges. Highest priority for controlling CSO discharges is directed at those that pose the greatest
risk to human health and environmental health. The county will continue to work with federal, state and local
jurisdictions on regulations, permits and programs related to CSOs and stormwater. The county will also
continue its development of CSO programs and projects based on assessments of water quality and
contaminated sediments.

B. Policies.

CSOCP-1: King County shall plan to control its CSO discharges by the end of 2030 to meet:

1. The state's CSO control standard of an average of one untreated discharge per CSO outfall per
year based on a twenty-year moving average, and

2. Conditions of National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System permit requirements;

3. conditions of the Environmental Protection Agency/Washington state Department of Ecology
Consent Decree.

CSOCP-2: King County shall continue to work with state and federal agencies to develop cost-
effective regulations that protect water quality. King County shall meet the requirements of state and federal
regulations and agreements.

CSOCP-3: Consistent with the Environmental Protection Agency/Washington state Department of
Ecology Consent Decree and the county's long-term CSO control plan as approved through Ordinance
17413, King County shall give the highest priority for control of CSO discharges that have the highest potential
to impact:

1. Human health through contact with CSQ flows or fish consumption; or
2. Environmental health, such as in areas where sediment remediation is under way or anticipated
or where there is potential to impact species listed under ESA.

CSOCP-4: Consistent with its legal authority, if King County constructs new projects that would
separate stormwater from its combined system that result in separated stormwater discharges to waterways,
the county shall coordinate with the city of Seattle in the city's municipal stormwater National Pollutant
Discharge Elimination System permit (MS4) process as appropriate.

CSOCP-5: King County's wastewater conveyance and treatment facilities shall not be designed to
intercept, collect and treat new sources of stormwater. However, King County may evaluate benefits and
impacts to the county system from accepting stormwater from the city of Seattle that is not currently in the
combined system and shall consider factors including, but not limited to existing capacity, benefits and costs



to ratepayers and the regional system, operational impacts, payment to county for value of the use of
available capacity and for the costs of conveyance and treatment of new sources of stormwater and
compliance with state and federal regulations and commitments.

CSOCP-6: In accordance with King County's industrial waste rules and regulations, including K.C.C.
28.84.050.K.1 and 28.84.060, the county shall accept contaminated stormwater runoff from industrial sources
and shall establish a fee to capture the cost of transporting and treating this stormwater. Specific
authorization for such discharge is required.

CSOCP-7: King County shall consider implementing green stormwater infrastructure projects to
control CSOs when results of technical, engineering, and benefit/cost analyses and modeling demonstrate it
is a viable and cost-effective CSO control method.

CSOCP-8: King County shall consider implementing joint CSO control projects with the city of
Seattle when it is cost-effective, is within county legal authorities and can be accomplished within the
schedule outlined in the Environmental Protection Agency/Washington state Department of Ecology Consent
Decree and the county's approved long-term CSO control plan.

CSOCP-9: King County shall implement its long-range sediment management strategy to address
its portion of responsibility for contaminated sediment locations associated with county CSOs and other
facilities and properties. Where applicable, the county shall implement and cost share sediment remediation
activities in partnership with other public and private parties, including the county's current agreement with the
Lower Duwamish Waterway Group, the Department of Ecology and the Environmental Protection Agency,
under the federal Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act.

CSOCP-10: Consistent with the Environmental Protection Agency/Washington state Department of
Ecology Consent Decree, King County shall assess CSO control projects, priorities and opportunities using
the most current studies and information available, for each CSO Control Plan Amendment as required by the
Department of Ecology in the National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System permit renewal process.

CSOCP-11: Before completion of an National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System required CSO
Control Plan Amendment, the executive shall submit a CSO program review report to the council and RWQC.
The purpose of the review is to evaluate, at a minimum, changes to regulations, new technologies, existing
CSO control performance, and human and environmental health priorities that may affect implementation of
the CSO Control Plan. Based on its consideration of the CSO program review, RWQC may make
recommendations to the council for modifying or amending the CSO program, including changing the
sequencing of CSO projects. Any future updates or amendments to the county's long-term CSO control plan
are subject to Environmental Protection Agency and Washington state Department of Ecology approvals.

CSCOP-12: King County shall implement its CSO control projects in accordance with the
Environmental Protection Agency/Washington state Department of Ecology Consent Decree and the
schedule outlined in the county's approved long-term CSO control plan.

CSOCP-13: King County shall prepare a water quality assessment and monitoring study, consistent
with the guidance provided in Ordinance 17413 and other applicable legal requirements, to inform the next
combined sewer overflow control program review in 2018. (Ord. 17587 § 1, 2013: Ord. 15602 § 4, 2006:
Ord. 13680 § 8, 1999).

28.86.090 Biosolids policies (BP).

A. Explanatory material. The biosolids policies are intended to guide the county to continue to
produce and market class B biosolids. The county will also continue to evaluate alternative technologies so
as to produce the highest quality marketable biosolids. This would include technologies that produce class A
biosolids.

B. Policies.

BP-1: King County shall strive to achieve beneficial use of wastewater solids. A beneficial use can
be any use that proves to be environmentally safe, economically sound and utilizes the advantageous
qualities of the material.

BP-2: Biosolids-derived products should be used as a soil amendment in landscaping projects
funded by King County.

BP-3: King County shall consider new and innovative technologies for wastewater solids processing,
energy recovery, and beneficial uses brought forward by public or private interests. King County shall seek to
advance the beneficial use of wastewater solids, effluent, and methane gas through research and
demonstration projects.

BP-4: King County shall seek to maximize program reliability and minimize risk by one or more of the
following:

1. maintaining reserve capacity to manage approximately one hundred fifty percent of projected
volume of biosolids;
2. considering diverse technologies, end products, and beneficial uses; or



3. pursuing contractual protections including interlocal agreements, where appropriate.

BP-5: King County shall produce and use biosolids in accordance with federal, state and local
regulations.

BP-6: King County shall strive to produce the highest quality biosolids economically and practically
achievable and shall continue efforts to reduce trace metals in biosolids consistent with 40 C.F.R. Part 503
pollutant concentration levels (exceptional quality) for individual metals. The county shall continue to provide
class B biosolids and also to explore technologies that may enable the county to generate class A biosolids
cost-effectively or because they have better marketability. Future decisions about technology, transportation
and distribution shall be based on marketability of biosolids products.

BP-7: When biosolids derived products are distributed outside the wastewater service area, the
county shall require that local sponsors using the products secure any permits required by the local
government body.

BP-8: King County shall work cooperatively with statewide organizations on biosolids issues.

BP-9: King County shall seek to minimize the noise and odor impact associated with processing,
transporting and applying of biosolids, consistent with constraints of economic and environmental
considerations and giving due regard to neighboring communities.

BP-10: Where cost-effective, King County shall beneficially use methane produced at the treatment
plants for energy and other purposes. (Ord. 13680 § 9, 1999).

28.86.100 Water reuse policies (WRP).

A. Explanatory material. The water reuse policies are intended to guide the county in continuing to
develop its program to produce reclaimed water. The county will coordinate its program with regional water
supply plans and work with state agencies and local jurisdictions on opportunities for water reuse. The
county will implement pilot and demonstration projects. Additional projects shall be implemented subject to
economic and financial feasibility assessments, including assessing environmental benefits and costs.

The water reuse policies, as in the treatment plant policies, intend that the county continue
producing reclaimed water at its treatment plants. The treatment plant policies also address the potential
construction of one or more satellite plants. These small plants would provide reclaimed water, with the
solids being transferred to the regional plants for processing.

B. Policies.

WRP-1: King County shall actively pursue the use of reclaimed water while protecting the public
health and safety and the environment. The county shall facilitate the development of a water reuse program
to help meet the goals of the county to preserve water supplies within the region and to ensure that any
reclaimed water reintroduced into the environment will protect the water quality of the receiving water body
and the aquatic environment.

WRP-2: By December 2007, the King County executive shall prepare for review by council a
reclaimed water feasibility study as part of a regional water supply plan which will include a comprehensive
financial business plan including tasks and schedule for the development of a water reuse program and a
process to coordinate with affected tribal and local governments, the state and area citizens. The reclaimed
water feasibility study shall be reviewed by the RWQC. At a minimum the feasibility study shall comply with
chapter 90.46 RCW and include:

1. Review of new technologies for feasibility and cost effectiveness, that may be applicable for
future wastewater planning;

2. Review of revenue sources other than the wastewater rate for distribution of reused water;

3. Detailed review and an update of a regional market analysis for reused water;

4. Review of possible environmental benefits of reused water; and

5. Review of regional benefits of reused water.

WRP-3: Recycling and reusing reclaimed water shall be investigated as a possible future significant
new source of water to enhance or maintain fish runs, supply additional water for the region’s nonpotable
uses, preserve environmental and aesthetic values and defer the need to develop new potable water supply
projects.

WRP-4: King County’'s water reuse program and projects shall be coordinated with the regional
water supply plans and regional basin plans, in accordance with state and federal standards. The
coordination shall be done with the affected water supply purveyors. Water reuse must be coordinated with
water supply/resource purveyors to ensure that resources are developed in a manner complementary with
each other to allow the most effective management of resources in the county.

WRP-5: King County shall implement nonpotable projects on a case-by-case basis. To evaluate
nonpotable projects, King County shall develop criteria which will include, but are not limited to: capital,
operation and maintenance costs; cost recovery; potential and proposed uses; rate and capacity charge
impacts; environmental benefits; fisheries habitat maintenance and enhancement potential; community and



social benefits and impacts; public education opportunities; risk and liability; demonstration of new
technologies; and enhancing economic development. A detailed financial analysis of the overall costs and
benefits of a water reuse project shall include cost estimates for the capital and operations associated with a
project, the anticipated or existing contracts for purchases of reused water, including agricultural and other
potential uses, anticipated costs for potable water when the project becomes operational; and estimates
regarding recovery of capital costs from new reused water customers versus costs to be assumed by existing
ratepayers and new customers paying the capacity charge. Water reuse projects that require major capital
funding shall be reviewed by RWQC and approved by the council.

WRP-6. King County shall work with local water purveyors, including when the local purveyors
update their water comprehensive plans, to evaluate the opportunities for water reuse within their local
service area.

WRP-7: King County shall develop an active water reuse public education and involvement program
to correspond with the development of the water reuse program and be coordinated with other water
conservation education programs.

WRP-8: King County shall utilize a forum or multiple forums to provide opportunities for coordination
and communication with the Washington state Departments of Health and Ecology, which have the principal
state regulatory roles in the planning, design and construction of reuse facilities. The county shall involve
other parties on these forums, including but not limited to, the Cormps of Engineers, Washington state
Department of Fish and Wildlife, National Marine Fisheries Service, United States Fish and Wildlife Service,
regional water suppliers, tribal governments, local water and wastewater districts, cities, local health
departments, watershed forums and environmental and community groups.

WRP-9: King County shall work, on a case-by-case basis, with the Washington state Departments
of Health and Ecology on water reuse projects including, but not limited to, those that are not specifically cited
in the 1997 Department of Health and Ecology Water Reclamation and Reuse Standards.

WRP-10: King County shall hold and maintain the exclusive right to any reclaimed water generated
by the wastewater treatment plants of King County.

WRP-11: King County’s water reuse program projects shall not impair any existing water rights
unless compensation or mitigation for such impairment is agreed to by the holder of the affected water rights.

WRP-12: King County shall retain the flexibility to produce and distribute reclaimed water at all
treatment plants including retaining options to add additional levels of treatment.

WRP-13: King County shall continue to evaluate potential funding of pilot-scale and water reuse
projects, in whole or in part, from the wastewater utility rate base.

WRP-14: King County shall complete an economic and financial feasibility assessment, including
environmental benefits, of its water reuse program. The assessment shall include the analysis of marginal
costs including stranded costs and benefits to estimate equitable cost splits between participating
governmental agencies and utilities. The assessment shall also include a review of existing and planned
water and wastewater facilities in an approved plan to ensure that water reuse facilities are justified when
any resulting redundant capacity as well as other factors are taken into account.

WRP-15: King County should pursue development of a water reuse program to discharge reclaimed
water to reduce freshwater consumption used in the operation of the Ballard Locks when environmental
benefits and financial conditions merit this investment and new program. (Ord. 15602 § 5, 2006: Ord. 13680
§ 10, 1999).

28.86.110 Wastewater services policies (WWSP).

A. Explanatory material. The wastewater services policies guide the county in both providing
wastewater services to its customers and maintaining the wastewater system in a cost-effective,
environmentally responsible manner. These policies shall also guide King County’'s development and
operation of community treatment systems.

King County provides wholesale wastewater treatment and disposal service to component agencies.
The county’s wastewater service area boundary generally coincides with the boundaries of these component
agencies, including certain areas in Snohomish county and Pierce county. The county is to provide
wastewater services to areas within the respective urban growth boundaries and in rural areas only to protect
public health and safety, in conformance with state provisions and local growth management act policies and
regulations.

B. Policies.

WWSP-1: King County shall provide wastewater services to fulfill the contractual commitments to
its component agency customers in @ manner that promotes environmental stewardship, recognizes the
value of wastewater in the regional water resource system and reflects a wise use of public funds.

WWSP-2: King County shall continue to foster tribal relations as appropriate to structure
processes for joint water quality stewardship.



WWSP-3: King County shall not accept additional wastewater directly from private facilities within
the boundaries of a component agency without the prior written consent of such component agency.

WWSP-4: King County's wastewater service area generally has been developed along those
boundaries adopted in the original metropolitan Seattle sewerage and drainage survey, substantive
portions of which were adopted as the county's comprehensive water pollution abatement plan and
amended. King County's wastewater service area consists of the service areas of the component
agencies with which a sewage disposal agreement has been established (agreement for sewage disposal,
section 2) and the county's service area boundary is the perimeter of these areas. The service area
boundary for sewer service provided to Snohomish county and Pierce county shall not exceed each
county's urban growth boundary. The service area boundary within King County shall be consistent with
countywide planning policy CO-14 and the King County Comprehensive Plan which permit sewer
expansion in rural areas and resource lands where needed to address specific health and safety
problems. To protect public health and safety, the county may assume in accordance with state
procedures, the ownership of existing sewer treatment and conveyance facilities that have been
constructed by a sewer district organized under state law.

WWSP-5: Extensions of existing conveyance facilities or construction of new conveyance
facilities must be consistent with King County's land use plans and policies, and certified by potentially
affected land use jurisdictions as consistent with their adopted land use plans and policies.

WWSP-6: King County shall operate and maintain its facilities to protect public health and the
environment, comply with regulations and improve services in a fiscally responsible manner.

WWSP-7: King County shall plan, design and construct wastewater facilities in accordance with
standards established by regulatory agencies and manuals of practice for engineering.

WWSP-8: King County shall construct, operate and maintain facilities to prevent raw sewage
overflows and to contain overflows in the combined collection system. In the event of a raw sewage
overflow, the county shall initiate a rapid and coordinated response including notification of public health
agencies, the media, the public and the affected jurisdiction. Preserving public health and water quality
shall be the highest priority, to be implemented by immediately initiating repairs or constructing temporary
diversion systems that return flow back to the wastewater system.

WWSP-9: To ensure the region’s multibillion-dollar investment in wastewater facilities, an asset
management program shall be established that provides for appropriate ongoing maintenance and repair
of equipment and facilities. The wastewater maintenance budget, staffing levels and priorities shall be
developed to reflect the long-term useful life of wastewater facilities as identified by the asset
management program

WWSP-10: The asset management program shall establish a wastewater facilities assets
management plan, updated annually, establishing replacement of worn, inefficient and/or depreciated
capital assets to ensure continued reliability of the wastewater infrastructure.

WWSP-11: King County shall design, construct, operate and maintain its facilities to meet or
exceed regulatory requirements for air, water and solids emissions as well as to ensure worker, public and
system safety.

WWSP-12: King County shall accept sewage, septage and biosolids from outside its service area
provided that it is consistent with the King County Comprehensive Plan or the comprehensive plan of the
source jurisdiction, capacity is available and no operating difficulties are created. The county shall
establish a rate to recover costs from accepting sewage, septage and biosolids from outside its service
area.

WWSP-13:  King County shall identify the potential for “liability protection” for component
agencies for unexpected costs associated with water quality requirements.

WWSP-14:  King County shall continue its long-standing commitment to research and
development funding relating to water quality and technologies for the wastewater system.

WWSP-15:  King County will consider development and operation of community treatment
systems under the following circumstances:

1. The systems are necessary to alleviate existing documented public health hazards or water
quality impairment;

2. Connections to public sewers tributary to conventional wastewater treatment facilities are not
technically or economically feasible;

3. Installation of on-site septic systems is not technically feasible;

4. Properties to be served by said systems are within the jurisdiction and service area of a local
government authority authorized to provide sewer service;

5. The local sewer service provider agrees to own and operate the collection system tributary to
the community treatment system;

6. Development of the community systems and provision of sewer service are consistent with all
applicable utility and land use plans; and

7. Public sewer extensions shall be in compliance with King County Comprehensive Plan Policy
F-313 as in effect on March 11, 1999. (Ord. 15602 § 6, 2006: Ord. 13680 § 11, 1999).



28.86.120 Water quality protection policies (WQPP).

A. Explanatory materials. The water quality protection policies are intended to guide King County
in identifying and resolving regional water quality issues, protecting public and environmental health and
protecting the public’s investment in wastewater facilities and water resource management. Research
and analysis are required and will be used to evaluate water quality in county streams and other bodies of
water within the service district.

B. Policies.

WQPP-1: King County shall participate in identifying and resolving water quality issues pertaining
to public health and ecosystem protection in the region to ensure that the public's investment in
wastewater facilities and water resource management programs is protected.

WQPP-2: King County shall evaluate the impacts and benefits of actions that affect the quality of
the region’s waters and identify measures to meet and maintain water quality standards.

WQPP-3: King County shall forecast future aquatic resource conditions that may affect
wastewater treatment decisions and work cooperatively to identify cost-effective alternatives to mitigate
water quality problems and enhance regional water quality.

WQPP-4: King County shall participate with its regional partners to identify methods, plans and
programs to enhance water quality and water resources in the region.

WQPP-5: The King County executive shall implement a comprehensive water quality monitoring
program of streams and water bodies that are or could be impacted by influent, effluent, sanitary system
overflows or CSOs. The range of data to be gathered should be based on water pollutants and elements
that scientific literature identifies as variables of concern, what is needed to substantiate the benefits of
abating combined sewer overflows and what is required by state and federal agencies. The executive
shall submit summary reports and comprehensive reviews of this information to the King County council
as outlined in K.C.C. 28.86.165.

WQPP-6: King County shall implement and maintain water quality, monitoring, evaluating and
reporting programs to support the national pollutant discharge elimination system for wastewater and
other permit applications, and ensure permit compliance.

WQPP-7: King County shall actively participate in the development of water quality laws,
standards and program development to ensure cost-effective maintenance or enhancement of
environmental and public health.

WQPP-8: King County shall assess the risk to human health and the environment from
wastewater treatment and conveyance activities, and use this information in evaluating water pollution
abatement control options. (Ord. 15384 § 2, 2006: Ord. 13680 § 12, 1999).

28.86.130 Wastewater planning policies (WWPP)

A. Explanatory material. The wastewater planning policies are intended to guide the county in its
long-term comprehensive planning for design and construction of facilities that meet the wastewater
needs of customers within the service area.

Recognizing that the RWSP is a complex and dynamic comprehensive development guide that will
regularly need to be updated, the county will conduct annual reviews of plan implementation and its
consistency with policies, and of scientific, economic and technical information as well as periodic
comprehensive reviews of the assumptions on which the RWSP is based.

These policies also express the intent of the council to request that the RWQC continue review of
the conditions and assumptions that guide the implementation of the RWSP.

B. Policies.

WWQPP-1: King County shall plan comprehensively to provide for the design and construction of
facilities that meet the wastewater system needs of the service area and shall coordinate with other local
jurisdictions to ensure that construction-related disruption to neighborhoods is minimized.

WWPP-2: In planning future wastewater systems, King County shall make a long-term
assessment of wastewater system needs.

WWHPP-3. In planning for facilities, King County shall work collaboratively with other jurisdictions
and look for opportunities to achieve cost savings.

WWQPP-4. Facility sizing shall take into account the need to accommodate build-out population.

WWPP-5: RWSP review processes. King County shall monitor the implementation of the RWSP
and conduct reviews of the RWSP as outlined in K.C.C. 28.86.165. (Ord. 15384 § 3, 2006: Ord. 13680 §
13, 1999).

28.86.140 Environmental mitigation policies (EMP).

A. Explanatory material. The environmental mitigation policies are intended to guide King County
in working with communities to develop mitigation measures for environmental impacts from the
construction and operation of wastewater facilities. These policies also ensure that the siting and



mitigation processes for wastewater facilities are consistent with the Growth Management Act and the
state Environmental Policy Act.

B. Policies.

EMP-1: King County shall work with affected communities to develop mitigation measures for
environmental impacts created by the construction, operation, maintenance, expansion or replacement of
regional wastewater facilities. These mitigation measures shall:

1. Address the adverse environmental impacts caused by the project;

2. Address the adverse environmental impacts identified in the county’s environmental
documents; and

3. Be reasonable in terms of cost and magnitude as measured against severity and duration of
impact.

EMP-2: Mitigation measures identified through the state Environmental Policy Act process shall
be incorporated into design plans and construction contracts to ensure full compliance.

EMP-3: The siting process and mitigation for new facilities shall be consistent with the Growth
Management Act and the state Environmental Policy Act, as well as the lawful requirements and
conditions established by the jurisdictions governing the permitting process.

EMP-4. King County shall mitigate the long-term and short-term impacts for wastewater facilities
in the communities in which they are located. The county’s goal will be to construct regional wastewater
facilities that enhance the quality of life in the region and in the local community, and are not detrimental to
the quality of life in their vicinity.

EMP-5: King County shall enter into a negotiated mitigation agreement with any community that is
adversely impacted by the expansion or addition of major regional wastewater conveyance and treatment
facilities. Such agreements shall be executed in conjunction with the project permit review. Mitigation
shall be designed and implemented in coordination with the local community, and shall be at least ten
percent of the costs associated with the new facilities. For the south treatment plant and for the new north
treatment plant, a target for mitigation shall be at least ten percent of individual project costs, or a
cumulative total of ten million dollars for each plant, whichever is greater, provided that mitigation funded
through wastewater revenues is consistent with: chapter 35.58 RCW; Section 230.10.10 of the King
County Charter; agreements for sewage disposal entered into between King County and component
agencies; and other applicable county ordinance and state law restrictions. (Ord. 13680 § 14, 1999).

28.86.150 Public involvement policies (PIP).

A. Explanatory material. The public involvement policies are intended to guide the county in
maintaining public information and education programs and to engage the public and component agencies
in planning, designing and operating decisions that affect them.

B. Policies.

PIP-1: King County shall maintain public information/education programs and engage the public
and component agencies of local sewer service in the planning, designing and operating decisions
affecting them.

PIP-2: King County shall develop public information and education programs to support county
wastewater programs and shall lay the groundwork for public understanding of and involvement in specific
programs.

PIP-3: King County shall involve public officials and citizens of affected jurisdictions early and
actively in the planning and decision-making process for capital projects.

PIP-4. King County shall inform affected residents and businesses in advance of capital
construction projects.

PIP-5: King County shall disseminate information and provide education to the general public,
private sector and governmental agencies regarding the status, needs and potential future of the region's
water resources.

PIP-6: King County shall actively solicit and incorporate public opinions throughout the
implementation of its comprehensive plan.

PIP-7: Beginning January 1, 2001, King County shall implement a public awareness and
education program regarding the environmental impacts and costs to wastewater rate payers of I/l in the
local and regional conveyance systems.

PIP-8: King County shall support regional water supply agencies and water purveyors in their
public education campaign on the need and ways to conserve water. King County should promote pilot
projects that support homeowner water conservation in coordination with water suppliers and purveyors,
emphasizing strategies and technologies that reduce wastewater. (Ord. 13680 § 15, 1999).

28.86.160 Financial policies (FP).
A. Under the provisions of the King County Charter and RCW 35.58.200, these financial policies
are hereby adopted and declared to be the principal financial policies of the comprehensive water pollution



abatement plan for King County, adopted by the Municipality of Metropolitan Seattle (Metro) in Resolution
No. 23, as amended, and the RWSP, a supplement to the plan.

B. Explanatory material.

1. Financial forecast and budget. Policies FP-1 through FP-10 are intended to guide the county
in the areas of prudent financial forecasting and budget planning and are included to ensure the financial
security and bonding capacity for the wastewater system. This set of policies also addresses the county's
legal and contractual commitments regarding the use of sewer revenues to pay for sewer expenses.

2. Debt financing and borrowing. Policies FP-11* through FP-14* are intended to guide the
county in financing the wastewater system capital program. These policies direct that capital costs be
spread over time to keep rates more stable for ratepayers by the county issuing bonds. A smaller share of
annual capital costs will be funded directly from sewer rates and sewer revenues and capacity charges.

3. Collecting revenue. Policies FP-15* through FP-17* are intended to guide King County in
establishing annual sewer rates and approving wastewater system capital improvement and operating
budgets. Monthly sewer rates, which are the primary source of revenue for the county's regional
wastewater system, are to be uniformly assessed on all customers. Customers with new connections to
the wastewater system will pay an additional capacity charge. The amount of that charge is set by the
council, within the constraints of state law.

4. Community treatment systems. Policy FP-18* is intended to guide the county in the financial
management of community treatment systems.

C. Policies.

1. Financial forecast and budget.

FP-1: The county shall maintain for the wastewater system a multiyear financial forecast and
cash-flow projection of six years or more, estimating service growth, operating expenses, capital needs,
reserves and debt service. The financial forecast shall be submitted by the executive with the annual
sewer rate ordinance.

FP-2: If the operations component of the proposed annual wastewater system budget increases
by more than the reasonable cost of the addition of new facilities, increased flows, new programs
authorized by the council, and inflation, or if revenues decline below the financial forecast estimate, a
feasible alternative spending plan shall be presented, at the next quarterly budget report, to the council by
the executive identifying steps to reduce cost increases.

FP-3: The executive shall maintain an ongoing program of reviewing business practices and
potential cost-effective technologies and strategies for savings and efficiencies; the results shall be
reported in the annual budget submittal and in an annual report to the RWQC.

FP-4. New technologies or changes in practice that differ significantly from existing technologies
or practices shall be reported to the council and RWQC with projected costs prior to implementation and
shall also be summarized in the RWSP annual report.

FP-5: Significant new capital and operational initiatives proposed by the Executive that are not
within the scope of the current RWSP nor included in the RWSP, or are required by new state or federal
regulations will be reviewed by the RWQC and approved by the council to ensure due diligence review of
potential impacts to major capital projects’ schedules, including Brightwater, the bond rating or the sewer
rate and capacity charge.

FP-6: The county shall maintain for the wastewater system a prudent minimum cash balance for
reserves, including, but not limited to, cash flow and potential future liabilities. The cash balance shall be
approved by the council in the annual sewer rate ordinance.

FP-7: Unless otherwise directed by the council by motion, the King County department of natural
resources and parks or its successor agency shall charge a fee that recovers all direct and indirect costs
for any services related to the wastewater system provided to other public or private organizations.

FP-8: Water quality improvement activities, programs and projects, in addition to those that are
functions of sewage treatment, may be eligible for funding assistance from sewer rate revenues after
consideration of criteria and limitations suggested by the metropolitan water pollution abatement advisory
committee, and, if deemed eligible, shall be limited to one and one half percent of the annual wastewater
system operating budget. An annual report on activities, programs and projects funded will be made to
the RWQC. Alternative methods of providing a similar level of funding assistance for water quality
improvement activities shall be transmitted to the RWQC and the council within seven months of policy
adoption.

FP-9: The calculation of general government overhead to be charged to the wastewater system
shall be based on a methodology that provides for the equitable distribution of overhead costs throughout
county government. Estimated overhead charges shall be calculated in a fair and consistent manner,
utilizing a methodology that best matches the estimated cost of the services provided to the actual
overhead charge. The overall allocation formula and any subsequent modifications will be reported to the
RWQC.

FP-10: The assets of the wastewater system are pledged to be used for the exclusive benefit of
the wastewater system including operating expenses, debt service payments, asset assignment and the



capital program associated therewith. The system shall be fully reimbursed for the value associated with
any use or transfer of such assets for other county government purposes. The executive shall provide
reports to the RWQC pertaining to any significant transfers of assets for other county government
purposes in advance of and subsequent to any such transfers.

2. Debt financing and borrowing.

FP-11: The county shall structure bond covenants to ensure a prudent budget standard.

FP-12: King County should structure the term of its borrowings to match the expected useful life
of the assets to be funded.

FP-13: The wastewater system’s capital program shall be financed predominantly by annual
staged issues of long-term general obligation or sewer revenue bonds, provided that:

All available sources of grants are utilized to offset targeted program costs;

Funds available after operations and reserves are provided for shall be used for the capital
program; excess funds accumulated in reserves may also be used for capital;

Consideration is given to competing demands for use of the county’s overall general obligation
debt capacity; and

Consideration is given to the overall level of debt financing that can be sustained over the long
term given the size of the future capital programs, potential impacts on credit ratings, and other relevant
factors such as intergenerational rate equity and the types of projects appropriately financed with long-
term debt.

FP-14: To achieve a better maturity matching of assets and liabilities, thereby reducing interest
rate risk, short-term borrowing shall be used to fund a portion of the capital program, provided that:

Outstanding short-term, variable rate debt comprises no more than twenty percent of total
outstanding revenue bonds and general obligation bonds; and

Appropriate liquidity is available to protect the day-to-day operations of the system.

3. Rates - sewer rates and capacity charge.

FP-15: King County shall charge its customers sewer rates and capacity charges sufficient to
cover the costs of constructing and operating its wastewater system. Revenues shall be sufficient to
maintain capital assets in sound working condition, providing for maintenance and rehabilitation of
facilities so that total system costs are minimized while continuing to provide reliable, high quality service
and maintaining high water quality standards.

1. Existing and new sewer customers shall each contribute to the cost of the wastewater system
as follows:

a. Existing customers shall pay through the monthly sewer rate for the portion of the existing
and expanded conveyance and treatment system that serves existing customers.

b. New customers shall pay costs associated with the portion of the existing wastewater
conveyance and treatment system that serves new customers and costs associated with expanding the
system to serve new customers. New customers shall pay these costs through a combination of the
monthly sewer rate and the capacity charge. Such rates and charges shall be designed to have growth
pay for growth.

2. Sewer rate. King County shall maintain a uniform monthly sewer rate expressed as charges
per residential customer equivalent for all customers.

a. Sewer rates shall be designed to generate revenue sufficient to cover, at a minimum, all
costs of system operation and maintenance and all capital costs incurred to serve existing customers.

b. King County should attempt to adopt a multiyear sewer rate to provide stable costs to sewer
customers. If a multiyear rate is established and when permitted upon the retirement by the county of
certain outstanding sewer revenue bonds, a rate stabilization reserve account shall be created to ensure
that adequate funds are available to sustain the rate through completion of the rate cycle. An annual
report on the use of funds from this rate stabilization account shall be provided annually to the RWQC.

c. The executive, in consultation with the RWQC, shall propose for council adoption policies to
ensure that adequate debt service coverage and emergency reserves are established and periodically
reviewed.

3. Capacity charge. The amount of the capacity charge shall be a uniform charge, shall be
approved annually and shall not exceed the cost of capital facilities necessary to serve new customers.
The methodology that shall be applied to set the capacity charge is set forth in FP-15.3.a.

a. The capacity charge shall be based on allocating the total cost of the wastewater system
(net of grants and other non rate revenues) to existing and new customers as prescribed in this
subsection. The total system cost includes the costs to operate, maintain, and expand the wastewater
system over the life of the RWSP. Total estimated revenues from the uniform monthly rate from all
customers and capacity charge payments from new customers, together with estimated non rate
revenues, shall equal the estimated total system costs. The capacity charge calculation is represented as
follows:



Capacity = [Total system costs — rate revenue from existing customers] — Rate revenue from new customers
Charge

Number of new customers

where:

(1) total system costs (net of grants and other non rate revenues) minus rate revenue
from existing customers equals costs allocated to new customers.

(2) costs allocated to new customers minus rate revenue from new customers equals the
total revenue to be recovered through the capacity charge.

(3) total capacity charge revenue requirements divided by the total number of new
customers equals the amount of the capacity charge to be paid by each new customer.

b. The capacity charge may be paid by new customers in a single payment or as a monthly
charge at the rate established by the council. The county shall establish a monthly capacity charge by
dividing that amount by one hundred eighty (twelve monthly payments per year for fifteen years). The
executive shall transmit for council adoption an ordinance to adjust the discount rate for lump sum
payment. The executive shall also transmit for council adoption an ordinance to adjust the monthly
capacity charge to reflect the county's average cost of money if the capacity charge is paid over time.

c. King County shall pursue changes in state law to enable the county to require payment
of the capacity charge in a single payment.

d. The capacity charge shall be set such that each new customer shall pay an equal share
of the costs of facilities allocated to new customers, regardless of what year the customer connects to the
system. The capacity charge shall be based upon the costs, customer growth and related financial
assumptions used for the Regional Wastewater Services Plan adopted by Ordinance 13680 as such
assumptions may be updated. Customer growth and projected costs, including inflation, shall be updated
every three years beginning in 2003.

e. The county should periodically review the capacity charge to ensure that the actual costs
of system expansion to serve new customers are reflected in the charge. All reasonable steps should be
taken to coordinate the imposition, collection of and accounting for rates and charges with component
agencies to reduce redundant program overhead costs.

f. Existing customers shall pay the monthly capacity charge established at the time they
connected to the system as currently enacted by K.C.C. 28.84.055. New customers shall pay the capacity
charge established at the time they connect to the system.

g. To ensure that the capacity charge will not exceed the costs of facilities needed to serve
new customers, costs assigned and allocated to new customers shall be at a minimum ninety five percent
of the projected capital costs of new and existing treatment, conveyance and biosolids capacity needed to
serve new customers.

h. Costs assigned and allocated to existing customers shall include the capital cost of
existing and future treatment, conveyance and biosolids capacity used by existing customers, and the
capital costs of assessing and reducing infiltration and inflow related to the use of the existing conveyance
and treatment capacity.

i. Capital costs of combined sewer overflow control shall be paid by existing and new
customers based on their average proportionate share of total customers over the life of the RWSP.

j. Operations and maintenance costs shall be paid by existing and new customers in the
uniform monthly rate based on their annual proportionate share of total customers.

k. Any costs not allocated in FP-15.3. f,, g., h., i. and j. shall be paid by existing and new
customers in the sewer rate.

I. Upon implementation of these explicit policies, the Seattle combined sewer overflow
benefit charge shall be discontinued.

4. Based on an analysis of residential water consumption, as of December 13, 1999, King
County uses a factor of seven hundred fifty cubic feet per month to convert water consumption of volume-
based customers to residential customer equivalents for billing purposes. King County shall periodically
review the appropriateness of this factor to ensure that all accounts pay their fair share of the cost of the
wastewater system.

FP-16: The executive shall prepare and submit to the council a report in support of the
proposed monthly sewer rates for the next year, including the following information:

Key assumptions: key financial assumptions such as inflation, bond interest rates, investment
income, size and timing of bond issues, and the considerations underlying the projection of future growth
in residential customer equivalents;

Significant financial projections: all key projections, including the annual projection of
operating and capital costs, debt service coverage, cash balances, revenue requirements, revenue
projections and a discussion of significant factors that impact the degree of uncertainty associated with the
projections;



Historical data: a discussion of the accuracy of the projections of costs and revenues from
previous recent budgets, and

Policy options: calculations or analyses, or both, of the effect of certain policy options on the
overall revenue requirement. These options should include alternative capital program accomplishment
percentages (including a ninety percent, a ninety-five percent and a one hundred percent accomplishment
rate), and the rate shall be selected that most accurately matches historical performance in accomplishing
the capital program and that shall not negatively impair the bond rating.

FP-17: Expenditures from the wastewater revenues to correct water pollution problems
caused by septic systems shall occur only if such expenditures financially benefit wastewater system
current customers when the additional monthly sewer rate revenues from these added customers are
considered.

FP-18. The cost of community treatment systems developed and operated in accordance
with WWSP-15 would not be subsidized by the remaining ratepayers of the county’'s wastewater treatment
system. (Ord. 17492 § 1, 2012: Ord. 15602 § 7, 2006: Ord. 14219 § 3, 2001: Ord. 14199 § 253, 2001:
Ord. 13680 § 16, 1999).

28.86.165 Reporting policies. The executive shall review the implementation of the RWSP
on a regular basis and submit the following reports to council and the RWQC:

A. Regional wastewater services plan annual report. The executive shall submit a written
report to the council and RWQC in September each year until the facilities identified in the RWSP are
operational. This report, covering the previous year's implementation, will provide the following:

1. A summary of activities for each major component of the RWSP, including treatment,
conveyance, infiltration and inflow, combined sewer overflows, water reuse, biosolids and highlights of
research and development projects underway and proposed for the coming year;

2. Details on each active RWSP project in the capital budget, including a project summary,
project highlights, project issues, upcoming activities, schedules, an expenditures summary including staff
labor and miscellaneous services, a description of adjustments to costs and schedule and a status of the
projects contracts;

3. A status of the odor prevention program, including a listing and summary of odor
complaints received and progress on implementing odor prevention policies and projects;

4. A summary of the previous year's results for the comprehensive water quality monitoring
program;

5. A review of the plan elements, including water pollution abatement, water quality, water
reclamation, Endangered Species Act compliance, biosolids management and variability of quality over
time, wastewater public health problems, compliance with other agency regulations and agreements, to
ensure it reflects current conditions; and

6. An update of anticipated RWSP program costs through the year 2030;

B.1. Comprehensive regional wastewater services plan review. The executive shall submit a
written report to council and RWQC that provides a comprehensive review of the RWSP. The report will
review the following:

a. assumptions on the rate and location of growth, the rate of septic conversions and the
effectiveness of water conservation efforts;

b. phasing and size of facilities;

c. effectiveness of RWSP policies implementation, for infiltration and inflow reduction,
water reuse, biosolids, CSO abatement, water quality protection, environmental mitigation and public
involvement; and

d. policy guidance for the construction fund and the emergency capital reserves.

2. The next comprehensive regional wastewater services plan review is due in June 2014.
Subsequent reports will be prepared every three to five years as established by the council and RWQC
following their review of the current report. The specific due date will be based upon the availability of
necessary information, the completion of key milestones, and the time needed to collect and analyze data.
The executive may recommend policy changes based on the findings of the report and other information
from changing regulations, new technologies or emerging or relevant factors.

3. The comprehensive regional wastewater services plan review will include all elements of
the RWSP annual report, replacing it for that year; and

C. Operational master plan. The RWSP Operational Master Plan that was adopted by
council in December 1999 shall be updated on a regular basis in conjunction with policy revisions to the
RWSP. (Ord. 17480 § 1, 2012: Ord. 15384 § 6, 2006).

28.86.170 Capital improvement program. The capital improvement program required to
implement the comprehensive water pollution abatement plan, as amended, including the RWSP, a
supplement to the comprehensive water pollution abatement plan, as amended, shall be prepared
pursuant to K.C.C. 4.04.200 through 4.04.270. (Ord. 13680 § 17, 1999).



28.86.180 Implementation.

A. The RWSP operational master plan that was adopted by council in December 1999, shall be
updated on a regular basis following substantive adopted policy revisions to the RWSP, and shall meet
the requirements of K.C.C. chapter 4.04.

B. The operational master plan shall contain projects related to major program elements and
shall further define as necessary the major projects, projected capacity, milestones, projected completion
dates, and estimated costs.

1. Treatment capacity.

a. Population and employment growth is projected to require the wastewater system capacity
to expand from two hundred forty-eight mgd to three hundred four mgd by 2030. The estimated cost and
list of treatment facilities and improvements to achieve this expanded capacity by 2030, shall be included
in future RWSP operational master plans, summarized in RWSP annual reports and comprehensive
reviews as outlined in K.C.C. 28.86.165.

b. The Brightwater treatment plant at the Route 9 site shall be built with a capacity of thirty-six
mgd by 2010 or as soon thereafter as possible to handle wastewater flows from a new north service area
as defined in the plan. This plant would provide secondary treatment and would discharge treated effluent
to Puget Sound. To facilitate the production of reclaimed water, the possibility of upgrading to tertiary
treatment with a freshwater outfall should be investigated prior to subsequent expansions.

c. Expanding the treatment capacity at the south treatment plant from one hundred fifteen mgd
to one hundred thirty-five mgd by 2029. This expansion would handle increased wastewater flows from
the southern and eastern portions of the service area. Some or all of the plant capacity could also be
upgraded to tertiary treatment, to meet water quality standards or facilitate water reuse, as part of future
expansions or in additions to the secondary level of treatment using available land reserves at the plant
site.

d. The west point treatment plant will be maintained at its capacity of one hundred thirty-three
mgd, primarily to serve the city of Seattle and handle flows from the combined sewers in the area.

2. Conveyance facilities.

a. Conveyance facilities are to be configured, sized, and scheduled to support the treatment
plants by conveying wastewater to and treated effluent from the plants. The estimated cost, schedule and
list of conveyance facility improvements, shall be included in future RWSP operational master plans,
summarized in RWSP annual reports and comprehensive reviews as outlined in K.C.C. 28.86.165.

b. King County will construct additional conveyance improvements (e.g., increasing
conveyance and pump station capacity and extending conveyance) to accommodate increased flows in
other parts of the service area to serve population growth in the smaller wastewater service basins and to
prevent improper discharges from the sanitary system.

3. I/l control.

a. The I/l control program shall be implemented incrementally and be limited to projects that
prove to be most cost effective. The estimated cost, schedule and list of I/l improvement projects, shall be
included in future RWSP operational master plans, summarized in RWSP annual reports and
comprehensive reviews as outlined in K.C.C. 28.86.165.

b. The goal of the I/l control program is to reduce the expense of conveyance system
improvements over time. Every ten years, beginning in 2010, the wastewater treatment division will
conduct system monitoring to update hydraulic models and measure the effectiveness of I/l control and
reduction in the system.

4. CSOs.

a. The county shall implement CSO control projects consistent with the schedule outlined in the
county's long-term CSO control plan as approved in Attachment A to Ordinance 14713* and the
Environmental Protection Agency/Washington state Department of Ecology Consent Decree.

b. Consistent with the Environmental Protection Agency/Washington state Department of
Ecology Consent Decree, the county may request refinements to the CSO program, including changes to
the sequencing of projects, in response to changing conditions, new information and new regulations.

5. Biosolids.

a. King County will continue to produce Class B biosolids using anaerobic digestion at the
south and west treatment plants and to implement the same process at the Brightwater treatment plant
until a new technology can be used reliably. The plan also proposes that the county continue to evaluate
alternative technologies to reduce the water content of biosolids while preserving their marketability. The
primary objective of this evaluation will be to identify alternatives to digesters at the west treatment plant, a
condition of the West Point Settlement Agreement.

b. As part of ongoing planning for its treatment plants, King County will periodically evaluate
conventional, alternative and new solids processing technologies using criteria such as product quality
(class A or B), marketability, odor and other potential community impacts, impact on sewer rates, reliability
of the treatment process, amount of land needed for the treatment facility and the number of truck trips



needed to transport the biosolids produced. Based on the results of this evaluation and public comment,
the executive should recommend one of three biosolids handling scenarios at any of all of the treatment
plants:

(1) continue using anaerobic digestion;

(2) supplement anaerobic digestion with another treatment technology; or

(3) replace anaerobic digestion with another treatment technology.

c. The estimated cost, schedule and list of biosolids improvement projects, shall be included in
future RWSP operational master plans, summarized in RWSP annual reports and comprehensive reviews
as outlined in K.C.C. 28.86.165.

d. The county should continue using a public-private partnership approach to recycling
biosolids such as using biosolids on working forests in King County to enhance wildlife habitat and
generate long-term income from selective timber harvests.

6. Water reuse.

a. The south and west treatment plants should continue to produce reclaimed water for non-
potable uses and explore the production of reclaimed water at new facilities. King County will explore the
production of reclaimed water at new facilities and work with water suppliers to plan and implement an
accelerated water reuse program that could augment existing water supplies.

b. If a public education and involvement program on water reuse is to be developed and
implemented, it shall be coordinated with water conservation education programs. The estimated cost,
schedule and list of water reuse projects, shall be included in future RWSP operational master plans,
summarized in RWSP annual reports and comprehensive reviews as outlined in K.C.C. 28.86.165.

7. Community treatment systems.

a. Any operations under these policies shall require an operational master plan as described in
K.C.C. 4.04.200.C.1. Failure to submit such a plan shall cause the affected capital improvement project to
be out of compliance with these polices.

b. In addition to the requirements of K.C.C. 4.04.200.C.1, an operational master plan submitted
under these policies shall include:

(1) description of career retention programs that are to be structured in a manner consistent
with the King County/metro merger, labor law and King County's labor contracts;

(2) an engineering evaluation that confirms that the selected projects are most cost effective
and technically efficacious and consistent with King County growth management policies for the
surrounding area; and

(3) explanation of how King County participation in community treatment systems is
consistent with other water pollution abatement activities of the department of natural resources and
parks, which currently operates centralized wastewater treatment facilities as contrasted with community
treatment systems. (Ord. 17587 § 2, 2013: Ord. 15602 § 8, 2006: Ord. 14199 § 254, 2001: Ord. 13680
§ 18, 1999.)

*Reviser's note: Available in the office of the clerk of the council.

28.86.200 Productivity initiative for the wastewater program.

A.1. The executive shall develop and implement a productivity initiative for the wastewater program
that would include implementing business plans, meeting annual budget targets, creating an incentive fund,
continuing to work collaboratively with labor, developing service agreements with county support agencies
and modifying certain internal wastewater program administrative policies.

2. The goals of the productivity initiative are to:
a. continue providing high quality wastewater treatment and conveyance services to the region;
b. use private sector models to improve management of the wastewater program;
c. improve cost efficiencies;
d. provide savings to the public;
. define target budgets and accountability measures for meeting those targets;
continue working collaboratively with labor; and
g. allow employees to be creative in meeting the vision of becoming the best wastewater
program.

B.1 The productivity incentive program, referred to in this subsection as "program," is hereby
created as a component of the productivity initiative. The goals of the program are to: provide financial
incentives to employees to achieve higher than projected savings to the wastewater treatment ratepayers;
encourage teamwork; and encourage employee involvement in and ownership of the business.

2. Except as otherwise excluded in this subsection, represented and nonrepresented full-time and
part-time regular and term-limited temporary employees in the wastewater program, which provides
design/construction, maintenance and operations, planning, finance and administration, technology
assessment, environmental laboratory, and industrial waste program services are eligible to participate in

bl ]



the program. However, the wastewater division manager and the wastewater division assistant manager
are not eligible.

3. The executive shall establish a reserve subaccount known as the productivity incentive fund, in
the wastewater treatment reserves fund. This reserve subaccount shall receive a pro rata share of interest
earnings from the wastewater treatment reserves fund.

4. The productivity incentive fund oversight committee is hereby created and shall be responsible for
oversight of the productivity incentive fund. The committee shall have the authority and responsibility to
determine the distribution and use of the fund, subject to the approval of the wastewater treatment division
manager. Membership in the productivity incentive fund oversight committee shall include:

a. represented employees approximately proportional to each union's percentage of employees in
the wastewater program;

b. nonrepresented employees approximately proportional to their percentage of employees in the
wastewater program,

c. two wastewater program management representatives; and

d. ex officio, nonvoting membership including, but not limited to, the office of the executive and
the department of executive services, finance and business operations division.

5. It is the intent of the council that the productivity incentive fund be used to support a variety of
incentives including, but not limited to:

a. provision of additional training opportunities for employees;

b. investments in productivity improvement projects;

c¢. funding overexpenditures on asset management and operating projects;

d. monetary payments or awards to employees; and

e. employee awards and recognition.

C.1. The productivity initiative for the wastewater program also applies to the wastewater program's
capital improvement program.

2.a. The objectives of extending the productivity initiative to the wastewater program's major capital
improvement projects are to:

(1) provide savings to ratepayers through the appropriate use of approved contracting methods
and more efficient management of consultants and contractors;

(2) refine and improve the accuracy of cost estimating for major capital improvement projects;
and

(3) test the efficacy of different approved contracting methods and contract incentives in
reducing the overall cost and time needed to complete major capital improvement projects.

b. For a major capital improvement project, which, for the purposes of this section, means a
capital improvement project with an estimated cost of one million dollars or more, to be eligible for the
productivity initiative, the wastewater treatment division must use the following best practices:

(1) determining the difference between the level of service of the current capital assets and the
needed level of service for the new or upgraded asset. The wastewater treatment division shall identify how
the project under consideration will achieve the planned or required results;

(2) evaluating alternative approaches to achieving the results;

(3) integrating organizational goals into the major capital decision-making process;
(4) establishing a review and approval framework supported by analysis;

(5) tracking project costs, schedule and performance; and

(6) evaluating results and incorporating lessons learned.

c. Project targets for major capital improvement projects in the productivity initiative shall be
determined by an independent third party.

3.a. The objectives of extending the productivity initiative to the wastewater program's asset
management program are to:

(1) provide savings to ratepayers through the development of a more strategic approach to the
maintenance and replacement of wastewater assets;

(2) refine and improve the accuracy of budget forecasting for wastewater asset management;

(3) improve reliability of the wastewater treatment system;

(4) test new asset management techniques on a subgroup of assets and determine the
applicability of these technigues to the rest of the wastewater system;

(5) compare the costs of using in-house resources to perform small capital construction projects
versus the more traditional practice of contracting out this work; and

(6) provide incentives for employees to develop innovative approaches to asset management.

b. Application of the productivity initiative for the wastewater program to asset management
maintenance and replacement projects shall be limited to categories of assets for which detailed information
on historical maintenance costs, current replacement costs, and a determination of remaining useful life
have been developed.

4. Certain capital program work of the wastewater program has traditionally been performed by
independent contractors procured by the county rather than county employees. If the wastewater program



begins to use county employees for all or any portion of such capital program work in connection with
implementation of the productivity initiative, subsequent use of independent contractors shall not be limited
as a result of this temporary pilot project.

5.a. The executive shall, by June of each year, file with the clerk of the council for distribution to the
chair of the council and the chair of the labor, operations and technology committee, or its successor
committee, an annual report that evaluates the implementation of the productivity initiative for the
wastewater program. Based on the experience, data and analysis from 2004 and 2005, the executive shall,
by June 20086, file with the clerk of the council for distribution to the chair of the council and the chair of the
labor, operations and technology committee, or its successor committee, recommendations for
modifications that may be needed, together with any necessary proposed legislation, to help further the
goals and objectives outlined in this section.

b. The executive shall facilitate a thorough review of the productivity initiative for the wastewater
program no later than December 31, 2010. The review shall be undertaken by an independent third party
hired and supervised by the county auditor, with input from the wastewater program, and shall provide for a
report to the council, which shall be filed with the clerk of the council for distribution to the chair of the council
and the chair of the labor, operations and technology committee, or its successor committee. The review is
to determine how effective the productivity initiative has been in achieving the goals and objectives in this
section.

c. The productivity initiative for the wastewater program expires April 30, 2011, unless before that
date an ordinance is enacted to continue the productivity initiative. Any major capital improvement project
included in the productivity initiative, for which targets have been set by April 30, 2011, as specified in
subsection C.2.c of this section, may continue with provisions of the productivity initiative applied through the
completion of the project.

6. King County's wastewater treatment system shall continue to be maintained as a public facility
and shall be managed and operated by public employees for so long as the productivity initiative is in effect.
(Ord. 14941 § 4, 2004).

V. PUBLIC TRANSIT
28.91 GOALS (Formerly ESTABLISHMENT AND GOALS)

Sections:
28.91.020 Goals.

28.91.020 Goals. It is the mission of the department of transportation to provide the best possible
public transportation services that improve the quality of life in King County.

The director shall, on at least an annual basis, report to the council on the performance of the public
transportation services program, and shall propose goals and objectives for the following budget year. (Ord.
11962 § 2, 1995).

28.92 DEFINITIONS

Sections:
28.92.010 Definitions.
28.92.030 Bus Shelters.
28.92.040 Commercial Activities.
28.92.050 Comprehensive Plan.
28.92.051 Department.
28.92.052 Director.
28.92.060 Flextime Program.
28.92.070 Government.
28.92.080 Marginal cost per service hour.
28.92.090 Newsracks.
28.92.100 Off-peak trip.
28.92.105 Other passenger facilities.
28.92.110 Park & Ride Lots.
28.92.115 Peak Period Trip.
28.92.120 Person.
28.92.130 Persons with Disabilities.
28.92.140 Public Communication Activities.
28.92.150 Public Transportation Services.



28.92.160 Transit Center(s).

28.92.170 Transit property(ies).

28.92.175 Transit vehicle(s).

28.92.180 Transit vehicle(s).

28.92.190 Tunnel facilities.

28.92.200 Tunnel mezzanine area(s).
28.92.210 Tunnel platform area(s).
28.92.220 Tunnel plaza areas or plaza areas.

28.92.010 Definitions. The following words and phrases when used in this chapter shall have the
meanings hereinafter set forth in this section, whether appearing in capital or lower case form. If not defined
below, the words and phrases used in this title shall have their common and ordinary meanings to the degree
consistent with the technical subjects herein or the meanings set forth elsewhere in this title of the King
County Code. (Ord. 11033 § 3 (part), 1993).

28.92.030 Bus Shelters. Bus shelters shall mean those structures located in bus loading zones
which provide cover to waiting passengers. (Ord. 11033 § 3 (part), 1993).

28.92.040 Commercial Activities. Commercial activities shall mean engaging in activities which
are primarily of a business or commercial purpose, including but not limited to selling, offering for sale,
displaying, distributing or providing any goods, merchandise or services as well as any advertising, promotion
or conveying of information or materials related to such goods, merchandise or services. Provided, however,
a passenger who, while using the transit system, merely wears clothing or buttons which bear a lawful
commercial message or lawfully parks a vehicle which bears a lawful commercial message shall not be
deemed to be engaged in a commercial activity requiring authorization under K.C.C. 28.96.310. (Ord. 11950
§ 3, 1995:; Ord. 11033 § 3 (part), 1993).

28.92.050 Comprehensive plan. Comprehensive plan shall mean the public transportation
comprehensive plan adopted by Resolution No. 6641 of the council of the Municipality of Metropolitan Seattle
and all amendments thereto. (Ord. 11962 § 3, 1995).

28.92.051 Department. Department shall mean the department of King County which is
responsible for the provision of public transportation services. (Ord. 11950 § 4, 1995).

28.92.052 Director. Director shall mean the director of the department or a duly authorized
designee. (Ord. 11950 § 5, 1995: Ord. 11431 § 1, 1994),

28.92.060 Flextime Program. Flextime program shall mean a program for employers who have at
least twenty-five percent (25%) of their employees shifts beginning or ending at times other than 7:15-8:25
a.m. and 4:30-5:30 p.m. (Ord. 11033 § 3 (part), 1993).

28.92.070 Government. Government shall refer to any agency of the federal or state government
and any city, county or municipal corporation of the State of Washington. (Ord. 11033 § 3 (part), 1993).

28.92.080 Marginal cost per service hour. Marginal cost per service hour which may be
calculated separately for bus and transit van service, shall mean the direct operating cost of providing an
additional hour of each type of service, including operator wages and benefits, customer service costs, fuel
costs and vehicle maintenance costs. (Ord. 11962 § 4, 1995).

28.92.090 Newsracks. Newsracks shall mean any stand, box, structure, rack, or other device
which is designed and used for the sale of and/or distribution of newspapers, periodicals, magazines, or other
publications or combinations of the same. The placement of newsracks in or on passenger facilities shall be
governed by separate policies otherwise approved by the council. (Ord. 11033 § 3 (part), 1993).

28.92.100 Off-peak trip. Off-peak trip means any scheduled trip that is not a peak period trip.
(Ord. 11033 § 3 (part), 1993).

28.92.105 Other passenger facilities. Other passenger facilities or passenger facilities shall mean
all transit passenger facilities, other than tunnel facilities, including but not limited to transit centers, park and
ride lots, bus shelters and streetcar platforms, whether owned, leased or operated by the department.



"Passenger facilities” does not include public streets and sidewalks adjacent to the facility unless the public
streets and sidewalks are covered under a use or other permit granted to the county for transit purposes.
(Ord. 11950 § 6, 1995).

28.92.110 Park & Ride Lots. Park & ride lots shall mean locations at which persons park their
individual vehicles and transfer to a county vehicles or car/vanpool vehicles, including all physical
improvements and landscaping. (Ord. 11962 § 5, 1995).

28.92.115 Peak Period Trip. Peak period trip means any scheduled weekday trip that reaches its
destination between 6:00 a.m. and 9:00 a.m. or leaves its origin between 3:00 p.m. and 6:00 p.m., excluding
weekdays on which the following holidays are legally observed: New Year's Day; Martin Luther King, Jr.,
Day; Presidents' Day; Memorial Day; Independence Day; Labor Day; Veterans' Day; Thanksgiving Day; and
Christmas Day. (Ord. 17130 § 2, 2011: Ord. 11033 § 3 (part), 1993).

28.92.120 Person. Person shall mean any individual, firm, partnership, corporation, organization,
association or entity of any kind. (Ord. 11033 § 3 (part), 1993).

28.92.130 Persons with Disabilities. Persons with disabilities shall refer to those persons who, by
reason of illness, injury, congenital malfunction, or other permanent or temporary incapacity or disability,
including those who are non-ambulatory and those with semi-ambulatory capabilities, are unable without
special facilties or special planning or design to utilize mass transportation facilities and services as
effectively as persons who are not so affected. (Ord. 11431 § 2, 1994 Ord. 11033 § 3 (part), 1993).

28.92140 Public Communication Activities. Public communication activities shall mean
communicating or attempting to communicate to the public (1) with intent to convey a particularized message
of a political, social, religious, ideological or philosophical nature and (2) in a manner likely to be understood
by those who receive it, including such methods as: public speaking; posting or distributing flyers, pamphlets,
brochures, books or other written material; musical performance, including the passive acceptance of
donations by the performer; collecting petition signatures; political campaigning; demonstrating and carrying
signs; and soliciting or receiving funds or contributions of any kind by an organization registered with the
Secretary of State under chapter 19.09 RCW and any other office requiring registration for charitable
solicitations under applicable law. Provided, however, the offering for sale and sale of goods or merchandise
shall constitute "commercial activities” and not "public communications activities" unless the goods or
merchandise are inextricably intertwined with a political, social, religious, ideological or philosophical
message. Provided, further, a passenger who, while using the transit system, merely wears clothing or
buttons which bear a lawful message or lawfully parks a vehicle which bears a lawful message shall not be
deemed to be engaged in a public communications activity subject to the limitations and prohibitions of
28.96.210. (Ord. 11950 § 7, 1995: Ord. 11033 § 3 (part), 1993).

28.92.150 Public Transportation Services. Public transportation services shall include
transportation in buses, transit vans, dial-a-ride vehicles, vanpools, and paratransit vehicles; and shall also
include department services supporting transportation in carpools and other alternatives to single occupant
vehicles. (Ord. 11962 § 6, 1995).

28.92.160 Transit Center(s). Transit center(s) shall mean locations where transit vehicles have a
common terminus and facilities are provided to facilitate passenger boarding, deboarding, and transfers
between transit vehicles, including all physical improvements and landscaping. (Ord. 11962 § 7, 1995).

28.92.170 Transit property(ies). Transit property(ies) shall mean all vehicles and facilities used in
the transit system including transit vehicles, tunnel facilities and other passenger facilities. (Ord. 11950 § 8,
1995).

28.92.175 Transit vehicle(s). Transit vehicle(s) shall mean all transit passenger vehicles including
buses, transit vans, dial-a-ride vehicles, paratransit vans, trolleys, street railcars and any other revenue
service vehicles operated by or on behalf of the department, but not including vanpool vans. (Ord. 11962 § 8,
1995).

28.92.180 Transit vehicle(s). Transit vehicle(s) shall mean all transit passenger vehicles including
buses, paratransit vans, trolleys, street railcars and any other revenue service vehicle operated by or on
behalf of the department, but not including vanpool vans. (Ord. 11950 § 9, 1995).



28.92.190 Tunnel facilities. Tunnel facilities shall mean the stations providing access to the buses
running in the downtown Seattle tunnel corridor and related facilities including the roadway at and between
stations, platform levels, mezzanine levels and above ground plazas. (Ord. 11950 § 11, 1995).

28.92.200 Tunnel mezzanine area(s). Tunnel mezzanine area(s) or mezzanine area(s) are those
portions of the Westlake, University Street and Pioneer Square tunnel stations which are between the
surface level entrance to the station and the platform level where transit vehicles operate. (Ord. 11950 § 10,
1995).

28.92.210 Tunnel platform area(s). Tunnel platform area(s) or platform area(s) are those portions
of each tunnel station where the public boards and exits transit vehicles. (Ord. 11950 § 12, 1995).

28.92.220 Tunnel plaza areas or plaza areas. Tunnel plaza areas or plaza areas are those
portions of the International District/Chinatown and Convention Place tunnel stations that are located at the
surface street level and that provide access or egress to the subsurface levels. (Ord. 15074 § 2, 2004: Ord.
11950 § 13, 1995).

28.94 PUBLIC TRANSIT

Sections:
28.94.020 Transit routes and classes of service.
28.94.030 Public transit zones.
28.94.032 Downtown Seattle transit tunnel station.
28.94.035  ADA paratransit program.
28.94.045 King County metro community transportation program and services.
28.94.070 Mitigation of adverse impacts on public transportation.
28.94.080  Alternative fuel systems.
28.94.090 Historic vehicle fleet.
28.94.100 Public restroom policy for public transit program.
28.94.110  Commute trip reduction program.
28.94.120 Authorization to adopt administrative rules and procedures.
28.94.225 Ride free services agreements.
28.94.255 Regional reduced fare permit memorandum of understanding.
28.94.265  Annual reports on services and fares.
28.94.280  Transit Good Neighbor program.

28.94.020 Transit routes and classes of service. The director shall implement the system of
public transit routes and services described in this section.

A. Regular routes shall include numbered routes and descriptions therefor as established and
revised from time to time by the council. The regular routes, including implementation dates, shall be
described in a document called "Public Transit Regular Routes.” The director shall ensure that said routes
shall be operated and implemented except as otherwise provided in this section.

B. Changes to regular routes shall be subject to approval by the council except as specifically
provided in this section.

1. The director is authorized to approve and implement the following changes of established routes
and schedules and to update the "Public Transit Regular Routes" document accordingly:

a. any single change or cumulative changes in a service schedule that affect the established
weekly service hours for a route by twenty-five percent or less;

b. any change in route location that does not move the location of any route stop by more than
one half mile; and

c. any changes in route numbers.

2. In addition, if, in the opinion of the director, an emergency exists that requires any change to
established routes, schedules or classes of service, the director may implement such a change for such a
period as may be necessary in the director's judgment or until such a time as the council shall establish by
ordinance otherwise. Such changes that the director intends to be permanent shall be reported in writing to
the chair of the council. If an emergency exists as provided for in this subsection B.2, the director may waive
or discount fares otherwise established in K.C.C. chapter4.150.



C. Other routes, such as but not limited to tripper service, limited, special, customized and other
types of transit routes, may be established by the director consistent with annual appropriations and the
comprehensive plan.

D. The director shall establish transit schedules for all routes and classes of service consistent with
annual appropriations and the comprehensive plan.

E. The director shall periodically review and evaluate the effectiveness of all public transit routes and
services, requests for changes to the routes and services, and the requirements of the comprehensive plan
and shall prepare recommendations to the council for changes to routes and services.

F. Within service area boundaries approved by the council and consistent with annual
appropriations and the comprehensive plan, the director is authorized to plan, implement and modify dial-a-
ride service (DART), including, but not limited to, establishing general routes from which vehicles may deviate
in response to demand.

G. The director is authorized and directed to establish such guidelines, and procedures as may be
necessary to implement the policies set forth in this chapter. In establishing such guidelines and procedures,
the director shall provide for consultation with citizens and each component jurisdiction in advance of any
major route or service changes affecting such jurisdictions. (Ord. 17130 § 11, 2011: Ord. 11962 § 10,
1996: Ord. 11431 § 4, 1994. Ord. 11033 § 5, 1993).

28.94.030 Public transit zones. The system of zones for public transit service described in this
section is hereby established. The director may provide for other special and buffer zones for particular
periods of time or purposes and may impose special conditions, regulations or limitations on travel and fares
within said zones. Public transit zones within the boundaries of the county shall be described as follows:

A. "Zone 1 Seattle" is that portion of King County lying east of Puget Sound and west of Lake
Washington; and bounded on the north by a line beginning in Puget Sound on the westerly projection of
Northwest 145th Street, thence easterly along said projection and Northwest 145th Street and North 145th
Street and Northeast 145th Street including any straight line projections to discontinuous sections of said
streets to Lake Washington; and bounded on the south by the following described line: beginning at a point
where the City of Seattle-King County boundary intersects the shoreline of Puget Sound at Seola Beach
Drive Southwest, thence northerly and easterly along the City of Seattle-King County boundary to Olson
Place Southwest, thence northerly along Olson Place Southwest and 1st Avenue South to South Cloverdale
Street, thence easterly along South Cloverdale Street to 14th Avenue South, thence northerly along 14th
Avenue South and 16th Avenue South, thence southerly along East Marginal Way South to South Boeing
Access Road, thence easterly along South Boeing Access Road and South Ryan Way to the City of Seattle-
King County boundary at 51st Avenue South, thence easterly along the City of Seattle-King County boundary
to the west shoreline of Lake Washington on the easterly projection of South Ryan Street.

B. "Zone 2 county” is that portion of King County lying outside the boundaries of Zone 1 Seattle.
(Ord. 11033 § 6, 1993).

28.94.032 Downtown Seattle transit tunnel stations. The stations in the downtown Seattle transit
tunnel shall be known as Convention Place Station, Westlake Station, University Street Station, Pioneer
Square Station and International District/Chinatown Station. (Ord. 15074 § 3, 2004).

28.94.035 ADA paratransit program.

A. As required in 49 C.F.R. pt. 37, subpart F, the county shall provide paratransit or other special
services, referred to in this section, K.C.C. 28.94.045 and K.C.C. 28.94.245* as "ADA paratransit services,"
to individuals eligible under the federal Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, referred to in this section,
K.C.C. 28.94.045 and K.C.C. 28.94.245" as "ADA". The county may supplement the ADA paratransit
services with other service described in K.C.C. 28.94.045.

B. ADA paratransit services shall be provided during the same hours and days as regular, fixed,
non-commuter bus service, within corridors that extend three-fourths of a mile on either side of the regular,
fixed, non-commuter bus routes, as the routes may be amended from time to time.

C. ADA paratransit services shall be provided on a curb-to-curb basis.

D. ADA paratransit services shall be provided on an advance reservations basis, on the day before
the occurrence of the ride requested.

E. ADA paratransit services may include requiring riders to transfer from one paratransit vehicle to
another as part of the trip requested by the rider.

F. Subscription service shall not be provided as part of the ADA paratransit services.

G. ADA paratransit services may include feeder service to and from an accessible bus zone for
individuals who are able to use the fixed route system.



H. In furtherance of the ADA paratransit program, the director may:

1. Organize and manage the provision of ADA paratransit services, including but not limited to call-
taking, scheduling, dispatching, operations and vehicle maintenance, and, subject to applicable contracting
and procurement requirements, enter into agreements with public and private agencies and entities for the
provision of one or more of the services;

2. Develop and implement procedures in accordance with 49 C.F.R. pt. 37, subpart F, for the
certification of ADA paratransit eligibility and the suspension of ADA paratransit service to eligible individuals
with a documented pattern or practice of missing scheduled rides. The suspensions shall not be processed
according to the procedures dealing with suspensions related to violations of rules of conduct on transit
property and facilities as set forth elsewhere in K.C.C. chapter 28.96;

3. Develop and implement procedures for ADA paratransit service, and establish eligibility,
administrative and operations procedures and referral services for the services;

4. Encourage the participation of, and enter into agreements with, public and private agencies and
entities to coordinate their transportation resources as provided in this section;

5. Enter into agreements with other transit agencies to establish procedures for allocating
paratransit trips and the cost of paratransit services to ADA-eligible riders seeking to transfer between
transportation systems or cross jurisdictional boundaries and allocate the costs of providing paratransit
services where the paratransit services of the other agencies overlap the county’'s ADA paratransit services;
and

6. Submit plans, reports and information to the Federal Transit Administration as may be required
under applicable federal regulations. (Ord. 13441 § 2, 1999).

*Reviser's note: K.C.C. 28.94.245 was recodified as K.C.C. 4.150.210 by Ordinance 17130 § 9, 2011.

28.94.045 King County metro community transportation program and services.

A. The King County metro community transportation program is hereby established to supplement
available public and private transportation services operating in King County that are targeted to individuals
with special transportation needs. Individuals with special transportation needs shall include those individuals
who, because of physical or mental disability, income status, or age are unable to transport themselves or to
purchase appropriate transportation. Services provided under this section may be implemented and updated
by the director as provided in this chapter and within annual appropriations.

B. King County metro community transportation program paratransit services may be provided daily
between the hours of six a.m. and ten p.m. unless otherwise specified in this section, and may include:

1. For individuals who meet the eligibility criteria for ADA paratransit services, services provided in
the area of the county within corridors that extend three-quarter miles on either side of regular, fixed, non-
commuter bus routes, as the routes may be amended from time to time. The area shall expand and contract
during the same days and hours as the regular, fixed, non-commuter bus routes; provided further that the
easternmost paratransit service corridor shall extend one and one-half miles to the east of the easternmost
regular, fixed, non-commuter bus route; and provided further that when such paratransit service corridors as
specified herein result in areas within the King County Urban Growth Boundary being surrounded on all sides
by paratransit service corridors, such areas shall be included in the service area for King County metro
community transportation program paratransit services.

2. For individuals who meet the eligibility criteria for ADA paratransit services, services provided
with door-to-door driver assistance when such assistance is determined to be essential, using criteria
established by the director. The director or designee shall determine the days and hours and the
conditions under which these services can be provided safely and when they will be provided outside the
established King County metro community transportation service hours and service area in response to
the special transportation needs of individual riders;

3. For individuals who meet the eligibility criteria for ADA paratransit services, services provided
with hand-to-hand driver assistance when such assistance is determined to be essential, using criteria
established by the director, and when such individuals are sponsored by an agency or other organization
that enters into a contract with the county for the assistance. The director or designee shall determine the
days and hours and conditions under which these services can be provided safely and when they will be
provided outside the established King County metro community transportation service hours and service
area in response to the special transportation needs of individual riders;

4. For individuals who meet the eligibility criteria for ADA paratransit services, an advance
reservation period that may be extended up to seven days in advance of the occurrence of the ride
requested. However, any extension of the reservation period shall not adversely affect the system
capacity for scheduling ADA paratransit program rides requested;



5. For individuals who meet the eligibility criteria for ADA paratransit services, subscription
service arranged for individuals who establish a recurrent pattern of travel that, under criteria established
by the director, provides for the efficient operation of the services. However, the arrangements shall not

6. For individuals who have a valid regional reduced fare permit, are at least eighteen years of
age and have an annual income at or below seventy percent of the median income for the state of
Washington, as determined from time to time by the Washington State Department of Social and Health
Services and adjusted for family size, and who live too far from regular, fixed, non-commuter bus routes or
general public dial-a-ride service, transportation services to and from the bus routes or dial-a-ride service
may be provided. The director or designee shall determine the days and hours and conditions under
which these services can be provided safely and when they will be provided outside the established King
County metro community transportation service hours and service area in response to the special
transportation needs of individual riders. The services shall not be provided if the individual can make
other public or private transportation arrangements.

C. King County metro community transportation program paratransit services may be provided to
public and private agencies who share in the cost of service delivery and whose participants:

1. Meet the eligibility criteria for ADA paratransit services;

2. Have a valid regional reduced fare permit, are at least eighteen years of age and have an
annual income at or below seventy percent of the median income for the state of Washington, as
determined from time to time by the Washington State Department of Social and Health Services and
adjusted for family size;

3. Are deemed eligible as participants to attend programs at or with agencies that participate in
the county’s community partnership services under D of this section; or

4. Have special transportation needs and are participants, customers or clients at programs,
agencies or other entities that enter into contracts with the county to coordinate or share their
transportation resources with the county and its service providers for the purpose of maximizing the
provision of transportation services and the use of all available county and non-county resources. The
director or designee shall determine when such paratransit services may be provided outside the
established King County metro community transportation program service area in response to the special
transportation needs of individual riders. Insofar as practicable, the county shall secure commitments from
the public and private agencies so that by the 2004 their share of the costs of providing the services is not
less than twenty-five percent. Cost participation by agencies may include direct or in-kind cost
contributions.

D. Community partnership services, including but not limited to operating, capital and technical
support and resources, to support volunteer and other transportation services may be provided and
updated by the director as provided in this chapter. The individuals identified in C of this section are
eligible for the services. The services shall be allocated, subject to applicable contracting and
procurement requirements, to public or private non-profit entities and municipalities within King County
that provide or sponsor social services to eligible individuals and to other entities whose participation
enhances the county’s transportation and transportation-related human and community services goals and
objectives. Planning for community partnership services shall include those agencies in King County are
responsible for establishing service goals for eligible populations. This may include, but is not limited to,
the King County department of human services, the Area Agency on Aging and the Seattle-King County
public health department.

E. Services to assist individuals in using the most cost-effective, appropriate and available
transportation resource or resources may be made available to individuals eligible under C of this section,
and may include:

1. Bus travel training and orientation services; and
2. Information and referral services.

F. The executive shall initiate an effort to increase the availability of accessible vehicles in the
local taxicab industry that do not charge rates greater than for nonaccessible vehicles. The goal of such
an effort must be to achieve at least ten percent accessibility in the taxicabs licensed by the county by the
year 2001.

G. In furtherance of the King County metro community transportation program, the director may:

1. Organize and manage the provision of King County metro community transportation program
paratransit services, including but not limited to call-taking, scheduling, dispatching, operations and
vehicle maintenance, and, subject to applicable contracting and procurement requirements, enter into
agreements with public and private agencies and entities for the provision of one or more of the services;

2. Develop and implement procedures, and establish eligibility, administrative and operations
procedures and referral services, for the King County metro community transportation program;



3. Encourage the participation and enter into agreements with public and private agencies and
entities to coordinate their transportation resources as provided in this section; and

4. Enter into agreements with other transit agencies to establish procedures for allocating King
County metro community transportation program paratransit trips and the cost of King County metro
community transportation program paratransit services for riders seeking to transfer between
transportation systems or cross jurisdictional boundaries and to allocate the costs of providing paratransit
services where the paratransit services of the other agencies overlap the county’s paratransit services.
(Ord. 13441 § 3, 1999).

28.94.070 Mitigation of adverse impacts on public transportation.

A. To assist in mitigating the adverse impacts of new or existing developments on public
transportation and to meet requirements on new or existing developments established by local
jurisdictions, the executive is authorized to enter into agreements with developers, employers, property
owners and local jurisdictions under which such parties would donate property or cash to the department
for public transportation purposes and/or compensate the department for services, including but not
limited to certifying and administering carpool parking and monitoring private sector transportation
management programs and actions; provided, that such agreements shall be approved by the council as
required by the county charter, ordinance and/or applicable state law; and provided further, that such
donations and agreements must be approved by the local jurisdiction imposing such requirements.

B. Each agreement shall include a termination for convenience provision and a term of not
greater than five years.

C. The provisions of this section shall not supersede the terms of the Commuter Pool Transfer
Agreement executed by the City of Seattle and Municipality of Metropolitan Seattle on March 15, 1984.

D. The director shall submit annual reports to the council on the number and nature of donations
accepted and agreements entered into under this section. (Ord. 11962 § 11, 1995).

28.94.080 Alternative fuel systems. It is the policy of the county to consider alternative fuel
systems, including electric trolleys, clean diesel and natural gas, when procuring new buses and trolleys for
the transit fleet. (Ord. 11962 § 12, 1995).

28.94.090 Historic vehicle fleet.

A. The department shall maintain the historic vehicle fleet established by Metro.

B. The following criteria shall be employed by the director for making decisions on additions to
the county's historic vehicle fleet:

1. The vehicle must have been operated in public transit service in the Seattle/King County area
by the county or one of its predecessor operators. It is the intent that the historic vehicle fleet be limited to
vehicles actually operated in the service area of the county.

2. A significant number of these vehicles should have operated in the Seattle/King County area
for an extended period of time (at least ten years).

3. The vehicle should have introduced a significant innovation in the transit industry or a
significant feature benefiting transit riders in the Seattle/King County area.

4. The vehicle should be significant because of its rarity or uniqueness, either as a vehicle type
or as a representative of a predecessor transit operator.

C. To be considered for historic vehicle status, a report will be prepared for submission to the
director describing the vehicle and detailing the result of the application of each criterion. Final
determination of historic vehicle status rests with the director.

D. Once a vehicle has been determined by the director to be an historic vehicle, it will be retained
as a part of the historic vehicle fleet.

E. If the council determines to dispose of or discontinue the historic vehicle fleet, to the extent
permitted by applicable law, the fleet or individual historic vehicles may be offered to the Metro Employees
Historic Vehicle Association, as contemplated by the agreement entered into by Metro and said
Association, or to a local museum.

F. The division may accept donations of parts for the historic vehicle fleet when such
donations have a total value of $10,000 or less. Any gift of parts having a value greater than $10,000 shall
be subject to the provisions of K.C.C. 2.80.010. (Ord. 13032 § 1, 1998: Ord. 11033 § 12, 1993).

28.94.100 Public restroom policy for public transit program.
A. The county will provide public restrooms at transit centers that meet the following criteria.



1. The transit center has been designed and sited principally to facilitate transfers between
different routes.

2. The transit center is to be developed off-street on property that the county either owns or
controls through a long-term lease.

3. County service through the transit center makes significant use of "timed meet" schedules.

4. The transit center has capacity for eight or more in-service coaches; layover bays or terminal
space do not count toward meeting this capacity requirement.

5. There is adequate space on the transit center platform to provide a restroom facility without
compromising operating requirements.

6. A daily platform population of 2,000 or more patrons is projected. This includes transfer
activity as well as trips originating or terminating at the center.

7. Atleast 25 buses per peak hour pass through the transit center.

8. Independent of any decision to provide a public restroom, the level of operational activity at
the transit center justifies the on-site assignment of a service supervisor for all or a portion of the operating
day.

B. If these criteria are met, the public restroom will be a uni-sex facility that will be used both by
county employees and by the general public. The restroom will only be available to the public for those
hours when a department representative is scheduled to be on-site to manage the service. During those
hours, public access to the facility will be controlled by this supervisor.

C. If a local jurisdiction or adjacent property owners wish to expand hours of public access to the
restroom beyond those available through the department's normal staff assignments, the local jurisdiction
or property owner and the county may elect to enter into an agreement to share the additional operating
costs for expanded restroom hours; provided, that such agreements shall be approved by the council as
required by the King County Charter, ordinance and/or applicable state law.

D. The department shall not provide public restrooms at any of the county's customer facilities
that do not meet the criteria above, including the Downtown Seattle Tunnel.

E. The county will not staff its customer facilities simply to maintain or expand hours of access to
public restrooms. (Ord. 11962 § 13, 1995).

28.94.110 Commute trip reduction program. To assist local and state agencies in implementing
RCW 70.94.521 et seq., known as the Commute Trip Reduction Law, the director is authorized to develop
and administer a commute trip reduction ("CTR") program to provide technical expertise in demand
management strategies and administrative services such as employer assistance, worksite identification and
notification, database development, program review and reporting, and ordinance development to such
agencies and/or employers. The executive is authorized to enter into agreements with local and state
agencies and/or employers in King County under which the department would provide and the agencies
and/or employers would pay for such technical expertise and administrative services; provided, that the
department shall recover its costs to the maximum extent practicable under such agreements; and provided
further, that such agreements shall be approved by the county council to the extent such approval is required
by the King County Charter, ordinance and/ applicable state law. (Ord. 11962 § 14, 1995).

28.94.120 Authorization to adopt administrative rules and procedures. The director is
authorized to adopt such administrative rules and procedures as are necessary to implement the provisions
of this chapter. (Ord. 11033 § 15, 1993).

28.94.225 Ride free services agreements. The executive is authorized to execute agreements
to provide ride free services within geographic areas. Any such agreements shall be subject to approval
by the council. (Ord. 17130 § 12, 2011: Ord. 12643 § 15, 1997).

28.94.255 Regional reduced fare permit memorandum of understanding. The executive is
hereby authorized to execute and administer a regional reduced fare permit memorandum of
understanding, substantially in the form of Exhibit A, attached to Ordinance 11640, with Puget Sound
transit agencies and the Washington State Ferry System. (Ord. 12643 § 21, 1997).

28.94.265 Annual reports on services and fares. The director shall submit annually to the
council, by no later than the date on which the executive transmits the executive proposed budget to the
council, a report on the services and fares authorized by K.C.C. 28.94.035, 4.150.230, 4.150.130,
4.150.090, 4.150.070, 4.150.050, 4.150.450, 4.150.410, 4.150.110, 28.94.225, 4.150.530, 4.150.350,
4.150.610 and 4.150.210. (Ord. 17130 § 10, 2011: Ord. 16702 § 5, 2009: Ord. 12643 § 23, 1997).



28.94.280 Transit Good Neighbor program.

A. There shall be established within the Metro transit division of the King County department of
transportation a Transit Good Neighbor program, which shall be implemented in cooperation with
interested cities and the labor unions representing transit division employees. The purpose of the Transit
Good Neighbor program is to obtain additional transit capital funds for bus shelters, benches and other
passenger amenities in exchange for advertising on the shelter, bench or other amenity, and to develop
partnerships for litter control.

B. The Metro transit division of the King County department of transportation shall develop a plan,
by September 1st, 2001, to implement the program that includes, but is not limited to:

1. Identification of cities that want to participate in this program and whose codes permit
advertising in the public right-of-way;

2. Identification of cities, organizations and businesses that want to adopt shelters by providing
funds for shelter capital costs and by assisting with litter control;

3. Development of standards for advertising esthetics on the adopted shelters, benches and
other passenger amenities; and

4. Development of procedures needed to implement the program. (Ord. 14095 § 3, 2001).

28.96 REGULATION OF CONDUCT ON TRANSIT PROPERTY

Section:
|. GENERAL
28.96.010 Civil infractions - misdemeanors.

Il. PUBLIC COMMUNICATIONS ACTIVITIES
28.96.020  General.
28.96.030  Transit vehicles and tunnel platform areas.
28.96.040  Tunnel mezzanine and plaza areas.
28.96.050  Other passenger facilities.
28.96.060 Letter of authorization.
28.96.070  Table endorsement: tunnel plaza and mezzanine levels only.
28.96.080 Sound amplification endorsement: tunnel plaza and mezzanine level only.

lll. COMMERCIAL ACTIVITIES
28.96.210 Regulation of commercial activities on transit property.
28.96.220 Commercial parking within park and ride lots.

IV. SPECIAL EVENTS
28.96.310 Regulation of special events on tunnel property.

V. ENFORCEMENT
28.96.410 General.
28.96.420 Immediate expulsion.
28.96.430 Suspension of use privileges.
28.96.440  Infractions - penalty.
28.96.450 Misdemeanors - penalty.
28.96.610 Limitation of obligations.

. GENERAL

28.96.010 Civil infractions - misdemeanors.

A. The following actions are prohibited in, on or in relation to, all transit properties. For conduct
not amounting to a violation of another applicable state or local law bearing a greater penalty or criminal
sanction than is provided under this section, a person who commits one of the following acts in, on or in
relation to transit property is guilty of a civil infraction to which chapter 7.80 RCW applies.



1. Allowing any animal to occupy a seat on transit property, to run at large without a leash, to
unreasonably disturb others or to obstruct the flow of passenger or bus traffic; but animals may occupy a
passenger's lap while in a transit vehicle or facility;

2. Allowing his or her animal to leave waste on transit property;

3. Rollerskating, rollerblading or skateboarding;

4. Riding a bicycle, motorcycle or other vehicle except for the purpose of entering or leaving
passenger facilities on roadways designed for that use. In tunnel facilities, bicycles must be walked at all
times and may not be transported on escalators. However, nothing in this section shall be construed to
apply to commissioned peace officers or county employees engaged in authorized activities in the course
of their employment;

5. Eating or drinking. However, eating and drinking nonalcoholic beverages are permitted on
the mezzanine and exterior plaza levels of tunnel stations and the exterior areas of other passenger
facilities. Also, drinking a nonalcoholic beverage from a container designed to prevent spillage is
permitted on transit property;

6. Bringing onto a transit passenger vehicle any package or other object that blocks an aisle or
stairway or occupies a seat if to do so would, in the operator's sole discretion, cause a danger to
passengers or displace passengers or expected passengers;

7. Operating, stopping, standing or parking a vehicle in any roadway or location restricted for
use only by transit vehicles or otherwise restricted;

8. Engaging in public communication activities or commercial activities except as authorized
under K.C.C. 28.96.020 through 28.96.210;

9. Riding transit vehicles or using benches, floors or other areas in tunnel and other passenger
facilities for the purpose of sleeping rather than for their intended transportation-related purposes;

10. Camping in or on transit property; storing personal property on benches, floors or other
areas of transit property;

11. Entering or crossing the transit tunnel roadway or transit vehicle roadways in and about
other passenger facilities, except in marked crosswalks or at the direction of county or public safety
personnel;

12. Extending an object or a portion of one's body through the door or window of a transit
vehicle while it is in motion;

13. Hanging or swinging on bars or stanchions, with feet off the floor, inside a transit vehicle or
other transit property; hanging onto or otherwise attaching oneself at any time to the exterior of a transit
vehicle or other transit property;

14. Engaging in any sport or recreational activities on transit property;

15. Parking a vehicle in an approved parking area on transit property for more than seventy-two
consecutive hours;

16. Using a transit facility for residential or commercial parking or encouraging others to make
such a use, except the commercial parking that is authorized under K.C.C. 28.96.220;

17. Performing any nonemergency repairs or cleaning of a vehicle parked on transit property;
and

18. Conducting driver training on transit property.

B. The following actions are prohibited in, on or in relation to all transit properties. For conduct
not amounting to a violation of another applicable state or local criminal law bearing a greater penalty than
is provided under this chapter, a person who commits one of the following acts in, on or in relation to
transit property is guilty of a misdemeanor.

1. Smoking or carrying a lighted or smoldering pipe, cigar or cigarette while in a transit vehicle or
in the platform or mezzanine areas of the tunnel;

2. Discarding litter other than in designated receptacles;

3. Playing a radio, tape recorder, audible game device or any other sound-producing equipment,
except when the equipment is connected to earphones that limit the sound to the individual listener.
However, the use of communication devices by county employees, county contractors or public safety
officers in the line of duty is permitted, as is the use of private communication devices used to summon,
notify or communicate with other individuals, such as pagers or portable telephones;

4. Spitting, expectorating, urinating or defecating except in restroom facilities;

5. Carrying flammable liquids, flammable or nonflammable explosives, acid or any other article
or material of a type or in a manner that is likely to cause harm to others. However, cigarette, cigar or pipe
lighters, firearms, weapons and ammunition may be carried if in a form or manner that is not otherwise
prohibited by law or ordinance;,



6. Intentionally obstructing or impeding the flow of transit vehicle or passenger movement,
hindering or preventing access to transit property, causing unreasonable delays in boarding or
deboarding, reclining or occupying more than one seat, or in any way interfering with the provision or use
of transit services;

7. Unreasonably disturbing others by engaging in loud, raucous, unruly, harmful, abusive or
harassing behavior;

8. Defacing, destroying or otherwise vandalizing transit property or any signs, notices or
advertisements on transit property;

9. Drinking an alcoholic beverage or possessing an open container of an alcoholic beverage.
However, possessing and drinking an alcoholic beverage is not prohibited in the tunnel facilities if
authorized as part of a scheduled special event for which all required permits have been obtained and
when said facilities are not in use for transit purposes;

10. Entering nonpublic areas, including but not limited to tunnel staging areas and equipment
rooms, except when authorized by the director or when instructed to by county or public safety personnel;

11. Dumping any materials whatsoever on transit property, including but not limited to chemicals
and automotive fluids;

12. Throwing an object at transit property or at any person in transit property;

13. Failing to present a valid, unexpired pass, transfer or ticket or otherwise failing to pay the
appropriate fare as required under county ordinance;

14. Possessing an unissued transfer or tendering an unissued transfer as proof of fare payment;

15. Falsely representing oneself as eligible for a special or reduced fare or obtaining any permit
or pass related to the transit system by making a false representation;

16. Falsely claiming to be a transit operator or other transit employee; or through words, actions
and/or the use of clothes, insignia or equipment resembling department-issued uniforms and equipment,
creating a false impression that he or she is a transit operator or other transit employee;

17. Bringing onto transit property odors which unreasonably disturb others or interfere with their
use of the transit system, whether such odors arise from one's person, clothes, articles, accompanying
animal or any other source;

18. Engaging in gambling or any game of chance for the winning of money or anything of value;
and

19. Discharging a laser-emitting device on a transit vehicle, directing such a device from a
transit vehicle toward any other moving vehicle or directing such a device toward any transit operator or
passenger. (Ord. 16770 § 2, 2010 Ord. 13544 § 1, 1999: Ord. 11950 § 14, 1995).

Il. PUBLIC COMMUNICATION ACTIVITIES

28.96.020 General.

A. In furtherance of its proprietary function as provider of public transportation, the county makes a
variety of transit properties available to persons who use public transit services. Although transit
properties may be accessed by the general public, they are not open public forums either by nature or by
designation. Transit properties are intended to be used for public transit-related activities and provide
little, if any, space for other activities.

Most public communication activities are generally prohibited in or on transit properties,
regardless of viewpoint expressed, because they are incompatible with the county's legitimate interests,
including, but not limited to:

1. Securing the use of scarce parking spaces and shelter space for persons who are using
public transit services;

2. Maintaining safe, clean and secure transit properties to retain existing, and attract new users
of public transit services;

3. Reducing litter pick-up and other maintenance or other administrative expenses so as to
maximize the provision of public transit services;

4. Preventing delays and inconvenience to passengers by minimizing congestion, and
expediting their boarding, transferring and deboarding of transit vehicles; and

5. Securing scarce space at the tunnel and other passenger facilities for potential commercial
activities intended to produce revenues for the system and attract riders with convenience services and
goods.

It is the purpose of this chapter to describe the varying degrees to which passengers and the
public are allowed to engage in public communication activities on the three categories of transit



property identified in K.C.C. 28.96.030, 28.96.040 and 28.96.050. This chapter does not apply to county
activities or to county employees engaged in authorized activities in the course of their employment.

B. In addition to any civil infraction or criminal sanctions which may be applicable under this
chapter or applicable federal, state and local law, any person engaged in public communication activities
and found responsible for litter, damages or destruction of property, whether by accident or intent, shall be
responsible for cleaning up and shall be liable for the cost of clean-up, repair and replacement as
necessary.

C. The county reserves the right to enter into licenses, leases or other use agreements permitting
noncounty uses of transit properties that are not otherwise limited or prohibited by this chapter and are
found to be compatible with the county's proprietary public transit function and interests; provided, the
executive shall comply with applicable King County Charter, King County Code and state law requirements
in executing such licenses, leases and agreements. (Ord. 16770 § 3, 2010: Ord. 11950 § 15 (part),
1995).

28.96.030 Transit vehicles and tunnel platform areas. Public communication activities are
prohibited in transit vehicles and tunnel platform areas. (Ord. 11950 § 15 (part), 1995).

28.96.040 Tunnel mezzanine and plaza areas.

A. Public communication activities that are otherwise lawful are permitted in mezzanine and plaza
areas subject to the prohibitions, limits, exceptions, terms and conditions of this chapter.

B. Signs, leaflets, posters, flyers, pamphlets, brochures and written, pictorial or graphic material
of any kind, structures, banners and any other paraphernalia may not be posted or affixed to tunnel
property or erected in or on tunnel property.

C. Signs carried by or on a person are permitted, provided the signs are not constructed of a size
or material that could inadvertently or intentionally cause injury to a person or property. Signs must not be
of a size that obstructs the free flow of pedestrians and must not exceed thirty-six inches by thirty-six
inches in any case. A sandwich board sign must not extend significantly beyond the carrier's shoulders.

D. Public communication activities are not permitted within fifteen feet of any stairway, escalator,
elevator, entrance, customer service counter, ticket or automatic teller machine or authorized commercial
activity. Public communications activities are not permitted within five feet of any fire safety system
component, telephone, information board or news vending machine. Additionally, public communications
activities must not block normal pedestrian paths to and from the areas noted in this subsection.

E. For safety and security reasons, to ensure that the free flow of pedestrians and the intended
transportation functions of the tunnel stations are met, and to accommodate other activities competing for
the limited available space, a collective maximum number of individuals allowed to engage in public
communications activities at any one Downtown Seattle Transit Tunnel location is hereby established.
Because of different station configurations, the number of individuals allowed to engage in public
communication activities at the same location and time shall be limited as follows:

Station (Location) Maximum # number of persons
Convention Place (Plaza)
Convention Place (Platforms)
Westlake (Mezzanine)
Westlake (Platforms)
University Street (N. Mezzanine
University Street (S. Mezzanine)
University Street (Platforms)
Pioneer Square (N. Mezzanine)
Pioneer Square (S. Mezzanine)
Pioneer Square (Platforms)
International District/Chinatown (Plaza)
International District/Chinatown (Platform)

F. A single group whose number of participants is known in advance, or is found at the time, to
consist of four or more persons shall be required to obtain a letter of authorization in accordance with
28.96.060.E.

G. Individuals or groups engaged in public communication activities who desire to use a table or
public address system, loudspeaker or other sound amplifying device must obtain a letter of authorization
with the appropriate endorsement or endorsements in accordance with K.C.C. 28.96.060, 28.96.070 and
28.96.080.

H. Persons engaged in public communications activities in compliance with K.C.C. 28.96.020 may
nevertheless be required to cease or to move to another specified area within the same or a different tunnel

O|lo|o|h~|dloOo(h|bd|lO|lo|O|0




location if the number of persons engaged in public communication activities, their location or their manner of
conducting the activities creates safety or security problems, interferes with the free flow of persons into,
within or from a plaza or mezzanine area or interferes with the operation use and quiet enjoyment of the
facility or transit service therein. (Ord. 15074 § 4, 2004 Ord. 11950 § 15 (part), 1995).

28.96.050 Other passenger facilities.

A. Public communications activities which are otherwise lawful are permitted in or on passenger
facilities other than the tunnel, subject to the prohibitions, limits, exceptions, terms and conditions of this
chapter.

B. Selling or offering for sale books, pamphlets, or any other written, printed or recorded material is
prohibited.

C. Soliciting or receiving funds is prohibited regardless of the purpose or method employed.

D. Signs, leaflets, posters, flyers, pamphlets, brochures and written, pictorial or graphic material of
any kind, structures, banners and any other paraphernalia may not be posted or affixed to passenger
facilities or vehicles parked at such facilities and may not be erected in or on passenger facilities. Provided,
however, posting of literature in accordance with department regulations is permitted on kiosks or bulletin
boards installed by the department for use by passengers and the general public.

E. Signs carried by or on a person are permitted provided the signs are not constructed of a size or
material which could inadvertently or intentionally cause injury to a person or property. Signs must not be of a
size that obstructs the free flow of pedestrians and must not exceed 36 inches by 36 inches in any case. A
"sandwich board" sign must not extend significantly beyond the carrier's shoulders.

F. Public communication activities are not be permitted in parking areas or roadways. Public
communication activities must not block any loading zone, signage, stairway, escalator, elevator, customer
service counter, ticket or automatic teller machine, authorized commercial activity, any fire safety system
component, telephone, information board or the normal pedestrian paths to and from such areas.

G. For safety and security reasons and to ensure that the free flow of pedestrians and the intended
transportation functions of the passenger facilities are met, a collective maximum number of individuals
allowed to engage in public communications activities at any one passenger facility may be established by
the department based on the size and configuration of the facility.

H. A single group whose number of participants is known in advance, or is found at the time, to
consist of four (4) or more persons shall be required to obtain a letter of authorization in accordance with
Section 28.96.060, subject to the department's determination of a collective maximum number of individuals,
representing the same or different group or cause, which may be authorized at each passenger facility.

I. Persons engaged in public communications activities in compliance with this chapter may
nevertheless be required to cease or to move to another specified area within the passenger facility if the
number of persons engaged in the activities, their location or their manner of conducting the activities create
safety or security problems, interfere with the free flow of persons into, within or from transit vehicles or
passenger facilities, or interfere with the operation, use and quiet enjoyment of transit vehicles, passenger
facilities or public transportation services.

J. Persons engaged in public communication activities in or on passenger facilities shall not use any
parking spaces provided at such facilities unless they are also using a public transportation service.

K. Persons engaged in public communication activities who desire to use a public address system,
a loudspeaker or other sound amplifying device must obtain a letter of authorization with the appropriate
endorsement in accordance with 28.96.060 and 28.96.080. (Ord. 11950 § 15(part), 1995).

28.96.060 Letter of authorization.

A. A letter of authorization will be issued on a first-come, first-served basis, subject to availability,
and will be valid for a specific location, date, and time period. Actual use of a letter will be limited to the
normal hours and days during which a specified location is open for public access. No more than two (2)
letters will be issued for a given location, date and time period to individuals representing the same group
or cause.

B. A letter of authorization may be obtained in-person from the department during normal county
business hours for same-day use or may be obtained up to seven (7) days in advance of the date of intended
use. Mailed requests for letters of authorization must be received at least ten (10) days prior to the date of
intended use to allow time for return receipt.

C. Persons or groups who are issued letters of authorization shall, as a precondition to the issuance
of the letter, agree to indemnify, defend and hold harmless the county and its officers, agents and employees
from all suits, claims, actions and damages of whatsoever kind or nature arising out of or resulting from the
persons' or groups’ use of the premises, except to the extent caused by the negligence of the county and its
officers, agents and employees. Such persons or groups shall further covenant and agree to specifically



assume potential liability for actions brought by their own employees against the county and its officers,
agents and employees and, for that purpose only, they shall specifically waive any immunity under the
workers' compensation act, Title 51 RCW.

D. A letter of authorization may be transferred to another person engaged in the same activity
provided the receiving party complies with the conditions of the letter and retains it on his/her person
during the activity.

E. Persons issued a letter of authorization will be required to have it on their person or with their
group when engaged in their activity. At the request of a county employee or a law enforcement officer,
persons or groups engaged in public communication activities must produce a valid letter for the date,
time period and location of the activities if they are utilizing a table, using sound amplification equipment,
or where four (4) or more persons are engaged in the activity. Persons or groups without a valid Letter will
be required to cease their activities until a valid letter is obtained or the activities are conducted without a
table, sound amplification equipment or involving less than four (4) individuals.

F. Letters of authorization may not be reproduced or altered in any manner. Reproduced or
altered letters will be considered invalid and confiscated. The holder of the invalid letter will be required to
cease their activity until a valid letter is obtained or the activity is conducted without a table, sound
amplification equipment or involving less than four (4) individuals.

G. A letter of authorization (with or without a table or sound amplification endorsement) may be
revoked immediately if:

1. The person or group engaged in the public communication activity violates this chapter or any
applicable federal, state or local law; or
2. The activity has attracted a crowd of sufficient size so as to begin to adversely affect the
safety, security or rights of others, the free flow of pedestrians, or the normal operational requirements of
the facility.

Once a letter has been revoked, an individual or group shall not continue their activity until another
letter has been obtained. If the letter has been revoked, any table or sound ampilification equipment
involved in the terminated activity must be removed immediately, together with all related materials, by the
individual(s) involved. No table, equipment or other materials may be left behind unattended or stored on
the premises. (Ord. 11950 § 15(part), 1995).

28.96.070 Table endorsement: tunnel plaza and mezzanine levels only.

A. Persons requesting a letter of authorization to engage in public communication activities in a
tunnel plaza or mezzanine area may, at their option, indicate a desire to provide a table to store, display,
and distribute materials in conjunction with their activity. If the maximum number of tables allowed per
station area has not already been committed for the desired date, a Table Endorsement will be indicated
on the letter.

B. The maximum number of tables permitted per station location will be equal to one-half the
collective maximum number of persons allowed to be simultaneously engaged in public communication
activities for that location, i.e., four (4) tables per station. At University Street and Pioneer Square stations,
however, only two (2) tables will be allowed per split mezzanine.

C. Tables may be used in accordance with the following conditions:

1. The table shall not exceed four (4) feet in width by eight (8) feet in length.

2. A maximum of three (3) chairs will be permitted at each table.

3. The table/chairs must be supplied by the letter holder, and must be removed prior to the close
of a station for the day, or the time period for which the letter of authorization is valid, whichever is earliest.
A table must be attended at all times unless the letter holder is physically present within the area and can
maintain sight of the table at all times.

4. Tables may not be located within 15 feet of any stairway, escalator, elevator, fire safety
system component, telephone, customer service counter, information board, ticket or news vending
machine, entrance, exit, or authorized commercial activity within a designated area. Additionally, tables
may not block normal pedestrian paths to or from the areas noted above.

5. Members of the same group or organization may simultaneously operated a second table at a
given station after 12:00 noon on a given day, provided the maximum number of tables and/or persons
engaged in public communication activities for a stated time period and location is not exceeded. A
separate letter of authorization, with a "table endorsement" must be requested and issued for a second
table.

6. Materials must be stored on top of or beneath each table. Under no circumstances may the
table, chair, stored articles or person(s) staffing the table obstruct the free flow of persons moving within or
through a station.



7. Signs, leaflets or other materials may be affixed to the table. No signs, leaflets or other
materials may be posted or erected within station facilities unless space has otherwise been provided for
such use.

8. The county shall not be responsible for any table, chair(s), or any materials around, under or
upon the table. (Ord. 11950 § 15(part), 1995).

28.96.080 Sound amplification endorsement: tunnel plaza and mezzanine level only.

A. When the use of a loudspeaker system or other sound amplifying device is desired in
conjunction with a public communication activity in a tunnel plaza or mezzanine area, a written request
must be received by the department at least fourteen (14) days in advance of the date of intended use.
The request should state the type and ampilification power of the system/device proposed for use. The
department will review the request and grant, grant with restrictions or deny the request. Only one sound
amplification endorsement will be issued for a given location, time period and day. Exceeding the
maximum permitted sound level under local or state law is prohibited and shall be grounds for revocation
of a letter of authorization.

B. If approved the department, a sound amplification endorsement will be indicated on a letter of
authorization sent to the applicant, along with any special requirements or restrictions associated with the
equipment's use. The letter must be kept on-site when the equipment is in use. If the "sound
amplification" request cannot be approved, but a letter of authorization for other purposes is still
appropriate, the latter may be issued, accompanied by an explanation for why the original request could
not be accommodated. (Ord. 11950 § 15(part), 1995).

lll. COMMERCIAL ACTIVITIES

28.96.210 Regulation of commercial activities on transit property. As part of its proprietary
function as the provider of public transportation, the county seeks to generate revenue from the commercial
use of transit vehicles, the tunnel and other passenger facilities to the extent such commercial activity is
consistent with the security, safety, comfort and convenience of its passengers. Accordingly, all commercial
activity is prohibited on transit property except as may be permitted by the county in a written permit,
concession contract, license agreement, advertising agreement or other written agreement. Provided,
however, posting of commercial literature in accordance with department regulations is permitted on kiosks
or bulletin boards installed by the department for use by passengers and the general public for such purpose.
(Ord. 11950 § 16, 1995).

28.96.220 Commercial parking within park and ride lots.

A. The county may permit the following types of commercial parking within park and ride lots:

1. For overflow parking for nearby business, except that the parking shall not be used to satisfy
parking requirements under any land use or development code or other law or regulation; or
2. For customer parking for privately-operated passenger transportation services.

B. Permission under subsection A. of this section shall be granted by the county entering into
licenses, leases or other contractual use agreements. The agreements shall include terms requiring
payment based on consideration of these factors:

1. The fair market value of the use of transit property,

2. The actual costs incurred by the county in processing the request for use, in providing additional
operation and maintenance of the park and ride lot and in administering the agreement; and

3. The existence of offsetting benefits that will directly support the county's transit program.

C. Any such an agreement shall protect the primary purpose of the transit property through such
means as time-of-day restrictions, and shall be terminable by the county in the event of increased demand by
transit commuters for parking. The agreements shall provide that this determination shall be at the sole
discretion of the county.

D. For each park and ride location at which such a use is authorized, the transit division shall post a
public notice advising transit commuters how to comment to the division management regarding the effect on
availability of transit commuter parking.

E. Any such an agreement shall be consistent with state, county and municipal law and applicable
agreements with other agencies, including, but not limited to, the Federal Transit Administration, Sound
Transit and the Washington state Department of Transportation.

F. The transit division shall provide an annual report to the council on the agreements in place,
revenues generated and comments from users of the facilities where agreements are in place. The report
must be filed in the form of a paper original and an electronic copy with the clerk of the council, who shall
retain the original and provide an electronic copy to all counciimembers. (Ord. 16770 § 4, 2010).



IV. SPECIAL EVENTS

28.96.310 Regulation of special events on tunnel property.

A. Subject to the terms of this chapter and compliance with all applicable regulations and
approvals required under state and local law, the department, at its sole discretion, may permit other
organizations to use tunnel facilities for receptions, running events and similar special events.

B. At a minimum, the department shall consider the following in determining whether or not to
permit a special event at a tunnel facility.

1. Safety or security risks;

2. Impediments to the free flow of transportation system users and other pedestrians during
regular operating hours under normal or potential emergency conditions;

3. Interference with tunnel operations and maintenance activities, including scheduled
construction, testing, training, and routine operations and maintenance;

4. Interference with approved commercial activities;

5. Availability of adequate space and necessary utilities to accommodate the event;

6. Need for additional maintenance and security caused by the event; and

7. Ability of event sponsor to reimburse the department for any additional expenses incurred as
a result of permitting the special event.

C. The department may, at its sole discretion, preclude entirely, specify a location or on a
monthly, quarterly, or annual basis, establish a maximum number of special events that may be
accommodated at a given station, or throughout the tunnel system, considering such physical, operational
and safety-related constraints as the following:

1. Sufficient space must remain available to accommodate normal use of tunnel services.

2. The absence of overhead sprinkler systems in some stations may preclude all or certain
types of special events at those locations.

3. No special events will be permitted on platform levels of any station during revenue service
periods.

4. Routine, one-time, or emergency circumstances associated with system maintenance,
training, or operations may at times preclude the scheduling of, or result in the cancellation of, a special
event.

D. Application for permission to use a tunnel facility for a special event shall be submitted, along
with a detailed event plan, to the department at least forty-five (45) days in advance of the desired event
date. The event sponsor shall be responsible for obtaining any permits required by external agencies
(e.g., Seattle Fire, Engineering, or Health departments, etc.) prior to the department granting permission
to use the tunnel facility.

E. Applicants whose special event has been approved will be required to enter into a written
agreement with the county which may include the following terms and conditions as deemed necessary
and appropriate by the department;

User fee, rental rate or combination thereof;

Limitation to only activities which have been specifically described in the approved event plan;
Payment of a deposit or bond (if determined appropriate);

Proof of insurance of the type and in the amount specified by the county;

Indemnity and defense of the county in any claim arising as a direct or indirect result of the

oV ) =

activity;

6. Cost-recovery provision ensuring reimbursement for any physical damages to county property
or other costs incurred by the county as a result of the event (i.e., increased maintenance, security, etc.,
not covered by a basic user fee or rental rate);

7. Provision for termination of the agreement by the county due to non-compliance with the
terms of the agreement or unreasonable or unanticipated conflict with normal operation and maintenance
of the tunnel,

8. Conditions specific to the event including but not limited to, such conditions as the date, time
and specific location of the event and any requirements for utilities, safety devices, security and cleanup.
(Ord. 11950 § 17, 1995).

V. ENFORCEMENT
28.96.410 General. In addition to any other remedies and sanctions available under applicable civil

and criminal federal, state and local law, a person violating the rules and provision of this chapter shall be
subject to the following:



A. Immediate expulsion from transit properties;

B. Suspension of the privilege of entering upon and using the transit system and properties;

C. Civil penalties if the violation constitutes an infraction; and

D. Criminal penalties if the violation constitutes a misdemeanor.

The classification of a violation as either an infraction or a misdemeanor under Section 28.96.010
shall not limit or preclude any action or prosecution from being undertaken pursuant to another applicable
local, state or federal law. (Ord. 11950 § 18(part), 1995).

28.96.420 Immediate expulsion. Any person violating a rule or provision of Sections 28.96.010
through 28.96.310 or any federal, state or local law may be ordered to leave transit property by a
commissioned peace officer, department personnel as authorized by the director or authorized personnel of a
contracted service provider in accordance with the terms of the applicable service contract. Failure to
immediately comply with such an expulsion order shall be grounds for prosecution for criminal trespass.
(Ord. 11950 § 18(part), 1995).

28.96.430 Suspension of use privileges. Violation of a rule or provision of this chapter or any
federal, state or local law shall be cause for suspension of a person's privileges to enter upon transit property
and use the transit system. Such a suspension may be ordered by department personnel authorized by the
director or by the authorized personnel of a contracted service provider in accordance with the terms of the
applicable service contract. Notice of such suspension shall be in writing and shall inform the person
suspended of the cause, the period of the suspension, and that failure to comply shall be grounds for criminal
prosecution. Service of the suspension notice may be accomplished by personal delivery or by mailing a
copy, addressed to the person's last known address, by certified U.S. mail. Unless otherwise specified on
the notice, the suspension shall take effect immediately upon actual or constructive receipt of the notice by
the person being excluded. A person may not defeat the effectiveness of a suspension by refusing to accept
the notice. Receipt of the notice is construed to have been accomplished if the person knew or reasonably
should have known from the circumstances that his/her privileges to enter upon transit property and use the
transit system have been suspended. Receipt of the notice is also construed to have been accomplished two
(2) days after a suspension notice is placed in the U.S. mail. Failure to immediately comply with such a
suspension order shall be grounds for prosecution for criminal trespass.

A person whose use privileges have been suspended may submit a written request for a review of
the suspension, which request must be received by the director within ten (10) calendar days after the
effective date of the suspension. Upon receiving a timely request, the director shall designate a person to
review the suspension. The suspended person may orally present his/her reasons why the suspension
should not be served, by phone or in person at a time and location mutually agreed upon with the reviewer.
Within ten (10) calendar days after the suspended person presents his/her reasons, the reviewer shall make
a decision affirming, modifying or terminating the suspension. The reviewer's decision shall be final. (Ord.
11950 § 18(part), 1995).

28.96.440 Infractions - penalty. A person who is guilty of committing an infraction under Section
28.96.010A shall be subject to a monetary penalty of not more than five hundred dollars ($500.00) plus
statutory assessments. Any person cited for a civil infraction shall be subject to the applicable Rules for
Courts of Limited Jurisdiction and penalty schedules. (Ord. 11950 § 18(part), 1995).

28.96.450 Misdemeanors - penalty. A person who is guilty of committing misdemeanor infraction
under Section 28.96.010B shall be subject to a fine of not more than one thousand dollars ($1,000) and by
imprisonment in the county jail for not more than ninety (90) days, or both. (Ord. 11950 § 18(part), 1995).

28.96.610 Limitation of obligations. Nothing in the rules or requirements set forth in this chapter
shall create a duty to any person on the part of the county or form any basis for liability on the part of the
county, the members of its council, its agents or employees. The obligation to comply with said chapters is
solely that of any persons entering upon transit property and the county's enforcement of said chapters is
discretionary, not mandatory. (Ord. 11950 § 19, 1995).



	Agenda
	I - Minutes
	I - Claims
	II - Point Wells Update
	IV - Mayor's Report
	VI - Sewer Capacity Charge

